i

Central Garden & Pet Company




Central Garden & Pet Company is a leading innovator,
marketer and producer of quality branded products
for consumer and professional use in the lawn and
garden and pet supplies markets.



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Fiscal 2012 was a transitional year
for Central in many ways. In my
letter to you a year ago, | outlined
our plans for the year to transform
Central from a portfolio of sepa-
rately run “siloed” businesses

into an integrated, multi-brand
packaged goods company.
Simply stated, our goal was to
put Central back on a path to
sustained growth and profitability
for shareholders and to make

it easier for our customers to
work with us.

I am pleased to say that, in the
past year, we have progressed
toward these goals. We are
eliminating redundant costs and
pursuing a plan to achieve
significantly more cost savings
over the next few years. We are
transforming our supply chain and

William E. Brown
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

“In fiscal 2013 and
beyond, we will be
focused on consistently
meeting our customers’
needs while driving

strong, sustainable
operational and
financial performance.”

creating strong shared services
and marketing organizations that
didn’t previously exist.

In 2012, we consolidated opera-
tions in key locations, reducing
the number of manufacturing
and distribution facilities by five.
We have gone from 26 separate
IT systems several years ago to
seven today. This effort is giving
us unprecedented visibility into
our operations, allowing stronger
analysis at the brand and SKU
level, enabling us to make better
pricing decisions and better match
our costs and revenues. We are
pushing to instill operational
excellence in all we do.



Central partners with retailers to best
demonstrate the value proposition of
the company’s products for consumers.

In the sales and marketing area,
we have consolidated our efforts
by category and channel, as our
company increasingly moves
towards operating with one face
to our customers. A top priority
for 2013 is ensuring we are

“We also made great strides during the
year in building and promoting our new

“Master Brands” strategy. ”

s, T T - - - - - -~ N consistently meeting customers’

Marketing activities needs and providing them the

leverage all media
to achieve
maximum impact.
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excellent service they deserve
and expect.

We also made significant strides
during the year in building and
promoting our new “Master
Brands” strategy. We have hired
many new marketing professionals
who are overseeing new advertis-
ing campaigns, in-store promotions
and digital marketing and public
relations strategies to drive
revenue growth. Feedback
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from our customers has been

very positive.

Additionally, a key focus area for
2013 is to continue to improve
manufacturing and distribution
efficiency through implementing
more standardized procedures
and processes across the
organization. These will enable
improved cycle times, better
reliability, less waste and lower
inventory levels. We are also
instilling a wide range of new
performance metrics across our
operations which will enable

our employees to have clearer
targets and enhanced tracking of
their performance. We already
are benefiting from a much-
improved level of discipline
throughout the entire organization
as these initiatives progress.

Our financial performance during
2012 reflected our focus on
longer-term initiatives. Revenues
grew 4%, while earnings and
operating income declined
compared with last year as we
continued to incur near-term
costs from investments in our



transformation efforts. We expect
savings from our cost-cutting
initiatives to bring better
profitability in the years ahead.

Continued innovation will, of
course, be important to our future
success - and our customers
regularly tell us that this is some-
thing they require to differentiate
their businesses and drive their
success. In the past two years,
we have introduced many new
products, and we will continue to
make investment in innovation a
priority. Some of our recent
successes include Smart Seed,
which requires up to 30% less
water, and our flea and tick line
utilizing a novel new applicator.
New for 2013 is our Nutri Dent
Complete line of dental chews
for healthy hygiene for pets.

New Pennington and Amdro
products, utilizing unique
application technigques, are also
being introduced in fiscal 2013,
and they have already been very
well received by our customers.
We expect all of these innovations
to be important contributors to
improved performance in the
future. We look forward to
keeping you informed of the
next generation of products and
innovations that are now in our
labbs and on our drawing boards.

The company’s transformation
undertaken this year is
intended to develop centers
of excellence and consolidate
underutilized facilities.

In fiscal 2013 and beyond, we
will be focused on consistently
meeting our customers’ needs
while driving stronger, more
sustainable operational and
financial performance. While we
still have a lot more work to do,
we are a different company than
we were a year ago. With our
strong brands, we expect

to achieve more consistent
revenue growth, more reliably
predictable operating margins
and significantly improved
profitability. Ultimately, our
long-term goal for Central is

to consistently achieve 10%

The entire organization is moving

towards becoming a metric-driven

operation utilizing standardized
processes & procedures.

Activities from our transformation
are intended to improve cycle times,
increase reliability, and eliminate waste.



New proprietary delivery
systems which enable easier
application and storage.

“Continued innovation will, of course, be an
important key to our future success - and our

customers regularly tell us that this is something
they require to differentiate their businesses
and drive their success.”

New Centaura insect
repellent protects both
horse and rider with an
easy to use spray that
operates at any angle
and provides 12 hour
protection.

annualized sales growth and

an operating margin above 10%.
While it will take us a number of
years to reach these benchmarks,
I’'m confident that we are aggres-
sively laying the groundwork to
achieve our goals.

Our employees are working

hard to drive success, and | am
confident that these efforts will
soon begin translating into better
results for you, our valued share-
holders. As always, we recognize
that empowering good talent and
exceeding the expectations of
our customers is vital. | want

to thank our 3,600 employees
who have worked so hard on the
transformation over the last year.
| couldn’t be more proud of them.
And to our customers, | also want
to say thank you. They have been

The award-winning Smartshield
applicator for topical flea & tick
products was a big success in 2012.

a constant source of valuable
feedback and ideas as we have
managed through this transition.
| am most appreciative.

Finally, | want to thank you, our
shareholders, for your continued
support. We know the last few
years have been challenging,

but | firmly believe that Central is
focused on the right things and
better positioned than ever to
achieve its potential.

Sincerely,

William E. Brown
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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subject to such filing requirements for the pastfgs. YesX No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lhsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
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Non-Accelerated Filer[0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller Reporting Compamd

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). YesO No

At March 24, 2012, the aggregate market value ®frégistrant’'s Common Stock, Class A Common Stack@lass B Stock held by non-
affiliates of the registrant was approximately $9illion, $285.0 million and $57,100, respectively

At November 30, 2012, the number of shares outstgraf the registrant's Common Stock was 12,247 85 the number of shares of
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statemehtsorward-looking statements include statementsceming our plans, objectives,
goals, strategies, future events, future revenuegidormance, our transformational efforts, cdmtgenditures, plans or intentions relating to
acquisitions, our competitive strengths and weasegsour business strategy, our ability to passitir grain and other raw material price
increases and the trends we anticipate in the tridesind economies in which we operate and otffermation that is not historical

information. When used in this Form 10-K, the wofestimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “projectsglans,” “intends,” “believes” and

variations of such words or similar expressionsiatended to identify forward-looking statementdl. fArward-looking statements, including,
without limitation, our examination of historicgberating trends, are based upon our current exji@tiaand various assumptions. Our
expectations, beliefs and projections are expreissgdod faith, and we believe there is a reasanbhsis for them, but we cannot assure you
that our expectations, beliefs and projections béllrealized.

There are a number of risks and uncertaintiesatiall cause our actual results to differ materitithyn the forward-looking statements
contained in this Form 10-K. Important factors tbatild cause our actual results to differ materittthm the forward-looking statements we
make in this Form 10-K are set forth in this For@aKl, including the factors described in the sectatitled “Item 1A — Risk FactorsIf any of
these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if ahgur underlying assumptions are incorrect, atual results may differ significantly from the
results that we express in or imply by any of mmvard-looking statements. We do not undertakedotigation to revise these forward-
looking statements to reflect future events orwinstances. Presently known risk factors includéabel not limited to, the following factors:

» the success of our transformational change inrgéat

« disruptions in our business as we implement oumsfiamational change initiatives and the resultngsequences to our business
and results of operation

» increased costs and expenses associated withamsfdrmational change initiative
« seasonality and fluctuations in our operating fissamhd cash flown

» fluctuations in market prices for seeds and grams other raw material

e our ability to pass through cost increases in @&ffrmanner

e declines in consumer spending during economic domst

» inflation, deflation and other adverse méeconomic conditions

» supply shortages in small animals and pet b

» adverse weather conditior

» fluctuations in energy prices, fuel and relatedgztemical costs

* access to and cost of additional cap

» dependence on a small number of customers foméfisant portion of our busines
» consolidation trends in the retail indust

e uncertainty about new product innovations and ntarggrograms

e competition in our industrie:

» risks associated with our acquisition strate

» dependence upon our key executi
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» implementation of a new enterprise resource planimiformation technology systet
» our ability to protect our intellectual propertghis;

» potential environmental liabilitie:

» risk associated with international sourci

» litigation and product liability claims

e regulatory issues

» the impact of product recall

e potential costs and risks associated with actuahticipated cyber attack

* the voting power associated with our Class B stacki

» potential dilution from issuance of authorized sise
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MARKET, RANKING AND OTHER DATA

The data included in this Form 10-K regarding mtsland ranking, including the size of certain mesland our position and the position
of our competitors and products within these makate based on both independent industry pulditatincluding Packaged Facts, Lawn &
Garden Products in the U.S. 2012; Mintel, Marketimget Owners — U.S., 2012; Packaged Facts, ¢éiSMBrketing Outlook, 2012-2013;
American Pet Products Association (APPA) Natioretl ®wners Survey 2011-2012; U.S. Census Bureawanestimates based on
management’s knowledge and experience in the nsikethich we operate. Our estimates have beerdlmsaformation provided by
customers, suppliers, trade and business orgamisatind other contacts in the markets in which pexate. We believe these estimates to be
accurate as of the date of this Form 10-K. Howethis,information may prove to be inaccurate beeaafgshe method by which we obtained
some of the data for our estimates or becauséntloisnation cannot always be verified with compleggtainty due to the limits on the
availability and reliability of raw data, the voliamy nature of the data gathering process and tithations and uncertainties inherent in a
survey of market size. As a result, you shouldwara that market, ranking and other similar datduiceed in this Form 16c, and estimates a
beliefs based on that data, may not be reliable.
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PART |
Item 1. Business
BUSINESS

Our Company

Central Garden & Pet Company (“Central”) is a legdinnovator, marketer and producer of quality bdexhproducts. We are one of the
largest suppliers in the pet and lawn and gardppl®s industries in the United States. The todlfpod and supplies industry is estimated to
be approximately $30 billion in annual retail saM& estimate the annual retail sales of the pgplés and super premium pet food markets i
the categories in which we participate to be apjpnately $15 billion. The total lawn and garden iatty in the United States, which includes
equipment, supplies and services, is estimatee @pproximately $21 billion in annual retail salfe estimate the annual retail sales of the
lawn and garden supplies markets in the categorigdich we participate to be approximately $6ibiil In addition, we participate in the
pottery and seasonal décor markets.

Our pet supplies products include products for dogscats, including edible bones, premium headttiple and non-edible chews, super
premium dog and cat food and treats, toys, peterargrooming supplies and other accessoriesugtsdor birds, small animals and specialty
pets, including food, cages and habitats, toyswstend related accessories; animal and househalthtend insect control products; products
for fish, reptiles and other aquarium-based patduding aquariums, furniture and lighting fixtur@simps, filters, water conditioners, food anc
supplements, and information and knowledge ressusrel products for horses and livestock. Theseéymts are sold under a number of branc
names including Adam® , Altosid, Aque®dn , AvodérnBigSpot® , Coralife® , Farnafh , Four Pavs , Interfetytee® , Kent Mariné,
Nylabone®, Oceanic Systenfs , Pet Select , Pre-Sfrike , Piefg Super Pét , TFH | Zilla and Zodiac

Our lawn and garden supplies products include petgoy and non-proprietary grass seed; wild bietifebird feeders, bird houses and
other birding accessories; weed, grass, ant arat brbicide, insecticide and pesticide produatd; @ecorative outdoor lifestyle and lighting
products including pottery, trellises and other @igooducts and holiday lighting. These productssatd under a number of brand names
including AMDRO® , GKI/Bethlehem Lightin§ , Grant®s Ironite® , Lilly Miller ®, Matthews Four Seasof4 New England Potter§ |,
Norcal Pottery®, Penningtor® , Over-N-O@® , Sevin , Smart Seed TdrelRebel®

In fiscal 2012, our consolidated net sales wer@ $illion, of which our Pet segment, or Pet, acdedrfor approximately $931 million
and our lawn and Garden segment, or Garden, acbmt approximately $769 million. Fiscal 2012 indéd an extra week compared to fisca
2011. In fiscal 2012, our income from operations\®@4 million, of which the Pet segment accounted$88 million and the Garden segment
accounted for $40 million, before corporate expers®l eliminations of $54 million. See Note 18 to consolidated financial statements for
financial information about our two operating segtse

We were incorporated in Delaware in June 1992 asticcessor to a California corporation that waséal in 1955. Our executive
offices are located at 1340 Treat Boulevard, S80@, Walnut Creek, California 94597, and our teteghnumber is (925) 948-4000. Our
website is www.central.comThe information on our website is not incorpodabg reference in this annual report.

Recent Developments

Fiscal 2012 Operating Performancélthough we experienced increased sales in fi88&PR, rising input costs, a change in sales mix,
operational disruptions and increased costs agsdarath our transformational change initiativesgd ainfavorable weather resulted in incre:
expenses and continuing pressure on gross margins.
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Financial summary:

* Net sales for fiscal 2012 increased $71.4 millmm4%, to $1.7 billion. Our Pet segment increas&d® partially offset by .
1.0% decrease in our Garden segm

e Gross margin decreased 10 basis points in fisc? 20 30.2%, from 30.3% in 201

» Selling, general & administrative expenses incré®34.0 million, or 7.6%, to $439.7 million in fislc2012, and increased
as a percentage of net sales to 25.9% from 2t

» Net earnings for fiscal 2012 were $21.2 million$6t44 per share on a diluted basis, a decregse. bimillion and $0.06 pi
share on a diluted basis, compared to fiscal 2

* We generated cash flows from operating activitfespproximately $89.2 million during fiscal 2012 encrease of
approximately $38.2 million from fiscal 2011. Owrst and short term investments at September 29,\26fe
approximately $71.2 million, compared with $29.9liom at September 24, 201

Repurchase of Company StoelDuring fiscal 2012, we repurchased $20.9 milliddrour common stock which consisted of 0.7 million
shares of our voting common stock (CENT) at an egape cost of approximately $5.6 million, or appmuately $8.02 per share, and
1.9 million shares of our non-voting Class A comnstock (CENTA) at an aggregate cost of approxinyg#&b.3 million, or approximately
$8.05 per share. During fiscal 2011, our Board mé€&ors authorized a new $100 million share relpase program, under which
approximately $52 million remains available forueghases in fiscal 2013 and thereafter.

Transformational Change— In fiscal 2012, we continued the process afdfarmational change we embarked upon in fiscall201
consisting of a comprehensive series of organiaatiand operational initiatives intended to improve sales and marketing, profitability and
operational effectiveness. We expect to continesehnitiatives over the next several years. Tisesjic objective of these initiatives is to
transform the Company from a portfolio of sepasatah businesses into an integrated, multi-bramdpg@my. In connection with this change,
we are strengthening our management team, reofggroperating units, consolidating facilities, eilivating duplicative services, standardizing
processes, training employees in new approachesaesting in systems, facilities and people. Baraple, in fiscal 2011, we began the
process of combining our Garden and Pet supplynshas an integrated unit responsible for distrdmyttransportation, manufacturing, sourc
and sales and operations planning. In fiscal 20&2hegan consolidating transactional processiragriawly created centralized shared service
center in Boise, Idaho. We are in the process ofingoour accounts payable, accounts receivableoathel management functions to this
centralized service center. During fiscal 2012 imezirred approximately $12.1 million of additioredpense related to transformation activi

There can be no assurance that we will be abledeessfully implement the transformational chamiggatives or that we will be able to
do so within the anticipated time period. During ffrocess of implementation, we will be making saifiigal investments in our business and
will incur substantial transitional costs, whichlveidversely affect our operating results until trensformation process is complete.

Fiscal 2013~ Hurricane Sandy negatively impacted our nortlegadtusinesses. While damage was minimal, somardfusinesses
experienced disruption which will impact our ficgtarter 2013 results.

2
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Competitive Strengths

We believe we have the following competitive stridasgvhich serve as the foundation of our busingasegy:

Market Leadership Positions Built on a Strong Brétattfolio . We are one of the leaders in the premium brattl&d pet supplies
market and in the U.S. consumer lawn and gardepliggpmarket. We have a diversified portfolio odbds, many of which we
believe are among the leading brands in their aeU.S. market categories. The majority of otartils have been marketed and
sold for more than 25 yeal

Innovative New ProductWe have a reputation for introducing innovative aigh quality products. We continuously seek to
introduce new products at a reasonable cost, lsotiomplementary extensions of existing producsliaed as new product
categories. We have received 19 industry awardedonew pet products in the last three yearsuiioh the American Business
Award's Silver Stevie in the consumer products indusiryofir Adams Smart Shield Applicator in 20

Strong Relationships with Retailel&/e have developed strong relationships with majoriadependent retailers through product
innovation, premium brand names, broad productioffs, proprietary sales and logistics capabiliind a high level of customer
service. Major retailers value the efficiency oaliieg with suppliers with national scope and strbngnds. These strengths have
made us one of the largest pet supplies vendd?ett®mart, PETCO and Wal*Mart and among the laigest and garden supplies
vendors to Wal*Mart, Home Depot and Lowe’s. In 200& were named Home Depot’s Partner of the Ye#rdrOutdoor Garden
Category and the Ace Hardware Lawn & Garden Vewddne Year, and in 2012, we were named the WaltNmme Division
Replenishment Team of the Year. Our ability to gerlarge retailers, to meet their unique needpémkaging and point of sale
displays and to offer new innovative products pdegi us with a competitive advantage. Independ#aiters value our high level |
customer service and broad array of premium brapdeducts. We are a leading supplier to indepengensupplies retailers in the
United States

Favorable Lon+Term Industry Characteristic3he pet and lawn and garden supplies markets ibklt8ehave grown and are
expected to continue to grow over the long-termtdufavorable demographic and leisure trends. yedemographics bolstering
our markets are the growth rates in the numbehiddren under 18 and the number of adults overstgeédiouseholds with children
tend to own more pets, and adults over 55 are ti@ly to be “empty nesters” that keep pets as camiyns and have more
disposable income and leisure time available fah Ipets and garden activities. According to the120@12 APPA National Pet
Owners Survey, the number of U.S. pet owners iamegears has reached record highs, with 73 milimnseholds, or 62%, owni
a pet.

Sales and Logistics Network&e are a leading supplier to independent spediatgjlers for the pet and lawn and garden supplies
markets through our sales and logistics networks bélieve our sales and logistics networks giva significant competitive
advantage over other suppliers. These networkdqeais with key access to independent pet speciti#yl stores and retail lawn
and garden customers that require-step distribution for our branded products fadilitg:

. acquisition and maintenance of premium shelf pla®n

. prompt product replenishmel

. customization of retailer prograrr

. quick responses to changing customer and retaidéegnces

. rapid deployment and feedback for new products;

. immediate exposure for new internally developed arglired brand:

3
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We plan to continue to utilize our team of dedidadales people and our sales and logistics networgspand sales of our branded

products.

Experienced and Incentivized Management T«Our senior management team has significant expegignthe pet and lawn and
garden supplies industries. William E. Brown, otmaEman and Chief Executive Officer, has over 3@rgef industry experience.
Mr. Brown also owns approximately 13% of our outsiag stock. Gus Halas, the President and Chietiikee Officer of the
Central Operating Companies, has led successhgftsemational change initiatives at a number oeottompanies in a variety of
industries.

Business Strategy

Our objective is to increase market share, reveras) flow and profitability by enhancing our pmsitas one of the leading companie
the U.S. pet supplies industry and lawn and gastgplies industry. To achieve our objective, wengtacapitalize on our strengths and the
favorable industry trends by implementing the foflog key elements of our business strategy:

Continue Transformational Changd he strategic objective of our transformatiortamge initiatives is to transform our company
from a portfolio of separately run businesses anontegrated, multi-brand company, thereby elintmigginefficiencies and
unnecessary costs for our business and enablitggamnpete more effectively. In connection wittstbhange, we are reorganizing
operating units, consolidating facilities, develgpia system of shared services and eliminatingichtple services, strengthening
our management team, standardizing processesngamployees in new approaches and investingstesys, facilities and
people.

Build Existing Brand:. With our broad product assortment, strong braandes, strong sell-through and innovative produats a
packaging, we believe we can further strengtherr@ationships with existing retailers to increakelf space and sales. Under our
master branding strategy, we are moving to conatdidertain brands and expand others. We areingilsome of our strongest
brands to drive new products and brand extensismgeadid during fiscal 2012 with our Amdro brandiethintroduced a complete
line of insecticides specially designed to comlma$ asnails, slugs, roaches and other common ispecies that damage landscape
and infest homes. We believe that the strengthuohtajor customers provides us with a solid fouiweefor future growth. We
intend to gain market share in the home centerssmearket, grocery, specialty pet store and inddgeinchannels. We intend to
add new retailers through marketing and sales pedaledicated to these channels, as well as aowative product introductions
and packaging. We will continue to focus on using sales and logistics network to emphasize sdlearchigher margin,
proprietary brands and to use efficient supply ltaipabilities that enable us to provide retaieth high service levels and
consistent i-stock positions

Continue New Product and Packaging Innovatife will continue to build and leverage the strengftour leading brand names
introducing innovative new products and packagagending existing product lines and entering nevdpct categories. Our
product strategy seeks to capitalize on fulfillo@nsumer needs, our strong brand names, establisiseaimer relationships and
history of product innovation. We have also madegtments in our corporate sales and marketingstrincture in the areas of
product development, category management and leuatsales suppo!

Improve MarginsWe believe there are opportunities to improve gosg and operating margins through increased e&lmsr
higher margin, innovative branded products, tinggige increases and cost reductions and leveragfiogr existing infrastructure.
Since fiscal 2004, we have continued to consolidatesales and logistics centers, made capitalaugnents and consolidated
some of our manufacturing facilities to reduce s@std improve manufacturing efficiencies. We aiebgrating this effort as part
of our new transformational change initiatives. Erample, we have reduced the number of salesogigtits warehouses from 34
in 2008 to 29 at the end of fiscal 2012 and ex
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further consolidations during fiscal 2013. Althougtoss margins improved from fiscal 2004 througledi 2010, they declined
significantly in fiscal 2011 and remained flat indal 2012 as we continued to experience the imgfatie rising costs of raw
materials and costs associated with our transfoomeaitchange initiatives. We are working with oaykretail partners to impleme
price increases on our products as we strive iicestine right balance between pricing and our goaleliver value to the consum

» Pursue Strategic AcquisitionwWe plan to continue to make selected strategicisitiguns of branded product companies that
complement our existing brands and product offexidlanagement has substantial experience in angwranded products
companies. By leveraging our marketing, manufaestuand sales and logistics capabilities, we beleeean increase the sales .
improve the operating efficiencies of acquired camps. We look for companies with the potentididoe the top one or two
brands in their respective categories. The chaiatits we generally seek when evaluating targetganies are strong brand nar
high quality and innovative product offerings, aperienced management team and a history of orgeamiings growtt

* Reduce Our Investment In Working CapiWe believe there are opportunities to reduce otgstment in working capital over the
long term by focusing on specific balance sheetiosetin particular, we believe that our supplyichaitiatives will enable us to
substantially reduce our investment in inventorgethey have been fully implement

Products — General

The following table indicates each class of simiazducts which represented more than 10% of onsaalated net sales in the fiscal
years presented (in millions

Category 2012 2011 2010

Pet supplies (excluding wild bird feed) $ 847.] $ 773.1 $ 766.L
Garden controls and fertilizer produ 281.7 260.( 255t
Wild bird feed 205.1 197.t 168.¢
Other garden supplie 185.7 212.1 196.(
Grass see 180.4 185.¢ 136.:
Total $1,700.( $1,628.¢ $1,523.¢

Pet Segment
Overview

We are one of the leading marketers and produdgremium branded pet supplies in the United Stdteaddition, our Pet segment
operates the largest sales and logistics netwattkeiindustry strategically supporting its branddfiscal 2012, the Pet segment accounted for
$931 million of our consolidated net sales and #8on of our consolidated income from operatidrefore corporate expenses and
eliminations.

Industry Background
According to the 2011-2012 APPA National Pet Owrasvey, U.S. pet ownership is at its highest lewéh 73 million households, or
62%, owning a pet. During the past decade, the eumipet-owning households increased 15%.

The pet industry includes food, supplies, veteraracare and services and live animals. We opgraterily in the pet supplies segment
of the industry. This segment includes: productgifigs and cats, including edible bones, premiuattine edible and non-edible chews, toys,
pet carriers, grooming supplies and other accessauroducts for birds, small animals and speciadtg, including food,
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cages and habitats, toys, chews and related aciEsssmimal and household health and insect cbptaalucts; products for fish, reptiles and
other aquarium-based pets, including aquariumsijtfue and lighting fixtures, pumps, filters, watemditioners and supplements, and
information and knowledge resources; and produstidrses and livestock. According to Mintel, r&ail sales of pet food and supplies in
2017 are expected to total approximately $35 li|livom approximately $28 billion in 2010. We alggerate in the super premium category o
dog and cat food and treats. Mintel estimatesdted pet food market to be approximately $21 hillin 2017. We believe the pet food mark
experiencing an upscale thrust, featuring prodinztsare natural, functional and address speciéitady needs of animals, primarily dogs and
cats. We estimate the current applicable markebppity for our high-end, premium and super-premigdog and cat food and treats to be
approximately $4 billion.

We believe this growth is due in significant parfavorable demographic and leisure trends, whierexpect to continue, albeit
potentially at a slower rate due to recessionagggures in the broader U.S. economy. The key dexpbigps bolstering the U.S. pet supplies
market are the growth rates in the number of céildinder 18 and the number of adults over age &&oring to 2010 U.S. census data,
approximately 40% of the population is 45 yearslder. Households with children tend to own mortspand adults over 55 are more likely
be “empty nesters,” who keep pets as companionsianel more disposable income and leisure timeahlaifor pets. In addition, many pet
supplies products (e.g., dog and cat food, dog shbird food, grooming supplies, pest control,)edce routinely consumed and replenished.

The U.S. pet supplies market is highly fragmentét approximately 1,400 manufacturers, consistirigarily of small companies with
limited product lines. The majority of these marmtsers do not have a captive sales and logisétsark and must rely on us or other
independent distributors to supply their produotsegional pet specialty chains and independeailees. According to Mintel, pet supplies
sales are up 19 percent over the last five yead#ating that this category has been able to veedlie recession fairly well.

The pet food and supplies industry retail chantssl eemains fragmented, with approximately 7,6@ependent pet supply stores in the
United States and only two national specialty tetaj PetSmart and PETCO. These two “pet supesstbee grown rapidly, and pet products
have also become a growing category in mass meddden, discounters and grocery outlets. PetSmdrP&TCO typically offer the broadest
product selection with competitive prices and axdgng array of pet services. Mass merchandisergrsugrkets and discounters have
historically carried a limited product assortmerdttfeatures primarily pet food, but we believestheetailers are devoting more shelf space to
meet increased consumer demand for premium petisspimdependent pet stores typically have aikelbt broad product selection and
attempt to differentiate themselves by offeringnpier brands and knowledgeable service.

Proprietary Branded Pet Products
Our principal pet supplies categories are dog & aatiatics, bird & small animal food and animalltieand nutrition products.

Dog & Cat.We are a leading marketer and producer of premieattiny edible and non-edible chews, super premiagiashd cat food,
toys, grooming supplies, pet carriers and otheesswries, and information and knowledge resouessifing the brands Nylabone, Four Pe
TFH, Pet Select, Interpet, Pet Love and Mikki .&bdne has a strong history of developing innovais products such as the NutriDént
Edible Dental Brush Chews, Toro and Lobo as weli@aserous other award winning dog toys. Four Pawduyzts include grooming supplies
and toys, and TFH is a leading producer and pusilishpet books and magazines. Breeder’'s Choigsgarded by the industry as one of the
highest quality developers and manufacturers oéispemium natural pet food and treats. Breeden@ic® brands include Pinnaéle
Avoderm® , Simply Naturé® and Active Cate
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Aquatics We are a leading supplier of aquariums and reffit@ares and furniture, water conditioners and dapgents, sophisticated
lighting systems and accessories featuring thedsr&gueon, Zilla, Oceanic Systems, Kent Marine alifer and Blagdon.

Small Animal & Wild Bird Feed/Ne are a leading marketer and producer of spegiaityood for birds, wild birds and small animals,
vitamins and nutritional supplements, bird and $@aiimal cages, habitats, transportation deviass &nd other accessories designed for the
small animal marketplace featuring the brands Kay$eiper Pet, Critter Treil and Canopy Scienfifitaytee is one of the largest producers
of specialty bird feed.

Animal HealthWe are a leading marketer and producer of flek, timsquito and other insect control products peediby Wellmark
International and sold primarily under the Zodiattpsid, Pre Strike and Extinguish brand names.Iivatk is the only domestic producer of
(S)-Methoprene, which is an active ingredient totoa mosquitoes, fleas, ticks, ants and mites amynprofessional and consumer insect
control applications. We also sell (S)-Methopremeninufacturers of other insect control productsiuiding Frontline Plus. In addition,
through our Farnam operations, we are a leadingifaaturer and marketer of innovative health caoelpcts for horses, household pets and
livestock. Farnam’s portfolio of industry leadingahds includes the Farnam umbrella brand, Equitat@omboCare ™, lverCafe , Bron€o
Super Masl and RepelX for horses, D-Worm ™, BidSmnd ScratcheX for household pets, and Adams ™B#rd-ree ™ insect
controls for home and yard care.

Sales Network

Our domestic sales network exists primarily to poterour proprietary brands and provides value-adeedce to approximately 4,000
independent specialty retail stores for our brangreducts. This includes acquisition and mainterasfqremium shelf placement, prompt
product replenishment, customization of retailegpams, quick response to changing customer aaderepreferences, rapid deployment and
feedback for new products and immediate exposuradquired brands. The network also sells manyrattanufacturers’ brands of pet
supplies and combines these products with our le@pdoducts into single shipments enabling ourpedeent customers to deal with us on a
cost effective basis to meet their pet suppliesireqents. We also operate one sales and logfatidiy in the United Kingdom.

Sales and Marketing
Our sales strategy is multi-tiered and designezhfiure maximum market share with retailers. Ostamers include retailers, such as
regional and national specialty pet stores, inddprtpet retailers, mass merchants, grocery argistawes. In addition, we also serve the
professional market with insect control and heattd wellness products to veterinarians, municigalifarmers and equine product suppliers.
PetSmart accounted for approximately 12% of oursBgimens net sales in both fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2014, Ei%6 in fiscal 2010. PETCO
also a significant customer.
To optimize our product placement and visibilityré@tail stores, our focused sales resources araesggd as follows:
e asales organization operating by category andretg
» dedicated account teams servicing our largest mestg
e agroup of account managers focused on regiona gt
e ageographic based group of territory managersceeati to the independent retailer;

e aspecialized group of account managers dedicattbtprofessional and equine mark
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These sales teams deliver our marketing strategfyigfconsumer, brand and channel driven. We peovidue creation with a focus on
innovation, product quality and performance, prempackaging, product positioning and consumer valoeexecute with excellence, we
collaborate closely with our customers to identifgir needs, jointly develop strategies to mees¢hneeds and deliver programs that include
print, broadcast, direct mail and digital execution

Competition

The pet supplies industry is highly competitive diad experienced considerable consolidation itetstefive years. Our branded pet
products compete against national and regionalde@products and private label products producedabpus suppliers. Our largest
competitors in most product categories are SpecBtands and Hartz Mountain. The Pet segment cormgeimarily on the basis of brand
recognition, innovation, upscale packaging, quadity service. Our Pet segment’s sales and logigpiesations compete with a number of
smaller local and regional distributors, with conitien based on product selection, price, valueeaidskervices and personal relationships.

Garden Segment
Overview

We are a leading company in the consumer lawn andkeg market in the United States and offer bo#imum and value-oriented
branded products. We market and produce a broag afpremium brands, including Pennington, ThedkgbPAMDRO, Grant'’s, Lilly Miller,
Ironite, Sevin, Over-Nout, Norcal Pottery, New England Pottery, GKI/Betlém Lighting and Matthews Four Seasons. We atsduee valus
brands at lower prices, including numerous privalel brands. In addition, our Garden segment d¢pesales and logistics network that
strategically supports its brands. In fiscal 20th2, Garden segment accounted for $769 million ofcomsolidated net sales and $40 million of
our consolidated income from operations before @@ie expenses and eliminations.

Industry Background

We believe that gardening is one of the most pagaisure activities in the United States, althoughecent years our garden segment
has been adversely impacted by the input costsheeand global recessionary economic environnigaitkaged Facts asserts that the
economy has brought more homeowners into theirsydrde key demographic bolstering our lawn and gardarket is the growth rate in the
number of adults over age 55, who are more likelgd “empty nesters” and have more disposable iecamd leisure time available for garden
activities. As the baby boom generation ages,sigment is expected to grow faster than the taailifation. According to 2010 U.S. census
data, approximately 40% of the population is 45rgeam older. We believe that this demographic sthindrease the number of lawn and ga
product users. With more people gardening in thaids and the potential trends of food gardenirgaganic gardening, we perceive this
market as staying intact and showing slow posijirevth. We estimate the retail sales of the lawsh garden supplies industry in the categc
in which we participate to be approximately $6ibill In addition, we participate in the pottery a®hsonal décor markets. We believe that th
industry will continue to grow, albeit potentially a slower rate in the near term due to industnacics.

Lawn and garden products are sold to consumeraghra number of distribution channels, includingieocenters, mass merchants,
independent nurseries and hardware stores. Homgaddn centers and mass merchants often carrgrdn® premium product lines or
brands and one value brand. Due to the rapid eigraasd consolidation of mass merchants and hordegarden centers in the last 15 years,
the concentration of purchasing power for the land garden category has increased dramaticallyexfyect the growth of home and garden
centers, such as Home Depot and Lowe’s, and mashargs, such as Wal*Mart, to continue to conceetiradustry distribution.
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Proprietary Branded Lawn and Garden Products

Our principal lawn and garden product lines aresgseed, wild bird feed, insect control produetan and garden care products,
decorative outdoor patio products and Christmadyxts and lighting. Our Pennington brand is ontheflargest in grass seed and wild bird
feed, and our Amdro brand is a leading portfolidigf ant bait products. We are also a leading rtarkof indoor and outdoor pottery products
through our Norcal Pottery and New England Potteands.

Grass SeedWe are a leading marketer and producer of nunsemaxtures and blends of cool and warm seasorgtads for both the
residential and professional markets, as well esg® and wild game seed mixtures. We sell thesgupts under the Pennington Seed,
Pennington, Penkoted , Max®€QQ , ProSelect ™, Tousmr@Quality CM, MasterTu® , The Rebels and Smagd® brand names. We also
produce numerous private label brands of grass JémdPennington grass seed manufacturing fasilitie some of the largest and most
modern seed conditioning facilities in the industryfiscal 2012, Pennington Seed enhanced its Sfwad™ and 1-Step Complete ™ in its
premium grass seed line with a new proprietary ahisultiple fiber sources, polymers and biostimisato ensure seeds stay in place,
germinate and produce deeper, healthy roots tforeim the benefits of these premium products. S®eed is a drought-tolerant grass seed
product that develops strong, deep root systemseaqdres up to 30% less water compared to ordigeags seed. 1-Step Complete is a pre-
mixed combination of mulch, Smart Seed premiumgszed and fertilizer that grows thicker and rezpiiess water to establish.

Wild Bird Products We are a leading marketer and producer of wild féed, bird feeders, bird houses and other hirdiccessories in
the United States. These products are sold prignaniler the Pennington brand name. Our wild biedifis treated with Bird-Koteé , a
nutritious coating made up of vegetable oil foetifiwith oil-soluble vitamins and elements needeiby birds.

Fertilizers and ControlsWe are a leading marketer of lawn and garden waeds, insect and pest control products and sopleoents
and stimulants. We sell these products under treckout® , Strike® |, Lilly Miller, Alaska Fish Fertder® , IMAGE® , Sevin, Over-Ndut and
RooTone® brand names and the Eliminator private fab&Val*Mart. We are also a leading marketer ioé fant bait, sold primarily in the
southern United States, under the AMDRO brand namaddition, we market ant baits, animal repelieantd garden aid products under the
Grant's brand name. We manufacture several linégvai and garden fertilizers and soil supplemeantgranular and liquid form, under the
Pennington, Pro Care, Ironite and other privateamdrolled labels.

Outdoor & Seasonal DecoWe are a leading marketer of decorative indodra@utdoor pottery products in the United States.sale
these products under the Pennington, Norcal PostiedyNew England Pottery brand names which incleda cotta, stoneware, ceramic and
porcelain pots. We also market seasonal Christmaupts and lighting under the brand name GKI/B#tain Lighting and we manufacture a
complete line of wooden garden products, inclugifamters, barrel fountains, arbors and trellises éine sold under the Pennington brand
name.

Sales Network

Our sales and logistics network exists primarilyptomote our proprietary brands and provides ub ety access to retail stores for our
branded products, acquisition and maintenanceeshjpm shelf placement, prompt product replenishymargtomization of retailer programs,
quick responses to changing customer and retaideqences, rapid deployment and feedback for nedysts, immediate exposure for
acquired brands and comprehensive and strategianiation. The network also sells other manufacfiferands of lawn and garden supplies
and combines these products with our branded ptsdiuto single shipments enabling our customedetd with us on a cost-effective basis to
meet their lawn and garden supplies requirements.
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Sales and Marketing

The marketing strategy for our premium producteéised on meeting consumer needs through prog@ufrmance, innovation, qualit
upscale packaging and retail shelf placement. Taketing strategy for our value products is focusegromotion of the quality and efficacy
of our value brands at a lower cost relative tavpuen brands. Our customers include retailers, siscimass merchants, home improvement
centers, independent lawn and garden nurserieg,ahd grocery stores, and professional end uselss  Wal*Mart represented
approximately 30%, 28% and 31%, sales to Lowe’'sesgnted approximately 20%, 24% and 22%, and saldeme Depot represented
approximately 16%, 15% and 18%, of our Garden segjseet sales in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, retspaly.

To maximize our product placement and visibilityr@tail stores, we market our products throughfellewing four complementary
strategies:
» dedicated sales forces represent our combined lyranghs;

» retail sales and logistics network, which providestore training and merchandising for our custanespecially during the prime
spring and summer seaso

» dedicated accou-managers and sales teams located near and dedicaeve several of our largest customers;
» selected independent distributors who sell our dise

Our marketing department begins with the voicenefd¢ustomer, initiates the product developmentgs®a@and develops our consumer
and retailer support plans, including broadcasttpinternet advertising and other media.

Competition

The lawn and garden products industry is highly petitive. Our lawn and garden products competensgaiational and regional
products and private label products produced bipuarsuppliers. Our turf and forage grass seedumtsdfertilizers, pesticides and
combination products compete principally againstdpicts marketed by The Scotts Miracle-Gro Comp&8gdtts”). Scotts’ dominant position
in the lawn and garden industry is a significanhpetitive disadvantage for our similar garden prisluin addition, Spectrum Brands is a
strong competitor in yard and household insectii@ur Garden segment competes primarily on this bags strong premium and value
brands, quality, service, price and low cost mactufgng. Our Garden segment’s sales and logispesaiions also compete with a large
number of distributors, with competition based oicgy service and personal relationships.

Supply Chain

We operate one integrated supply chain responsibimanufacturing, logistics, purchasing and sales operations planning for both «
Pet and Garden segments.

Manufacturing

Central manufactures the majority of its brandeatipcts in 32 manufacturing facilities, located garity in the United States. In additic
certain of our proprietary branded products areufatured by contract manufacturers. We have emtete an exclusive arrangement with a
third party to manufacture (S)-Methoprene, thevactngredient in our flea and tick control products

Purchasing

Central purchases most of its raw materials framraber of different suppliers. In addition, we hase one of the raw materials used tc
manufacture (S)-Methoprene from a single sourcaupply. The Company
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maintains an inventory of this raw material (in gida to our (S)-Methoprene inventory) to reduce gossibility of any interruption in the
availability of (S)-Methoprene, but a prolongedajein obtaining (S)-Methoprene or this raw mateci@alld result in a temporary delay in
product shipments and have an adverse effect oRmBducts’ financial results.

The key ingredients in our fertilizer and insectl aveed control products are commodity and specéilgmicals, including phosphates,
urea, potash, herbicides, insecticides and funggcid

The principal raw materials required for the wilddbfeed operations are bulk commodity grains,udatg millet, milo and sunflower
seeds, which are generally purchased from largenstcommodity companies and local grain coopeeatiln order to ensure an adequate
supply of grains and seed to satisfy expected mtimluvolume, Central enters into contracts to pase a portion of its expected grain and
seed requirements at future dates by fixing thentityaand often the price, at the commitment dAtéhough we have never experienced a
severe interruption of supply, we are exposed iepisk with respect to the portion of our supplyich is not covered by contracts with a
fixed price.

From the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 to fiscaD80prices for some of our key raw material indotsour bird feed grains increased
substantially. In fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010, gredsts declined due primarily to deflationary ptees impacting the broader economy. Durin
fiscal 2011, prices for some of our key inputs @aged substantially. In fiscal 2012, prices comitihio increase due in part to drought
conditions throughout much of the United States: eighted average cost per pound for our primég feed grains increased approximately
11% for fiscal year 2012 compared to fiscal 201thdugh we have been able to negotiate some prareases with our retailers, it is possible
price increases may not fully offset rising costshie future, resulting in margin erosion.

Logistics Network

Our distribution network consists of 28 facilitisisategically placed across the United States aedacility in the United Kingdom to
allow us to service both our mass market customergell as our independent specialty retail stioesur branded products. This network ¢
supports distribution of many other manufacturerainds and combines these products with our brapidetiicts into single shipments,
enabling us to serve our customers in an effeengcost efficient manner.

Significant Customers

Wal*Mart, our largest customer, represented appnaxely 17%, 16% and 17% of our total company nlessa fiscal 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively, and represented approximatdy,28% and 31% of our Garden segment’s net salfescal 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Sales to Home Depot represented ajppately 16%, 15% and 18% of our Garden segmemisales in fiscal 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively. Sales to Lowe’s representedoxppately 9%, 12% and 10% of our total companysa¢s in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and represented approximately 20%4 84d 22% of our Garden segment’s net sales ialf&212, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
PetSmart represented approximately 12% of ourd&ghent’s net sales in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2@, 11% of our Pet segmentiet sales i
fiscal 2010. PETCO is also a significant customer.

Patents and Other Proprietary Rights

Our branded products companies hold numerous atettie United States and in other countries awe Iseveral patent applications
pending. We consider the development of patentatir creative research and the maintenance oftase g@tent program to be advantageou:
to our business, but we do not regard the holdfrang particular patent as essential to our openati
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In addition to patents, we have numerous activeeitignt registrations, end-use product registratenmd trade secrets, including certain
technology used in the Wellmark operations forgheduction of (S)-Methoprene, which has been liedrt® us from Novartis. This license is
perpetual but non-exclusive. In addition, we hagealoped certain improvements that are proprigtans relating to the synthesis of (S)-
Methoprene. The success of certain portions oboasmess, especially our Wellmark operations, patbends on our ability to continue to
maintain trade secret information which has besgnked to us, and to keep both licensed and owaeée secret information confidential.

Along with patents, active ingredient registratioasd use product registrations and trade seavetswn a number of trademarks, sen
marks, trade names and logotypes. Many of our mades are registered but some are not. We arewareesof any reason we cannot continue
to use our trademarks, service marks and trade siantee way that we have been using them.

Employees

As of September 29, 2012, we had approximately@Bggployees of which approximately 3,400 were finfle employees and 200 were
temporary or part-time employees. We also hire tauiigal numbers of additional temporary employeegtie peak lawn and garden shipping
season of February through June to meet the iredledemand experienced during the spring and summoeths. The majority of our
temporary employees are paid on an hourly basiseNd our employees are represented by a labonuwie consider our relationships with
our employees to be good.

Environmental and Regulatory Considerations

Many of the products that we manufacture or distetare subject to local, state, federal and forkws and regulations relating to
environmental matters. Such regulations are oftenplex and are subject to change. In the UniteteStall pesticides must be registered with
the United States Environmental Protection Agerticg {EPA”), in addition to individual state andf@reign agency registrations, before they
can be sold. Fertilizer products are also subfestdte Department of Agriculture registration &mign labeling regulations. Grass seed is
subject to state, federal and foreign labeling leipns.

The Food Quality Protection Act (FQPA), establishesandard for food-use pesticides, which is aaeable certainty that no harm will
result from the cumulative effect of pesticide exy@s. Under this Act, the EPA is evaluating th@aative risks from dietary and non-dietary
exposures to pesticides. The pesticides in ourymtsdwhich are also used on foods, will be evaldifly the EPA as part of this non-dietary
exposure risk assessment.

In addition, the use of certain pesticide and lfeetr products is regulated by various local, stideral and foreign environmental and
public health agencies. These regulations may dechequirements that only certified or professiarsars apply the product or that certain
products be used only on certain types of locat{sash as “not for use on sod farms or golf coljsesay require users to post notices on
properties to which products have been or will pgliad, may require notification of individualstime vicinity that products will be applied in
the future or may ban the use of certain ingredieie believe we are operating in substantial c@npé with, or taking action aimed at
ensuring compliance with, these laws and regulation

Various federal, state and local laws, including fitderal Food Safety Modernization Act, also ratpipet food products and give
regulatory authorities the power to recall or regue-labeling of products. We believe we are inssantial compliance or are taking steps to
ensure that we are in compliance with these prowssi

Various local, state, federal and foreign environtaklaws also impose obligations on various estitb clean up contaminated propel
or to pay for the cost of such remediation, oftporuparties that did not actually cause the contatitin. Accordingly, we may become liable,
either contractually or by operation of
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law, for remediation costs even if the contamingtexperty is not presently owned or operated byu#,the contamination was caused by
third parties during or prior to our ownership @eeation of the property. With our extensive acitjiois history, we have acquired a number of
manufacturing and distribution facilities, and mosthese facilities have not been subjected ts@Hhlaenvironmental tests to determine
whether they are contaminated.

Environmental regulations may affect us by restricthe manufacturing or use of our products oulating their disposal. Regulatory or
legislative changes may cause future increasesrioferating costs or otherwise affect operatiddihiough we believe we are and have been
in substantial compliance with such regulations laaeke strict internal guidelines on the handlind disposal of our products, there is no
assurance that in the future we may not be adyeastected by such regulations or incur increageerating costs in complying with such
regulations. However, neither the compliance wéthulatory requirements nor our environmental pracesican ensure that we will not be
subject to claims for personal injury, property da®es or governmental enforcement.

Executive Officers
The following table sets forth the name, age arsitipm of our executive officers as of November 2012.

Name Age Position

William E. Brown 71  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Janet M. Brad 58  Senior Vice President, Human Resout

Gus Halas 61 President and Chief Executive Officer of the Cdriiperating
Companie

Paul Hibbert 43  Senior Vice President, Supply Chi

Steven LaMontt 56  Executive Vice President and Presid- Garden Segmel

Frank Palantor 58 Executive Vice President and Presid- Pet Segmer

Michael A. Reec 64  Executive Vice Presidel

George Yuha 60  General Counst

Lori A. Varlas 50 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer &etretary

William E. Brown. Mr. Brown has been our Chairman since 1980. Sthateber 2007, Mr. Brown has also served as ouefEhiecutive
Officer, a position he previously held from 198QJtme 2003. From 1977 to 1980, Mr. Brown was Seviioe President of the Vivitar
Corporation with responsibility for Finance, Opéas, and Research & Development. From 1972 to 18&Wwas with McKesson Corporation
where he was responsible for its 200-site datagasing organization. Prior to joining McKesson @ogtion, Mr. Brown spent the first 10
years of his business career at McCormick, Inen@mufacturing, engineering and data proces:

Janet BradyMs. Brady has been our Senior Vice President, HuResources since February 2011. Ms. Brady was ecugixe at the
Clorox Company from 1976 to 2003 and served agits President, Human Resources from 1993 to 2003.

Gus HalasMr. Halas has served as President and Chief Exec@tificer of the Central Operating Companies sifipal 2011.
Mr. Halas was a consultant to the Company from 20@%9 April 2011. From 2003 to 2009, Mr. Halas w@lsairman, President and CEO of
Energy Services. He previously served as Presa@mhChief Executive Officer of Clore Automotive akiérley Cooling Tower Company and
held senior executive positions with a number beottompanies including Ingersoll-Dresser Pump Gomand Sulzer Industries. Mr. Halas
is also a director of Triangle Petroleum Corporatian energy exploration and production company.
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Paul Hibbert. Mr. Hibbert has been Senior Vice President, Su@blain since October 2011 and for the prior twargeserved as Vice
President, Supply Chain Garden Products. In 20@9Hibbert served as a supply chain consultanBfotab, Inc/Chemtura. From 2007 to
2008, Mr. Hibbert was the Vice President Supplyi€@iiar United Industries. From 2003 to 2007, he weesDirector of Supply Chain with
Biolab, Inc.

Steven LaMonteMr. LaMonte has been our Executive Vice Presidergsident — Garden Segment since May 2012. Fafif £ May
2012, Mr. LaMonte served as VP Latin America & AB&cific Regions for Johnson & Johnson’s McNeil ditories division. From 2006 to
2009, Mr. LaMonte was Worldwide Vice President, RX:C Switch & Innovation at Johnson & Johnson. MaMonte previously held
numerous leadership positions at Pfizer Consumaithtmre, Schering-Plough, Nestle Foods and otheswomer products companies.

Frank Palantoni. Mr. Palantoni has been our Executive Vice Praegjderesident — Pet Segment division since Febr2@ty. From 2006
to 2011, Mr. Palantoni was chief executive offiofP3 Capital Management LLC, an advisory and peegjuity firm specializing in consurr
goods acquisitions and product development. Heipuely served as president and chief executiveeffof Prestige Brands, Inc. and as a
senior executive of Novartis Pharmaceuticals AGhb@eProducts Company and Groupe Danone.

Michael A. ReedMIr. Reed has been Executive Vice President sinece 2000 and was President of the Garden Produdssadii from
October 2007 to May 2012. Mr. Reed served as Reasif the Pet Products division from 2003 to 2@®@4viously, Mr. Reed served as
President and CEO of PM Ag Products, Inc., a whollyed subsidiary of global agri-business Tate 8el yLC.

George YuhasMr. Yuhas has been our General Counsel sinceiM20t1. He previously served as a partner speiciglin litigation at
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP since 1984.

Lori A. Varlas.Ms. Varlas has been Senior Vice President, Chigdutéial Officer and Secretary since December 2Bddm 2006 to
2010, Ms. Varlas served as Vice President FinahSaia Microsystems. Prior to joining Sun, Ms. Vaneas Vice President of Finance at
PeopleSoft and held a variety of senior financetjpos from 1998 to 2005. Ms. Varlas also held foss at Chiron Corporation, Specialty
Foods and Price Waterhouse.

Available Information

Our web site is www.central.coWe make available free of charge, on or throughweb site, our annual, quarterly and current repport
and any amendments to those reports, as soonsamedsly practicable after electronically filingfarnishing such reports with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. Information containedwnaab site is not part of this report.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statemethts involve risks and uncertainties. Our actualtes could differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statemen a result of factors both in and out of ountia, including the risks faced by us
described below and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

You should carefully consider the risks describebbl. In addition, the risks described below arethe only ones facing us. We have
only described the risks we consider to be matddalvever, there may be additional risks that aegved by us as not material at the present
time or are not presently known to us. Conditioosgld change in the future, or new information mayne to our attention that could impact
our assessment of these risks.

If any of the events described below were to ocour,business, prospects, financial condition anad/sults of operations could be
materially adversely affected. When we say beloat fimething could or will
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have a material adverse effect on us, we mearittbatild or will have one or more of these effettsany such case, the price of our common
stock could decline, and you could lose all or péstour investment in our company.

We are in the process of implementing a transforimoatal change within our company, which could resiitt increased expenses over the
next few years.

In fiscal 2012, we continued the process of trams&dional change that we embarked upon in fiscall20onsisting of a comprehensive
series of organizational and operational initiagii@ended to improve our sales and marketing jtatufity and operational effectiveness. We
expect to continue to implement these initiativesrahe next several years. The strategic objectitbese initiatives is to transform the
Company from a portfolio of separately run busiesdsto an integrated, multi-brand company. In eation with this change, we are
strengthening our management team, reorganizingatipg units, consolidating facilities, developiagystem of shared services and
eliminating duplicative services, standardizinggasses, training employees in new approaches agdting in systems, facilities and people.

During fiscal 2012, we closed nine distribution andnufacturing facilities, while opening and upgdnadothers, leaving us with a net
reduction of five facilities for fiscal year 201Phe operational issues associated with the closalesg with other supply issues, resulted in
execution disruptions that delayed fulfilling orddéor some customers as we transitioned certairatipeal activities. These disruptions
adversely affected our revenues and operatingreggniVhile we believe we have resolved these paatiGssues, we may experience other
operational issues as we continue to implementransformational initiatives. These operationaliésscould have a material adverse effect ol
our performance and financial results.

During fiscal 2012, we incurred approximately $1eillion of costs related to our transformationhhnge initiatives. We anticipate
incurring substantial additional costs relatingtte transformation in each of the next severalgear

There can be no assurance that we will be abledoessfully execute the transformational changetiies or that we will be able to do
so within the anticipated time period. During thegess of implementation we will be making subséhnvestments in our business and will
incur substantial transitional costs. We anticighte these investments and transitional costsadiiersely affect our operating results until the
transformation process is complete.

Our operating results and cash flow are susceptitdefluctuations.

We expect to continue to experience variabilitpim net sales, net income and cash flow on a qlaliasis. Factors that may contribute
to this variability include:

» fluctuations in prices of commodity grains and oting@ut costs

» seasonality and adverse weather conditi

» costs or operational problems arising from ourgfarmational change initiative

» shifts in demand for lawn and garden and pet prix

» changes in product mix, service levels, marketimg) gricing by us and our competito
» the effect of acquisitions, including the cost@ofjuisitions that are not completed,; :
* economic stability of and strength of our relatioipswith retailers

These fluctuations could negatively impact our bess and the market price of our common stock.
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Seeds and grains we use to produce bird feed aradgiseed are commodity products subject to pridatiity that has had, and could have
a negative impact on us.

Our financial results are partially dependent ugencost of raw materials and our ability to pdes@increases in these costs to our
customers. In particular, our Pennington and Kabtesinesses are exposed to fluctuations in mariepfor commodity seeds and grains (
to produce bird feed. Historically, market prices fommodity seeds and grains have fluctuatedspaese to a number of factors, including
changes in United States government farm suppograms, changes in international agricultural aadihg policies and weather conditions
during the growing and harvesting seasons.

To mitigate our exposure to changes in market prige enter into purchase contracts for graing, fieied and grass seed to cover a
limited portion of our purchase requirements faeling season. Since these contracts cover opbyrtéon of our purchase requirements, as
market prices for such products increase, ourafgtoduction increases as well. In contrast, ifkeaprices for such products decrease, we
may end up purchasing grains and seeds pursu#md furchase contracts at prices above market.

In fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012, prices for somewf key crops increased substantially. Our weightestage cost per pound for our
primary bird feed grains increased approximateBo¥ar fiscal year 2012 compared to fiscal 2011haitgh we have been able to negotiate
some price increases with our retailers, it is fidsprice increases may not fully offset risingstsoin the future, resulting in margin erosion.
We can provide no assurance as to the timing @néxtf our ability to implement additional pricej@stments in the context of rising costs ¢
the event of increased costs in the future. Sityilare can provide no assurance of our abilityetmin pricing with our retailers in the context
of declining costs. We also cannot predict to whdént price increases may negatively affect olessaolume. As retailers pass along price
increases, consumers may shift to our lower masgthfeed, switch to competing products or reduaespases of wild bird feed products.

A decline in consumer’ discretionary spending or a change in consumereferences could reduce our sales and harm our besis

Our sales ultimately depend on consumer discretyoseending, which is influenced by factors beyond control, including general
economic conditions, the availability of discremy income and credit, weather, consumer confidanceunemployment levels. For fiscal
2009 and 2010, we experienced declines in saldgagsult of the economic downturn. Any materitlahe in the amount of consumer
discretionary spending could reduce our sales anah lour business. Since substantially all of olgssare in the United States, a declining
economy may have a greater impact on us than onaapetitors, some of which have substantial irstttonal sales. These economic and
market conditions, combined with continuing diffiéeis in the credit markets and the resulting press on liquidity, may also place a number
of our key retail customers under financial stregsich would increase our credit risk and potertiid debt exposure.

The success of our business also depends in partraability to identify and respond to evolvingrids in demographics and consumer
preferences. For example, from fiscal 2006 thrdiiggal 2009, the demand for aquatics products dedlsignificantly. In fiscal 2010 and 20
the demand for aquatic products stabilized andsoaf 2012 it increased. Similarly, in fiscal 201e demand for wild bird feed declined an
fiscal 2011, demand increased. Our failure to tymeéntify or effectively respond to changing comsr tastes, preferences, spending pattern:
and lawn and garden and pet care needs could ativaffect the demand for our products and ourifability.

Inflation, deflation, economic uncertainty and otleadverse macr-economic conditions may harm our business.

Our revenues and margins are dependent on varimmomic factors, including rates of inflation offldéon, energy costs, consumer
attitudes toward discretionary spending, curreaegtfiations, and other
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macro-economic factors which may impact levelsasfsumer spending. In 2009 and 2010, our businessegatively impacted by the
downturn in the housing market and by the declneansumer confidence, as well as other macro-enmn@ctors. During the last two years,
we have experienced a significant increase in rateral input costs. Although we increased pricesfany of our products, our price
increases did not fully offset the increases inaasts, and our margins and profitability suffeasda result. If we are unable to pass through
rising input costs and raise the price of our potsluor consumer confidence continues to weakemmaseexperience gross margin declines.

Supply disruptions in pet birds and small animalsagnnegatively impact our sale

The federal government and many state governmens increased restrictions on the importation otjrels and the supply of small
animals. These restrictions have resulted in redlagailability of new pet birds and animals andstihreduced demand for pet bird and small
animal food and supplies. If these restrictionsobee more severe, our future sales of these produarikl likely suffer, which would
negatively impact our profitability. In additionpme countries experienced outbreaks of avian flnil&\the number of cases worldwide has
declined, a significant outbreak in the United &awould reduce demand for our pet and wild biatifand negatively impact our financial
results.

Our lawn and garden sales are highly seasonal amnject to adverse weather.

Because our lawn and garden products are usedrgyinmthe spring and summer, the Garden busimessasonal. In fiscal 2012,
approximately 66% of our Garden segment’s net sales59% of our total net sales occurred duringsegond and third fiscal quarters.
Substantially all of the Garden segment’s operatiecgme is generated in this period. Our workingited needs and our borrowings generally
peak in our second fiscal quarter, because wearergting lower revenues while incurring expensgaéparation for the spring selling sea
If cash on hand and borrowings under our creditifp@re ever insufficient to meet our seasonatdgor if cash flow generated during the
spring and summer is insufficient to repay our batings on a timely basis, this seasonality coulkha material adverse effect on our
business.

Because demand for lawn and garden products iffisantly influenced by weather, particularly weekieweather during the peak
gardening season, our results of operations arfdfttag could also be adversely affected by cer@ather patterns such as unseasonably co
or warm temperatures, water shortages or floods.

Rising energy prices could adversely affect our mgiang results.

During fiscal 2011 and 2012, energy prices incréas#stantially, which resulted in increased fumsts for our businesses and increasec
raw materials costs for many of our branded pragilRising energy prices in the future could advgraffect consumer spending and demand
for our products and increase our operating cost, of which would reduce our sales and operatingme.

We depend on a few customers for a significant jpamtof our business.

Wal*Mart, our largest customer, accounted for agpnately 17% of our net sales in fiscal 2012, 168fiscal 2011 and 17% in fiscal
2010. Lowe’s accounted for approximately 9% of oeir sales in fiscal 2012, 12% in fiscal 2011 an% 1@ fiscal 2010. In addition, Home
Depot, PetSmart and PETCO are also significanbousts, although each accounted for less than 108a@rafiet sales and, together with
Wal*Mart and Lowe’s, accounted for approximatel\?85f our net sales in fiscal 2012and fiscal 20t 46% in fiscal 2010. The market
shares of many of these key retailers have incdeaisd may continue to increase in future years.

The loss of, or significant adverse change in,relationship with any of these key retailers cotAdse our net sales, income from
operations and cash flow to decline. The loss ofeduction in, orders from any significant custonesses arising from customer disputes
regarding shipments, fees, merchandise conditioelated matters, or our inability to collect acetaureceivable from any major customer
could reduce our income from operations and cash. fl

17



Table of Contents

We may be adversely affected by trends in the rétaiustry.

With the growing trend towards retail trade cordation, we are increasingly dependent upon keyleesavhose leverage is growing.
Our business may be negatively affected by chaimgige policies of our retailers, such as inventegtocking, limitations on access to shelf
space, price demands and other conditions. Iniadd#s a result of the desire of retailers to nudosely manage inventory levels, there is a
growing trend among retailers to make purchases ‘qust-in-time” basis. This requires us to shortem lead time for production in certain
cases and to more closely anticipate demand, wddahd in the future require the carrying of addiabinventories and an increase in our
working capital and related financing requiremeiitss shift to “just-in-time”can also cause retailers to delay purchase ongiish can caus
a shift in sales from quarter to quarter. Decisittmsiove in or out of a market category by leadetgilers can also have a significant impac
our business.

A significant deterioration in the financial coridit of one of our major customers could have a ratadverse effect on our sales,
profitability and cash flow. We continually monitand evaluate the credit status of our customeatsattempt to adjust sales terms as
appropriate. Despite these efforts, a bankruptmgfor liquidation by a key customer could haveaaterial adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition ia fature.

We cannot be certain that our product innovationagmarketing successes will continue.

We believe that our past performance has been lmasethd our future success will depend upon, ity par ability to continue to
improve our existing products through product iretian and to develop, market and produce new pitsdMée cannot assure you that we will
be successful in the introduction, marketing aratipction of any new products or product innovatjarghat we will develop and introduce
a timely manner innovations to our existing progduehich satisfy customer needs or achieve marlapgance. Our failure to develop new
products and introduce them successfully and imaly manner could harm our ability to grow our imess and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations arah€ial condition.

Issues with products may lead to product liabiliyersonal injury or property damage claims, recaligithdrawals, replacements of produc
regulatory actions by governmental authorities thetduld divert resources, affect business operatiotacrease sales, increase costs, and pu
us at a competitive disadvantage, any of which @bhhve a significant adverse effect on our finant@ndition.

We have experienced, and may in the future expegieasues with products that may lead to prodability, recalls, withdrawals,
replacements of products, or regulatory actiongdyernmental authorities. For example, during 204 experienced four unrelated recalls
relating to one batch of baby bird feed producte batch of mice, rat and hamster feed, one bdtdbgfood and a line of Christmas tree
bases. In 2012, we recorded approximately $4.9anibf costs related to these recalls. These ecalfuture recalls could result in increased
governmental scrutiny, reputational harm, reducadahd by consumers for our products, decreaseidgvikss by retailer customers to
purchase or provide marketing support for thoselpets, absence or increased cost of insurancelditianal safety and testing requirements.
Such results could divert development and managerasaurces, adversely affect our business opestitecrease sales, increase legal fees
and other costs, and put us at a competitive desstdge compared to other manufacturers not affdémtesiimilar issues with products, any of
which could have a significant adverse effect onfmancial condition.

Competition in our industries may hinder our abiitto execute our business strategy, increase owfipability or maintain relationships
with existing customers.

We operate in highly competitive industries, whidtve experienced increased consolidation in reaans. We compete against
numerous other companies, some of which are meaéleshed in their industries
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and have substantially greater revenue and respthiaa we do. Our products compete against nataategional products and private label
products produced by various suppliers. Our largestpetitors in the Pet segment are Spectrum Brandi$artz Mountain, and our largest
competitors in the Garden segment are Scotts aedt®m Brands.

To compete effectively, among other things, we must
» develop and grow brands with leading market passti
e grow market share
e maintain our relationships with key retaile
« continually develop innovative new products thategd to consumer.:
« implement effective marketing and sales promotimgpams;
e maintain strict quality standarc
» deliver products on a reliable basis at competibitiees; anc
» effectively integrate acquired compani

Competition could lead to lower sales volumes,graductions, reduced profits, losses, or lossarkat share. Our inability to compete
effectively could have a material adverse effecbonbusiness, results of operations and finamdatlition.

Our acquisition strategy involves a number of risks
We have completed numerous acquisitions and irfigmiger growth through the acquisition of additiboampanies.
We are regularly engaged in acquisition discusswitts a number of companies and anticipate thatayrmmaore potential acquisition

opportunities, including those that would be maternay become available in the near future. If wheén appropriate acquisition opportunities
become available, we intend to pursue them activatguisitions involve a number of special risks;luding:

» failure of the acquired business to achieve expeasults, as well as the potential impairmentefacquired assets if operating
results decline after an acquisitic

» diversion of manageme’s attention

» failure to retain key personnel of the acquireditess;

« additional financing, if necessary and availablbiolr could increase leverage and costs, dilutetgouoi both;
» the potential negative effect on our financial esta¢nts from the increase in goodwill and othemigiales;

« the high cost and expenses of identifying, negatigdind completing acquisitions; a

» risks associated with unanticipated events orllias.

These risks could have a material adverse effecuomusiness, results of operations and finamciatlition.

We have faced, and expect to continue to facenseteompetition for acquisition candidates, whiayrimit our ability to make
acquisitions and may lead to higher acquisitioegsi We cannot assure you that we
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will be able to identify, acquire or manage prdiliaadditional businesses or to integrate succégsiny acquired businesses into our existing
business without substantial costs, delays or aperational or financial difficulties. In futureguisitions, we also could incur additional
indebtedness or pay consideration in excess of#ire, which could have a material adverse effaabur business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Our success depends upon our retaining key persdnne

Our future performance is substantially dependeonnuhe continued services of William E. Brown, Qlrairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Gus Halas, the President and Chief Exeeubifficer of the Central Operating Companies, andother senior officers. The loss of the
services of any of these persons could have a rabaeiverse effect upon us. In addition, our futpeeformance depends on our ability to
attract and retain skilled employees. We cannatrasgu that we will be able to retain our existpggsonnel or attract additional qualified
employees in the future.

We are implementing a new enterprise resource plangninformation technology system.

In fiscal 2005, we began incurring costs associatiglll designing and implementing SAP, a new compaite enterprise resource
planning (ERP) software system with the objectif’gradually migrating to the new system. Upon coetiph, this new system will replace ¢
numerous existing accounting and financial repgréipstems, most of which were obtained in connegtiith business acquisitions. To date,
we have reduced the number of ERP systems frora Z@&hd expect to further reduce the number oksystduring fiscal 2013. We invested
an additional $14.4 million in fiscal 2012 for ingphentation. Capital expenditures for our new emigggesource planning software system fo
fiscal 2013 and beyond will depend upon the paamafersion for those remaining legacy systemsa@éelerated the pace of our enterprise
resource planning conversion in fiscal 2012. Ifdlceelerated implementation is not executed suftdBsghis could result in business
interruptions. If we do not complete the impleméintaof the project timely and successfully, we neaperience, among other things,
additional costs associated with completing thiggmt and a delay in our ability to improve exigtioperations, support future growth and
enable us to take advantage of new applicationgemtahologies. All of this may also result in atdistion of management’s time, diverting
their attention from our operations and strategy.

Our inability to protect our trademarks and any ath proprietary rights may have a significant, nega impact on our business.

We consider our trademarks to be of significantangnce in our business. Although we devote ressute the establishment and
protection of our trademarks, we cannot assuretlyatthe actions we have taken or will take inftitare will be adequate to prevent violation
of our trademarks and proprietary rights by otloerprevent others from seeking to block sales ofpzaducts as an alleged violation of their
trademarks and proprietary rights. There can bassarance that future litigation by or against iknet be necessary to enforce our
trademarks or proprietary rights or to defend dueseagainst claimed infringement or the rightstbfers. Any future litigation of this type
could result in adverse determinations that coalkha material adverse effect on our businessidinbcondition or results of operations. Our
inability to use our trademarks and other propngetaghts could also harm our business and salesitih reduced demand for our products ane
reduced revenues.

Some of the products that we manufacture and distiie require governmental permits and also subjestto potential environmente
liabilities.
Some of the products that we manufacture and blig&iare subject to regulation by federal, statei§n and local authorities.

Environmental health and safety laws and regulatame often complex and are subject to changer&mwiental health and safety laws and
regulations may affect us by restricting the maotufiee, sale
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or use of our products or regulating their dispoRa&lgulatory or legislative changes may cause éunareases in our operating costs or
otherwise affect operations. There is no assurtiratdn the future we may not be adversely affetigduch laws or regulations, incur
increased operating costs in complying with sucjulegions or that we will not be subject to claifospersonal injury, property damages or
governmental enforcement. In addition, due to #@ueime of our operations and the frequently changatgre of environmental compliance
standards and technology, we cannot predict withcantainty that future material capital expendituwill not be required.

In addition to operational standards, environmelatak also impose obligations on various entitiesléan up contaminated properties or
to pay for the cost of such remediation, often uparties that did not actually cause the contariinaticcordingly, we may become liable,
either contractually or by operation of law, fonrediation costs even if the contaminated propartyot presently owned or operated by us, or
if the contamination was caused by third partiesnduor prior to our ownership or operation of greperty. With our extensive acquisition
history, we have acquired a number of manufactuaimg distribution facilities. Given the nature bétpast operations conducted by us and
others at these properties, there can be no assutlaat all potential instances of soil or grountbwvaontamination have been identified, even
for those properties where an environmental séessnent has been conducted. Future events, sabhrages in existing laws or policies or
their enforcement, or the discovery of currentlkmown contamination, may give rise to future reraddn liabilities that may be material.

Our business is dependent upon our ability to conté to source products from China.

We outsource a significant amount of our manufémgurequirements to third party manufacturers ledah China. This international
sourcing subjects us to a number of risks, inclgdihe impact on sourcing or manufacturing of pubkalth and contamination risks in China;
social and political disturbances and instabilkbyport duties, import controls, tariffs, quotas aider trade barriers; shipping and transport:
problems; and fluctuations in currency values. Beeawve rely on Chinese third-party manufacturersifsubstantial portion of our product
needs, any disruption in our relationships wittstheanufacturers could adversely affect our opmrati

The products that we manufacture could expose ugtoduct liability claims.

Our business exposes us to potential product ilialisks in the manufacture and distribution oftee of our products. Although we
generally seek to insure against such risks, tt@ndbe no assurance that such coverage is adexjubtg we will be able to maintain such
insurance on acceptable terms. A successful prdidibdity claim in excess of our insurance coveraguld have a material adverse effect on
us and could prevent us from obtaining adequatdymtdiability insurance in the future on commellgiaeasonable terms.

Deterioration in operating results could prevent fiom fulfilling our obligations under the terms obur indebtedness or impact our abili
to refinance our debt on favorable terms as it meda.

We have, and we will continue to have, a signiftaamount of indebtedness. As of September 29, 20&2ad total indebtedness of
approximately $449.8 million. This level of indebitess and future borrowing needs could have mh#shieerse consequences for our
business, including:

» make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligns with respect to the terms of our indebtedn

* require us to dedicate a large portion of our dish to pay principal and interest on our indebtesi) which would reduce the
availability of our cash flow to fund working caglit capital expenditures, acquisitions and othair®ss activities

» increase our vulnerability to adverse industry ¢bows, including unfavorable weather conditionsontinued commodity price
increases
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» limit our flexibility in planning for, or reactingp, changes in our business and the industriediibhwe operate
» restrict us from making strategic acquisitions xgoleiting business opportunitie

» place us at a competitive disadvantage comparedrpetitors that have less debt; :

« limit our ability to borrow additional funds at @nable rates, if at a

In addition, since a portion of our debt commitnsen¢ar interest at variable rates, an increasaénest rates or interest rate margins as
defined under the credit agreement will create diglebt service requirements, which would advera#ct our cash flow.

We are subject to cyber security risks and may inmcreasing costs in an effort to minimize thosesks.

Our business employs systems and websites that &dlothe secure storage and transmission of petay or confidential information
regarding our customers, employees, suppliers #retg) including personal identification informaticdecurity breaches could expose us to a
risk of loss or misuse of this information, litigat, and potential liability. We may not have tlesaurces or technical sophistication to
anticipate or prevent rapidly-evolving types of eylattacks. Attacks may be targeted at us, oupmests and suppliers, or others who have
entrusted us with information. Actual or anticightdtacks may cause us to incur increasing costisjding costs to deploy additional persol
and protection technologies, train employees, angdge third-party experts and consultants. Advaimcesmputer capabilities, new
technological discoveries, or other developmentg reault in the technology used by us to protenigaction or other data being breached or
compromised. In addition, data and security breaclaa also occur as a result of non-technical gssoeluding breach by us or by persons
with whom we have commercial relationships thatitas the unauthorized release of personal oridential information. Any compromise or
breach of our security could result in a violatafrapplicable privacy and other laws, significaegdl and financial exposure, and a loss of
confidence in our security measures, which coultelan adverse effect on our results of operatiodsoarr reputation.

We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseediblure.

We have never declared nor paid any cash dividendsir common stock or Class A common stock anceotly do not intend to do so.
Provisions of our credit facility and the indentg@verning our senior subordinated notes resttictability to pay cash dividends. Any future
determination to pay cash dividends will be atdiseretion of our Board of Directors, subject toitiations under applicable law and
contractual restrictions, and will depend upon msults of operations, financial condition and otfagtors deemed relevant by our Board of
Directors.

We may issue additional shares of our common stoclClass A common stock that could dilute the valared market price of your stock.

We may decide or be required to issue, includingnuibe exercise of any outstanding stock option8) oonnection with any acquisition
made by us, additional shares of our common sto€dass A common stock that could dilute the vadtigour common stock or Class A
common stock and may adversely affect the marke¢ f our common stock or Class A common stock.

Our Chairman, through his holdings of our Class Boenmon stock, could exercise effective control o tiompany, which may discourage
potential acquisitions of our business and couldyean adverse effect on the market price of ourckic

Holders of our Class B common stock are entitlethéolesser of ten votes per share or 49% of tfa ¥otes cast, and each share of C
B common stock is convertible at any time into ehare of our common stock. Holders of our commonksare entitled to one vote for each
share owned. Holders of our Class A common stodkSeries B preferred stock have no voting rightsept as required by Delaware law.
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As of November 30, 2012, William E. Brown, our Qima&n, beneficially owned 1,600,459 shares of oas€B common stock (out of a
total of 1,652,262 outstanding shares), 1,418,088es of our common stock and 3,259,404 sharesrdflass A common stock and thereby
controlled approximately 55% of the voting poweloof capital stock. Accordingly, except to the extinat a class vote of the common stock
is required by applicable law, he can effectivadnizol all matters requiring stockholder approvat|uding the election of our directors, and
can exert substantial control over our managentahipalicies. The disproportionate voting rightoaf common stock and Class B common
stock and Mr. Browrs substantial holdings of Class B common stockadcbale an adverse effect on the market price o€oommon stock ar
Class A common stock. Also, such disproportionatiing rights and Mr. Brown’s controlling interesagnmake us a less attractive target for a
takeover than we otherwise might be, or render rdifieult or discourage a merger proposal, teraféer or proxy contest, even if such acti
were favored by our other stockholders, which cabiteby deprive holders of common stock or Clag®mon stock of an opportunity to
sell their shares for a “take-over” premium.

We have authorized the issuance of shares of commsimtk, Class A common stock and preferred stodhiclv may discourage potential
acquisitions of our business and could have an acbeeeffect on the market price of our common staokd our Class A common stock.

Pursuant to our Fourth Amended and Restated @attifiof Incorporation, the Board of Directors ishawized to issue up to 80,000,000
shares of our common stock, 100,000,000 sharegrafanvoting Class A common stock and up to 1,000 &dditional shares of preferred
stock without seeking the approval or consent ofstockholders, unless required by the NASDAQ Glabarket. Although the issuance of 1
nonvoting Class A common stock would not dilutetbéng rights of the existing stockholders, it wbhave a dilutive effect on the economic
interest of currently outstanding shares of comstock and Class B common stock similar to the W#ugffect of subsequent issuances of
ordinary common stock. The issuance of the prefiesteck could, depending on the rights and prieitedesignated by the board with respect
to any particular series, have a dilutive effectlomvoting interests of the common stock and GBassmmon stock and the economic interest
of our common stock, Class A common stock and (Bassmmon stock. In addition, the disproportionatéing rights of our common stock,
preferred stock, Class B common stock and Classmngon stock, and the ability of the board to isstoek to persons friendly to current
management, may make us a less attractive tangattékeover than we otherwise might be or rendmerdifficult or discourage a merger
proposal, tender offer or proxy contest, even dhsactions were favored by our common stockholdensch could thereby deprive holders of
common stock of an opportunity to sell their shdoesa “take-over” premium.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

We currently operate 32 manufacturing facilitietling approximately 3,354,000 square feet anda®&ssand logistics facilities totaling
approximately 3,693,000 square feet. Most saledagistics centers consist of office and warehapssce, and several large bays for loading
and unloading. Each sales and logistics centerigeewvarehouse, distribution, sales and suppodtiums for its geographic area. Our
executive offices are located in Walnut Creek, fOatia.
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The table below lists the Pet segment’s manufatguaind sales and logistics facilities. Numbersarepthesis represent multiple

locations.

Location

Phoenix, AZ (2]
Irwindale, CA
Sacramento, C/
Santa Fe Springs, C
Aurora, CO

Tampa, FL

Council Bluffs, IA
Elk Grove Village, IL
Jamesburg, N
Mahwah, N.
Neptune City, N.
Neptune City, N.
Cressona, P/
Pottsville, PA
Dallas, TX

Dallas, TX

Algona, WA
Chilton, WI
Franklin, WI
Franklin, WI
Guangdong, Chin
Dorking, Surrey, UK
Somerset, Uk

Type of Facility
Sales and Logistic

Manufacturing
Sales and Logistic
Sales and Logistic
Sales and Logistic
Sales and Logistic
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistic
Sales and Logistic
Sales and Logistic
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistic
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistic
Sales and Logistic
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistic
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Owned or Leasec

Owned
Leasec
Leasec
Leasec
Leasec
Leasec
Owned
Leasec
Leasec
Leasec
Owned
Leasec
Owned
Leasec
Owned
Leasec
Leasec
Owned
Leasec
Owned
Leasec
Leasec
Leasec



Table of Contents

The table below lists the Garden segment’s manufiagt and sales and logistics facilities. Numberparenthesis represent multiple

locations.
Location Type of Facility Owned or Leasec
Cullman, AL Sales and Logistic Owned
Roll, Az Manufacturing Owned
Yuma, AZ Manufacturing Leasec
El Centro, CA Manufacturing Owned
Ontario, CA Sales and Logistic Leasec
Sacramento, C, Sales and Logistic Leasec
Longmont, CC Manufacturing Owned
Covington, GA Sales and Logistic Leasec
Eatonton, GA Manufacturing Owned
Madison, GA (3] Manufacturing Leasec
Madison, GA (2 Manufacturing Owned
Madison, GA Sales and Logistic Owned
St. Charles, IL Sales and Logistic Leasec
Ligonier, IN Manufacturing Owned
Taunton, MA Sales and Logistic Leasec
Laurel, MD Sales and Logistic Leasec
Greenfield, MO (2 Manufacturing Owned
Greenfield, MC Sales and Logistic Owned
Neosho, MC Manufacturing Owned
Charlotte, NC Sales and Logistic Leasec
Sidney, NE Manufacturing Owned
Fairfield, OH Sales and Logistic Leasec
Peebles, OH (2 Manufacturing Owned
Piketon, OH Manufacturing Leasec
Albany, OR Manufacturing Owned
Albany, OR Sales and Logistic Leasec
Lebanon, OF Manufacturing Owned
Portland, OF Sales and Logistic Leasec
Columbia, SC Sales and Logistic Owned
Grand Prairie, T> Sales and Logistic Leasec
Kenbridge, VA Sales and Logistic Leasec
Northbend, WA Manufacturing Leasec

As part of our transformational change initiatives, are reviewing the number, location and sizeuwfmanufacturing facilities and
expect to make changes over time in order to opérour manufacturing footprint. In addition, we ar¢he process of combining our garden
and pet products operations in the same wareheusar® practical and reducing the number of distidmucenters.

We lease 11 of our manufacturing facilities anc28ur sales and logistics facilities. These leageerally expire between 2013 and
2020. Substantially all of the leases contain reaigrovisions with automatic rent escalation clau3dne facilities we own are subject to majol
encumbrances under our principal credit facilityatidition to the facilities that are owned, ouefl assets are comprised primarily of
machinery and equipment, trucks and warehousiagsportation and computer equipment.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We may from time to time become involved in legalgeedings in the ordinary course of business.aDtigr, we are not a party to any
legal proceedings that management believes wowld aanaterial adverse effect on our financial pasior results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAGkS¥zrket under the symbol CENT since our initiabpic offering in July 1993.
Our Class A common stock has been traded on theDM&EBStock Market under the symbol CENTA since Faloyl2007. Our Class B stock
is not listed on any market and generally canndtdmesferred unless converted to common stock @meafor-one basis. The following table
sets forth the high and low closing sale pricesofarcommon stock and our Class A common stockeparted by the NASDAQ Global Select
Market, for each quarterly period during our fisgaérs set forth below.

Class A
Common Stock Common Stock
High Low High Low

Fiscal 2011

First Quartel $10.9¢ $8.8¢ $11.0¢ $9.01

Second Quarte 10.51 8.8( 10.3¢ 8.8¢

Third Quartel 11.0¢ 8.71 10.9¢ 9.01

Fourth Quarte 10.5¢ 6.5(C 10.4¢ 6.67
Fiscal 2012

First Quarte! $ 9.2¢ $6.6¢€ $ 9.44 $6.7¢€

Second Quarte 9.4z 7.9¢ 10.1z 8.21

Third Quartel 10.9: 8.2t 11.1C 8.4t

Fourth Quarte 12.61 9.0t 13.27 9.4C

As of November 15, 2012, there were approximat@ly lolders of record of our common stock, approxatys207 holders of record of
our Class A nonvoting common stock and five holagnsecord of our Class B stock.

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comnamk sour Class A common stock or our Class B StW¢& currently intend to reta
any earnings for use in our business and do naipate paying any cash dividends on our commockstour Class A common or our Class B
stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, aedd facility and senior subordinated notes reswur ability to pay dividends. See Note 10 to
our fiscal 2012 consolidated financial statements.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the percentage chahgar cumulative total stockholder return on oaen@non Stock (“CENT”) for the
period from September 29, 2007 to September 22 #0th the cumulative total return of the NASDAQ @posite (U.S.) Index and the Dow
Jones Non-Durable Household Products Index, agreep index consisting of approximately 30 manuwfssts and distributors of household

products.

The comparisons in the graph below are based doricizl data and are not indicative of, or intentleéorecast, the possible future
performance of our Common Stock.

slattva Todal Ralum
Azsiwna Inhkd Ireeesiman of S100
Septamber 2012

Comnparsen ol 5 Year G

200 WETRNE 2R SRR amaEan AR 2

i Caniral Garnden & Pat Co —.— RAS0AD Compasite- Tolal Hebums gl [ s LIS Monduraile Housshold Products indax

Total Return Analysis

9/29/07  9/27/0€  9/26/09 9/25/10  9/24/11  9/29/12

Central Garden & Pet Company 100.0C 68.658 132.1¢ 113.4¢ 75.17 133.6(
NASDAQ Composite 100.0( 81.42 78.7¢ 90.5¢ 95.32 121.0¢
Dow Jones US Nondurable Household Prod 100.0C 99.5¢ 87.1: 96.07 99.1¢ 115.77
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers
The following table sets forth the repurchasesngf @quity securities during the fourth quarterhad fiscal year ended September 29, ©
and the dollar amount of authorized share repusshasmaining under our stock repurchase program.

Total Number of Maximum Number

Shares (or Units]

Average (or Approximate
Price Paic Dollar Value) of
Total Number Purchased as Shares (or Units)
Part of Publicl that May Yet Be
of Shares per Share Announced Playn: Purchas)éd Under
(or Units) the Plans or
Period Purchased (or Units) or Programs Programs (1)
June 24, 2012 — July 28, 2012 1,844(2) $ 11.07 — $ 51,595,00
July 29, 201 August 25, 201 34,929(2) 11.0¢ — 0
August 26, 201~ September 29, 201 30,943(2) 12.4¢ — 0
Total 67,71¢ $ 11.7¢ — $ 51,595,00

(1) During the third quarter of fiscal 2011, ourdd of Directors authorized a new $100 million ghaapurchase program. The program has
no expiration date and expires when the amounbauattd has been used or the Board withdraws itsoaizeition. The repurchase of
shares may be limited by certain financial covesamour credit facility that restrict our abilitg repurchase our stoc

(2) Shares purchased during the period indicatpesent withholding of a portion of shares to cdeges in connection with the vesting of
restricted stock and the exercise of stock opti
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected statement of operations lzaldnce sheet data as of and for the five fiscatsya the period ended September 29,
2012 has been derived from our audited consoliditadcial statements. The financial data set foglow should be read in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and relatgdsthereto in “Item 8 — Financial Statements @npplementary Data” and “ltem 7 —
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations” included elsesgtherein.

Fiscal Year Ended
September 2¢ September 2€ September 27

September 2¢ September 24

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Statement of Operations Data

Net sales (1 $1,700,01. $1,628,65 $1,523,64 $1,614,30 $1,705,38
Cost of goods sold and occupat 1,185,85! 1,134,73 1,008,438, 1,086,97 1,184,05
Gross profit 514,15t 493,91¢ 515,16t 527,32t 521,32!
Selling, general and administrative exper 439,73 408,74« 394,09: 401,34( 415,97¢
Goodwill and other impairments ( — — 12,00( — 429,76
Income (loss) from operatiol 74,42 85,17t 109,07- 125,98t (324,41)
Interest expense, n (40,170 (37,749 (33,587 (22,067 (37,279
Other income 67¢ 55C 41¢ 52 2,11¢
Income (loss) before income taxes and noncontgpllin

interest 34,92¢ 47,977 75,90¢ 103,97° (359,57)
Income taxes (tax benef 12,81¢ 19,59¢ 28,11( 36,36¢ (93,069
Income (loss) including noncontrolling inter: 22,11 28,38: 47,79¢ 67,60¢ (266,50:)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling inter 94( 59 1,96: 1,661 833
Net income (loss) attributable to Central GardeRe&

Company $ 21,17 $ 28,32 $ 45,83 $ 65,94¢ $ (267,33)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to Ce
Garden & Pet Compan

Basic $ 0.44 $ 0.5C $ 0.71 $ 0.9t $ (3.76)

Diluted $ 0.44 $ 0.5C $ 0.7(¢ $ 0.94 $ (3.76)
Weighted average shares used in the computation of

income (loss) per share (.

Basic 47,62: 56,217 64,27: 69,49¢ 71,11

Diluted (3) 48,37¢ 56,64°¢ 65,09: 70,26¢ 71,11
Other Data:
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 30,42 $ 28,56¢ $ 28,86¢ $ 29,15: $ 32,517
Capital expenditure $ 39,59 $ 31,56 $ 24,19 $ 16,50t $ 22,34¢
Cash from operating activitie $ 89,16¢ $ 51,00¢ $ 135,22 $ 221,63t $ 115,02
Cash used in investing activiti $ (44,47) $ (56,23) $ (41,26¢) $ (20,54 $ (15,40¢)
Cash from (used in) financing activiti $ (8,579 $ (73,99) $ (88,169 $ (142,01) $ (93,93)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 1.84 2.2¢ 3.2C 5.3€ —
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September 2¢ September 24 September 2E September 2€ September 27
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Balance Sheet Data
Cash and short term investme $  71,18( $ 29,85 $ 106,78 $ 85,66¢ $ 26,92¢
Working capital 445,29¢ 410,65! 433,70! 427,24 450,70«
Total asset 1,149,54 1,093,00. 1,130,88. 1,150,92! 1,259,31.
Total debt 449,81- 435,60 400,27: 408,08! 523,14
Equity 464,88: 456,78 532,14 547,33! 511,42!
(1) Fiscal years 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 includedésks. Fiscal year 2012 included 53 we
(2) During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, weagnized a non-cash charge of $12.0 million rel&etie impairment of an indefinite-lived

3)
(4)

intangible asset in our Pet segment. During fi2G&I8, we recognized non-cash charges of $403 mitktated to goodwill impairments
within our Pet segment and Garden segment and $§@mfior impairments of lon-lived assets in our Garden segmi

The potential effects of stock awards are edetlfrom the diluted earnings per share calculdtiothe fiscal year ended September 27,
2008, because their inclusion in a net loss pesiodld be an-dilutive.

For the purposes of determining the ratio ohizgs to fixed charges, earnings consist of inc@loes) before income taxes and
noncontrolling interest and after eliminating undizited earnings of equity method investees arfidredixed charges. Fixed charges
consist of interest expense incurred, the portioreiotal expense under operating leases deemedibgigement to be representative o
interest factor and amortization of deferred firagaosts. For the fiscal year ended Septembe2@J8, earnings were insufficient to
cover fixed charges by approximately $360.5 milliand the ratio for that fiscal year is not consédemeaningful
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our consolidated financial statements dredrelated notes and other financial
information appearing elsewhere in this Form 10FKis Form 10-K contains forward-looking statemehts involve risks and uncertainties.
Our actual results may differ materially from thasedicated in forward-looking statements. See “FanmivLooking Statements” and “Item 1A —
Risk Factors.”

Overview

Central Garden & Pet Company is a leading innoyaarketer and producer of quality branded prodWs are one of the largest
suppliers in the pet and lawn and garden suppiigisstries in the United States. The total pet itrglus estimated to be approximately
$30 billion in annual retail sales. We estimatedhaual retail sales of the pet supplies and sppamium pet food markets in the categories in
which we participate to be approximately $15 billid@he total lawn and garden industry in the Uniates is estimated to be approximately
$21 billion in annual retail sales. We estimatedhaual retail sales of the lawn and garden supptiarkets in the categories in which we
participate to be approximately $6 billion.

Our pet supplies products include products for dog$cats, including edible bones, premium heathipple and non-edible chews, super
premium dog and cat food and treats, toys, peterarigrooming supplies and other accessoriesugtsedor birds, small animals and specialty
pets, including food, cages and habitats, toysystend related accessories; animal and househalthfand insect control products; products
for fish, reptiles and other aquarium-based patduding aquariums, furniture and lighting fixtur@simps, filters, water conditioners, food anc
supplements, and information and knowledge ressusre products for horses and livestock. Thesayats are sold under a number of branc
names including Adams™, Altosid, Aquedn , AvodeérnBigSpot® , Coralife® , Farnafh , Four Pafvs , Interfetytee® , Kent Maring ,
Nylabone®, Oceanic Systenfs |, Pet Seleéct , Pre Sfrike , Bi@fig Super P&t , TFH | Zilla and Zodiac

Our lawn and garden products include proprietady rmam-proprietary grass seed; wild bird feed, béeblers, bird houses and other
birding accessories; weed, grass, ant and othbidide, insecticide and pesticide products; anddsise outdoor lifestyle and lighting
products including pottery, trellises and other @igooducts and holiday lighting. These productssatd under a number of brand names
including: AMDRO® , GKI/Bethlehem Lightin§ , Grant®s, Ironite® , Lilly Miller ®, Matthews Four Seasofi$ New England Potter§ ,
Norcal Potteny®, Penningtor? , Over-N-O@ , Sevin , Smart Seed TdraRebel®

In fiscal 2012, our consolidated net sales wer@ $illion, of which our Pet segment accounted fopraximately $931 million and our
Garden segment accounted for approximately $76@milFiscal 2012 included an extra week as contodiscal 2011. In fiscal 2012, our
branded product sales were approximately $1.5hillor approximately 84% of total sales, salestoéomanufacturers’ products were
approximately 16% of total sales, and our gros§itarargins were 30.2%. In fiscal 2012, our incofr@m operations was $74 million, of
which our Pet segment accounted for $88 million amdGarden segment accounted for $40 million, teeforporate expenses and
eliminations of $54 million.

Recent Developments

Fiscal 2012 Operating Performancélthough we experienced increased sales in fi88&PR, rising input costs, a change in sales mix,
operational disruptions and increased costs adsdorth our transformational change initiativesd ainfavorable weather resulted in incre:
expenses and continuing pressure on gross margins.

Financial summary:

» Net sales for fiscal 2012 increased $71.4 millimm4.4%, to $1.7 billion. Our Pet segment incree&&o, partially offset by a 1.0
decrease in our Garden segm
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» Gross margin decreased 10 basis points in fisci? 20 30.2%, from 30.3% in 201

» Selling, general & administrative expenses incrd#31.0 million, or 7.6%, to $439.7 million in f&lc2012, and increased as a
percentage of net sales to 25.9% from 25.1%. Terease was due primarily to increased selling atidety expense

» Net earnings for fiscal 2012 were $21.2 million$6t44 per share on a diluted basis, a decregbe. bimillion and $0.06 per she
on a diluted basis, compared to fiscal 2(

* We generated cash flows from operating activitiespproximately $89.2 million during fiscal 2012y mcrease of approximately
$38.2 million from fiscal 2011. Our cash and sherim investments at September 29, 2012 were appetely $71.2 million,
compared with $29.9 million at September 24, 2(

Repurchase of Company StoelDuring fiscal 2012, we repurchased $20.9 milliddrour common stock which consisted of 0.7 million
shares of our voting common stock (CENT) at an egape cost of approximately $5.6 million, or appmuately $8.02 per share, and
1.9 million shares of our non-voting Class A comnstock (CENTA) at an aggregate cost of approxinyg#&b.3 million, or approximately
$8.05 per share. During fiscal 2011, our Board mé€&ors authorized a new $100 million share relpase program, under which
approximately $52 million remains available forueghases in fiscal 2013 and thereafter.

Transformational Change— In fiscal 2012, we continued the process afdfarmational change we embarked upon in fiscall201
consisting of a comprehensive series of organimatiand operational initiatives intended to improve sales and marketing, profitability and
operational effectiveness. We expect to continesehnitiatives over the next several years. Tisesjic objective of these initiatives is to
transform the Company from a portfolio of sepasatah businesses into an integrated, multi-bramdpg@my. In connection with this change,
we are strengthening our management team, reofggroperating units, consolidating facilities, eilivating duplicative services, standardizing
processes, training employees in new approachesaesting in systems, facilities and people. Baraple, in fiscal 2011, we began the
process of combining our Garden and Pet supplynshas an integrated unit responsible for distrdmyttransportation, manufacturing, sourc
and sales and operations planning. In fiscal 20&2hegan consolidating transactional processiragriawly created centralized shared service
center in Boise, Idaho. We are in the process ofingoour accounts payable, accounts receivableoathel management functions to this one
centralized service center. During fiscal 2012 imezirred approximately $12.1 million of additioredpense related to transformation activi

There can be no assurance that we will be abledeessfully implement the transformational chamiggatives or that we will be able to
do so within the anticipated time period. During girocess of implementation, we will be making sati$al investments in our business and
will incur substantial transitional costs, whichliveidversely affect our operating results until trensformation process is complete.

Fiscal 2013~ Hurricane Sandy negatively impacted our nortlegadtusinesses. While damage was minimal, somardfusinesses
experienced disruption which will impact our ficgtarter 2013 results.

Fiscal 2011 Reported Earnings and Significant Items

Fiscal 2011 Operating Performancélthough we experienced increased sales in fi88all, rising input costs, a change in sales mé dt
to competitive pressures and unfavorable weatlseites] in increased expenses and lower gross nsargin

Financial summary:
* Net sales for fiscal 2011 increased $105 millian7%, to $1.6 billion

* Net earnings for fiscal 2011 were $28 million, 650 per share on a diluted basis, a decrease8aindition and $.0.20 per share
a diluted basis, compared to fiscal 20
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» Gross margin decreased 350 basis points in fistHl 20 30.3%, due primarily to rising raw matefigut costs

» Selling, general & administrative expenses incrd&l.6 million, or 3.7%, to $408.7 million in f&@ic2011, but decreased as a
percentage of net sales to 25.1% from 25.

» We generated cash flows from operating activitiespproximately $51.0 million during fiscal 2011dahad a cash balance of
approximately $12.0 million at September 24, 2(

Senior Credit Facility- On June 8, 2011, we amended our credit agreesaded June 25, 2010 to increase the aggregategainc

borrowing amount from $275 million to $375 millioextend the maturity date to June 8, 2016, andceethe interest rates, commitment fees
and interest coverage requirements.

Repurchase of Company StoelDuring fiscal 2011, we repurchased $108.7 milbidrour common stock which consisted of 3.3 million
shares of our voting common stock (CENT) at an egage cost of approximately $30.2 million, or apjmately $9.10 per share and

8.6 million shares of our non-voting Class A comnstock (CENTA) at an aggregate cost of approxinge@B.5 million, or approximately
$9.08 per share.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the relative percentages that certain ikcand expense items bear to net sales:

Fiscal Year Ended

September 2&

September 2¢ September 24
2012 2011 2010

Net sales 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of goods sold and occupat 69.¢ 69.7 66.2
Gross profit 30.2 30.3 33.¢
Selling, general and administrati 25.€ 25.1 25.¢
Intangible asset impairmer — — 0.8
Income from operation 4.3 5.2 7.1
Interest expense, n (2.9 (2.3 (2.2
Other income 0.1 — —
Income taxe: (0.7) (1.2 (1.8)
Noncontrolling interes 0.7) — 0.7)
Net income 1.2% 1.7% 3.C%

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011
Net Sales

Net sales for fiscal 2012 increased $71.4 millmm4.4 %, to $1,700.0 million from $1,628.6 milliamfiscal 2011. The increase was due
to a $44.4 million, or 3.2%, increase in our brahgeoduct sales and a $27.0 million, or 10.7%,aaek in the sales of other manufacturers’
products. Branded product sales include productsyaseufacture under Central brand names and prodgctsanufacture under third-party

brands. Sales of our branded products represet&868of our total sales in fiscal 2012. In additibecal 2012 included an extra week as
compared to fiscal 2011.
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The following table indicates each class of similezducts which represented more than 10% of onsaalated net sales in the fiscal
years presented (in millions

Category 2012 2011 2010

Pet supplies (excluding wild bird feed) $ 847.] $ 773.1 $ 766.L
Controls and fertilizer 281.7 260.( 255.F
Wild bird feed 205.1 197.t 168.¢
Other garden supplie 185.7 212.1 196.(
Grass see 180.4 185.¢ 136.7
Total $1,700.( $1,628.¢ $1,523.¢

Our Pet segment’s net sales for fiscal 2012 ine@&§9.4 million, or 9.3%, to $930.7 million frorB%L.3 million in fiscal 2011. Pet
branded product sales increased $62.6 million ates©f other manufacturers’ products increased8hiflion as compared with fiscal 2011.
We experienced sales increases in most of ourd@egaries, including a $37.1 million increase im Animal Health category, due primarily to
innovation and increased distribution of our flea sick products. Additionally, our aquatics protisales increased $11.0 million due prime
to increased consumables sales.

Our Garden segment’s net sales for fiscal 2012edesed $8.0 million, or 1.0%, to $769.3 million fr&7i77.3 million in fiscal 2011. In
fiscal 2012, garden branded product sales decBi&® million and sales of other manufacturersdpieis increased $10.2 million compared
with fiscal 2011. Garden branded product salesimettidue primarily to a $26.3 million decreaseamanues of our other garden supply
products, including a $24.8 million decline in sw@a décor products and a $2.4 million declinedttgry products, partially offset by a $21.7
million increase in sales of controls and fertitzeSeasonal décor products were impacted by desmtesales programs in the current fiscal yee
and by increased sales returns. The majority ofldeeease in seasonal décor and pottery occurmar ifourth fiscal quarter. Garden controls
and fertilizer sales increased primarily due tovghoin overall category demand, but were advera#flscted by an early season surge in
demand which coincided with operational disruptiarising from our transformational activities dyriour second fiscal quarter.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased $20.2 million, or 4.1%, §1.4.1 million from $493.9 million in fiscal 2011.r@ss profit as a percentage of net
sales declined from 30.3% in fiscal 2011 to 30.2#4ikcal 2012. Gross profit as a percentage ofakds decreased in the garden segment ar
was partially offset by an increase in the pet saimn fiscal 2012, pressure on our margins froangases in raw material input costs
experienced in fiscal 2011 was somewhat mitigateitscal 2012 by price increases.

Both gross profit and gross margin increased irPiesegment due primarily to increased sales iofiea and tick products in our
Animal Health category, and increased margin oessaf wild bird feed products, which was heavilyanted in the prior year due primarily
higher prices of key commaodity ingredients. Thesmeases were partially offset by decreased mamgime dog & cat category which was
impacted by operational disruptions in our secoschf quarter.

Gross profit and gross margin decreased in thegbasdgment. Seasonal décor products were impagtedioced revenues in fiscal
2012, primarily due to a decrease in seasonal pabggams, increased sales returns and expensass &ed was impacted by sales mix and
increased costs in part due to lower than expesatas volumes. Additionally, the sales increasgaimien controls and fertilizer products led to
increased gross profit but decreased margin da@ter input and production costs as a resultriraber of factors, including the operational
disruptions encountered in our second fiscal quarte
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Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise&31.0 million, or 7.6%, from $408.7 millionfiacal 2011 to $439.7 million in
fiscal 2012. As a percentage of net sales, seltjipgeral and administrative expenses increased 26 in fiscal 2011 to 25.9% in fiscal
2012. The change in selling, general and admitire&r&xpenses, discussed further below, was dunespily to increased selling and delivery
expense.

Selling and delivery expense increased by $28.Bamjlor 12.7%, from $227.2 million in fiscal 201d $256.0 million in fiscal 2012. Tl
increased expense was due primarily to increaseertising and marketing program expenditures, idiclg brand building activities, increas
marketing personnel and variable compensation esqserelated to the increase in sales, and delesggnses also related to the increased
in the period. The increased costs noted abovadechpproximately $6.0 million of expenses previpusported within warehouse and
administrative expense, discussed further beloWlin§eand delivery expenses as a percentage cdales increased from 14.0% in fiscal 2011
to 15.1% in fiscal 2012. We expect to continuentréase our marketing-related expenditures in éuperiods to help grow our existing and
new products and brands.

Warehouse and administrative expense increasech$ti@n, or 1.2%, from $181.5 million in fiscal 2Q to $183.7 million in fiscal
2012. We have reorganized operating units, reatigaporting lines and departments and moved peeddmmtween departments in an effort to
align our operations with our transformational alijes. As such, approximately $6.0 million of erpes previously reported within
warehouse and administrative expense are now iedlirdselling and delivery expense. The increasearehouse and administrative expense
after taking into account the $6.0 million amouatnpart of selling and delivery expense, was $8lam, or 4.5%. The increase was due
primarily to approximately $6.7 million of additiahexpense related to transformation activitiesesEhtransformation costs include costs for
severance, facility exit costs, and our sharedicementer start up costs.

Within warehouse and administrative expense, apprately $5.3 million of expense shifted from oureogting segments and are now
part of corporate expense. These expenses werandyimelated to our supply chain management teachaur operational excellence teams.

Interest Expense

Net interest expense increased $2.4 million, o¥% #om $37.8 million in fiscal 2011 to $40.2 mdl in fiscal 2012. Interest expense
increased due to an increase in the average detianding to $474 million in fiscal 2012 comparedst43 million in fiscal 2011. In February
2012, we issued an additional $50 million aggregaitecipal amount of 8.25% senior subordinated sidige 2018 at a price of 98.501% of the
principal amount of the notes. The notes are faatseries of 8.25% senior subordinated notes 68 Bsued by the Company in March 2(

Our average interest rates for fiscal 2012 and 2@4rk 8.2% and 8.1%, respectively. Debt outstandm&eptember 29, 2012 was $4-
million compared to $435.6 million as of Septembér 2011.

Other Income

Other income increased $0.1 million from $0.6 railliin fiscal 2011 to $0.7 million in fiscal 2012.Hi\& the majority of the amounts in
both fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 are related toiegs from investments accounted for under thetgeuéthod investment of accounting, the
increase was primarily due to lower foreign exclealogses.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate in fiscal 2012 deseshto 36.7%, compared to 40.8% in fiscal 201 1pdimearily to increased tax valuatic
allowances in fiscal 2011.
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Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010
Net Sales

Net sales for fiscal 2011 increased $105.0 millmm6.9%, to $1,628.6 million from $1,523.6 milliomfiscal 2010. The increase was due
to a $114.7 million, or 9.1%, increase in our brech@roduct sales offset by a $9.7 million, or 3. @#égrease in the sales of other
manufacturers’ products. Branded product salesidtecproducts we manufacture under Central branceaamd products we manufacture
under third-party brands. Sales of our brandedywrtsdrepresented 84% of our total sales in fis6afl2

Our Pet segmerg’net sales for fiscal 2011 increased $10.8 mill@riL.3%, to $851.3 million from $840.5 million fiscal 2010. In fisce
2011, Pet branded product sales increased $10idmaind sales of other manufacturers’ productseiased $0.4 million as compared with
fiscal 2010. The increase in sales was due prigntriincreased sales of approximately $4.9 miliiowild bird feed and $4.4 of aquatic
products. The sales increase in wild bird feed prace driven while the increase in aquatic produets volume driven. Our pet health prodi
decreased slightly due primarily to decreased s#lesir flea, tick and mosquito products partialfjset by increased sales of lower margin
products such as rodenticide and dewormer produibtsdecrease in our flea and tick business wapdmarily to the competition from
generic fipronil and unfavorable weather.

Our Garden segment’s net sales for fiscal 201%kased $94.2 million, or 13.8%, to $777.3 millioorfr $683.1 million in fiscal 2010. In
fiscal 2011, garden branded product sales incredt@d.3 million and sales of other manufacturerstpcts declined $10.1 million compared
with fiscal 2010. The increase in branded prodatgswas due primarily to a $49.2 million increasgrass seed sales, a $23.7 million incr
in bird feed sales and a $4.5 million increaseardgn control and fertilizer products. The increiasgrass seed sales was due primarily to
increased volumes driven by customer demand amdadsed investment in brand building. The incread®rd feed sales was due to both
volume and price increases. The net sales incadfa®e5 million in garden control and fertilizergaucts was due primarily to an increase of
$20 million in fertilizer sales, partially offseyldecreased control product sales.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased $21.2 million, or 4.1% t839 million from $515.2 million in fiscal 2010. @ss profit as a percentage of net
sales declined from 33.8% in fiscal 2010 to 30.8¥%fiscal 2011. Gross profit as a percentage ofaks decreased in both segments. In fisce
2011, the continual increases in raw material irqmsts put pressure on our margins. For exampteyeighted average cost per pound for our
primary grains increased approximately 41% fordigear 2011 compared to fiscal 2010.

Both gross profit and gross margin decreased ifP#tesegment due primarily to higher prices of &@mmodity ingredients, such as
milo, millet, sunflower and corn which impacted baur wild bird feed business and our super prenpetrfood, and a change in product mix
in our health products, which shifted away fronesadf higher margin flea, tick and mosquito produotvards increased sales of lower margit
products.

Gross profit increased in the Garden segment lmgsgmargin decreased due primarily to higher conitymotyredient costs and the sales
mix shift of garden control and fertilizer productée higher ingredient costs impacted both bietifand garden controls and fertilizer
products. Additionally, there was a sales mix shithin garden controls and fertilizers wherebyased sales of higher margin control
products were offset by increased sales of lowagmdertilizer products.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise@&14.6 million, or 3.7%, from $394.1 millionfiacal 2010 to $408.7 million in
fiscal 2011. As a percentage of net sales, seltjipgeral and administrative expenses
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decreased from 25.9% in fiscal 2010 to 25.1% icefi®011. The change in selling, general and adinative expenses, discussed further
below, was due primarily to increased selling aalivéry expense.

Selling and delivery expense increased by $21.4amjlor 10.4%, from $205.8 million in fiscal 2010 $227.2 million in fiscal 2011. Tl
increased expense was due primarily to increaseertising and marketing program expenditures, idiclg brand building activities and
increased variable expenses related to the incieasdes. Selling and delivery expenses as a p&rge of net sales increased from 13.5% in
fiscal 2010 to 14.0% in fiscal 2011. We expectdatmue to increase our marketing-related expenaltin future periods to help grow our
existing and new products and brands.

Facilities expense decreased $1.0 million, or 9.286n $10.9 million for fiscal 2010 to $9.9 millidior fiscal 2011 due primarily to cost
savings from warehouse consolidation in our gasdgment.

Warehouse and administrative expense decreasedrfiid®, or 3.3%, from $177.4 million in fiscal 20 to $171.6 million in fiscal
2011. The decrease in fiscal 2011 was due prim#rifyreduction in performance-based compensakiparese and lower third party provider
costs, primarily legal costs.

Interest Expense

Net interest expense increased $4.2 million, o4%2 from $33.6 million in fiscal 2010 to $37.8 nol in fiscal 2011. Interest expense
increased due to both increased average debt odistpof $443 million in fiscal 2011 compared td0$4million in fiscal 2010, and increased
borrowing rates. Our average interest rates foafig011 and 2010 were 8.1% and 6.8%, respectilr@igrest expense in fiscal 2010 included
$3.9 million related to the tender for our 2013 &ulinated Notes and the issuance of our 2018 Sirzisdi Notes.

Debt outstanding on September 24, 2011 was $43#i6mtompared to $400.3 million as of Septemb&r 2010.

Other Income

Other income increased $0.2 million from $0.4 raiiliin fiscal 2010 to $0.6 million in fiscal 2011h& increase was due primarily to
higher earnings from an investment accounted fdeuthe equity method investment of accounting.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate in fiscal 2011 in@egto 40.8%, compared to 37.0% in fiscal 2010.imbeease in our effective tax rate
was due primarily to our reduced ability to use baxefits due to the decrease in fiscal 2011 incantkincreased tax valuation allowances.

Inflation

Our revenues and margins are dependent on vardom®mic factors, including rates of inflation, emercosts, consumer attitudes towarc
discretionary spending, currency fluctuations, atiter macrceconomic factors which may impact levels of consuspending. Historically, i
certain fiscal periods, we have been adversely atgolby rising input costs related to domesticaitidin, particularly relating to grain and seed
prices, fuel prices and the ingredients used ingauden fertilizer and chemicals. Rising costs haagle it difficult for us to increase prices to
our retail customers at a pace sufficient to enablt® maintain margins.

In fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012, our business waathezly impacted by low consumer confidence, ad a&bther macro-economic
factors. In fiscal 2012, commodity costs contint@thcrease. We are developing plans in the ewamént cost levels fail to moderate or
continue to increase.
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Weather and Seasonality

Our sales of lawn and garden products are influgtbgeweather and climate conditions in the différmarkets we serve. Additionally,
our Garden segment’s business is highly seasanfikdal 2012, approximately 66% of our Garden sexqgis net sales and 59% of our total
sales occurred during our second and third fisoaltgrs. Substantially all of the Garden segmeagirating income is typically generated in
this period, which has historically offset the agiérg loss incurred during the first fiscal quantéthe year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our growth through a combinatioimternally generated funds, bank borrowings, $iepgredit, and sales of equity
and debt securities to the public.

Historically, our business has been seasonal andaiking capital requirements and capital resositcacked closely to this seasonal
pattern. During the first fiscal quarter, accouetseivable reach their lowest level while invent@gcounts payable and short-term borrowing:
begin to increase. During the second fiscal quaréeeivables, accounts payable and short-termowangs increase, reflecting the build-up of
inventory and related payables in anticipationhef peak lawn and garden selling season. Durinthtre:fiscal quarter, inventory levels rem:
relatively constant while accounts receivable paadk short-term borrowings start to decline as cafliections are received during the peak
selling season. During the fourth fiscal quarteventory levels are at their lowest, and accoustsivable and payables are substantially
reduced through conversion of receivables to cash.

We service two broad markets: pet supplies and Ewehgarden supplies. Our Pet segment involvesuptedhat have a year round
selling cycle with a slight degree of seasonality.a result, it is not necessary to maintain lapgantities of inventory to meet peak demands.
On the other hand, our Garden segment is highlyosed with approximately 66% of the Garden segnsemt sales occurring during the
second and third fiscal quarters. For many manufacs of garden products, this seasonality reqtires to ship large quantities of their
product well ahead of the peak consumer buyingodsriTo encourage distributors to carry lawn andeaproducts, industry practice has
been for manufacturers to give extended creditdeand/or promotional discounts.

Cash provided by operating activities increased Z88llion from $51.0 million in fiscal 2011 to $8Bmillion in fiscal 2012. The
increase was due primarily to a decrease in workamtal investment, principally inventory, as tirewth in inventory in prior years was not
necessary in the current year. Our working capitabunts decreased approximately $6.6 million fleenend of fiscal 2011 due primarily to
decreased investment in inventory during fiscal284 compared to fiscal 2011.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased/#illion from approximately $56.2 million in fiat2011 to approximately $44.5
million in fiscal 2012. The decrease in cash usedvesting activities in fiscal 2012 was due priityato our acquisition of certain assets of a
privately-held maker of premium fertilizer for theofessional and retail markets for approximatelg #illion in cash in our Garden segment
in fiscal 2011, partially offset by an increaseb8f0 million of plant, property and equipment inwesnt in fiscal 2012.

Net cash used in financing activities decreased4sétilion from $74.0 million in fiscal 2011 to #million in fiscal 2012. The decrease
in cash used was due primarily to our private plaeet of an additional $50 million aggregate primtipf our 2018 Notes during the second
quarter of fiscal 2012, lower net borrowings under revolving credit facility in the current yeasropared to the prior year period, and lower
repurchases of our common stock during fiscal 2@12ing fiscal 2012, we repurchased $20.9 milliémor common stock which consisted
0.7 million shares of our voting common stock (CEMTan aggregate cost of approximately $5.6 mmiJlar approximately $8.02 per share,
and 1.9 million shares of our naoting Class A common stock (CENTA) at an aggregat# of approximately $15.3 million, or approxiels
$8.05 per share.
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We expect that our principal sources of funds balicash generated from our operations and, if sacgsborrowings under our $375
million revolving credit facility. Based on our &ipated cash needs, availability under our revaj\iredit facility and the scheduled maturity
of our debt, we believe that our sources of liqyighould be adequate to meet our working capitgdjtal spending and other cash needs for &
least the next 12 months. However, we cannot aggur¢hat these sources will continue to provideviik sufficient liquidity and, should we
require it, that we will be able to obtain finangion terms satisfactory to us, or at all.

We believe that cash flows from operating actigitieinds available under our revolving credit figiland arrangements with suppliers
will be adequate to fund our presently anticipatedking capital requirements for the foreseeabtarfu We anticipate that our capital
expenditures will not exceed $40 million for thexn&2 months, which are related primarily to replaents and upgrades to plant and
equipment and investment in our implementation sfaable enterprise-wide information technologtfpkm. We are investing in this
information technology platform to improve existiogerations, to support future growth and enabl® take advantage of new applications
and technologies. We have invested approximatedySsmillion from fiscal 2005 through fiscal 2012thms initiative and plan to invest up to
an additional $11.0 million in fiscal 2013 for ptaed implementations. Capital expenditures for 2813 beyond will depend upon the pace of
conversion of those remaining legacy systems. ifiitiative, when complete, will combine our numesdaformation systems into one
enterprise system and create a common businesd armleommon data, which should create greaterieffty and effectiveness.

As part of our growth strategy, we have acquiredimber of companies in the past, and we anticighatiewe will continue to evaluate
potential acquisition candidates in the futurearié or more potential acquisition opportunities]uding those that would be material, become
available in the near future, we may require addél external capital. In addition, such acquisisievould subject us to the general risks
associated with acquiring companies, particuldrtizé acquisitions are relatively large.

Stock Repurchases

During fiscal 2012, we repurchased $20.9 millioroof common stock which consisted of 0.7 millioarss of our voting common stock
(CENT) at an aggregate cost of approximately $5l6om, or approximately $8.02 per share, and 1liBiom shares of our non-voting Class A
common stock (CENTA) at an aggregate cost of apprately $15.3 million, or approximately $8.05 pbase. During the third quarter of
fiscal 2011, our Board of Directors authorized & 1$1.00 million share repurchase program, under vhajgproximately $52 million is
available for repurchases in fiscal 2013 and tHezea

At September 29, 2012, our total debt outstandiag $449.8 million versus $435.6 million at Septenitze 2011.

Senior Credit Facility

On June 8, 2011, we amended our $275 million, yiar senior secured revolving credit facility (tlredit Facility”) included in our
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Crgglieement”). Under the modified terms, the Creditikity has a borrowing capacity of
$375 million, an increase of $100 million, and aumity date of June 2016. The Credit Facility bdaveer interest rates and commitment fees
and requires less interest coverage. We continhave the option to increase the size of the Creatitlity by an additional $200 million of
incremental term loans and/or revolving loans sthovg exercise our option and one or more lendersvdling to make such increased
amounts available to us. There was no outstandifanbe as of September 29, 2012 under the CredilttiFaThere were no letters of credit
outstanding under the Credit Facility as of Septen#9, 2012. There were other letters of credf#ild.7 million outstanding as of
September 29, 2012. As of September 29, 2012, there $375.0 million of unused commitments underGhnedit Facility or, after giving
effect to the financial covenants in the Creditdgment, $225.5 million of remaining borrowing capac

39



Table of Contents

Interest on the amended Credit Facility is baseduroption, on a rate equal to the Alternate BRate (ABR), which is the greatest of
the prime rate, the Federal Funds rate plus 112©br one month LIBOR plus 1%, plus a margin, whlabtuates from 0.75% to 1.75%, or
LIBOR plus a margin, which fluctuates from 1.75%t85% and commitment fees that range from 0.30%56%, determined quarterly ba:
on consolidated total debt to consolidated EBIT@Athe most recent trailing 12-month period. ASeptember 29, 2012, the applicable
interest rate on the Credit Facility related t@eadate base rate borrowings was 5.0%, and thecaydi interest rate related to LIBOR rate
borrowings was 3.0%.

The Credit Facility is guaranteed by our materiddsidiaries and is secured by our assets, excludagroperty but including
substantially all of the capital stock of our sulisiies. The Credit Agreement contains certainrfai@ and other covenants which require us tc
maintain minimum levels of interest coverage andimam levels of senior debt to EBITDA and that riestour ability to repurchase our
stock, make investments in or acquisitions of othe&sinesses and pay dividends above certain leveisthe life of the Credit Facility. Under
the terms of our Credit Facility, we may make liestd payments, including cash dividends and stepkirchases, in an aggregate amount
initially not to exceed $200 million over the lité the Credit Facility, subject to qualificationsdabaskets as defined in the Credit Agreement.
As of September 29, 2012, our Total Leverage Rasalefined in the Credit Agreement, was 4.0 todnd our Senior Secured Leverage R
as defined in the Credit Agreement with a maximurf.0 to 1.0, was 0.01 to 1.0. Our minimum Inte@sverage Ratio was reduced to 2.50
times, from 2.75 times as part of the modificatidnthe Credit Facility. As of September 29, 2012; mterest Coverage ratio was 2.9 times.
Apart from the covenants limiting restricted paynsesind capital expenditures, the Credit Facilitgginot restrict the use of retained earnings
or net income. We were in compliance with all fio@h covenants as of September 29, 2012.

Senior Subordinated Notes

On March 8, 2010, we issued $400 million aggregatecipal amount of 8.25% senior subordinated ndtesMarch 1, 2018 (the “2018
Note").

On February 13, 2012, we issued an additional $itbmaggregate principal amount of our 2018 Naies price of 98.501%, plus
accrued interest from September 1, 2011, in a fipkacement. We used the net proceeds from tleeigfto pay a portion of the outstanding
balance under our Credit Facility.

We incurred approximately $1.7 million of debt iasge costs in conjunction with this offering, whinbluded underwriter fees and leg
accounting and rating agency expenses. The delstriss costs are being amortized over the remataing of the 2018 Notes.

The estimated fair value of our $450 million of 804otes as of September 29, 2012 was approxim$#dg million. The estimated fair
value is based on quoted market prices for thetgsno

The 2018 Notes require semiannual interest paymetish commenced on September 1, 2010. The 2018sNwe unsecured senior
subordinated obligations and are subordinated tof @ur existing and future senior debt, includmg Credit Facility. The obligations under
the 2018 Notes are fully and unconditionally guéead on a senior subordinated basis by each afasting and future domestic restricted
subsidiaries with certain exceptions. The guaranéee general unsecured senior subordinated obligadf the guarantors and are
subordinated to all existing and future senior dglthe guarantors.

We may redeem some or all of the 2018 Notes atiargyprior to March 1, 2014 at the principal amophis a “make whole” premium.
We may redeem some or all of the 2018 Notes atiargyon or after March 1, 2014 for 104.125%, aflrch 1, 2015 for 102.063% and after
March 1, 2016 for 100%, plus accrued and unpairést. Additionally, at any time prior to March213, we may redeem up to 35% of the
2018 Notes with any proceeds we receive from aegquity offerings at a redemption price of 108.2&0Rthe principal amount, plus accrued
and unpaid interest. The holders of the 2018 Niogée® the right to require us to repurchase allpordon of the 2018 Notes at a purchase |
equal to 101% of the principal amount of the notgsirchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest tiygooccurrence of a change of control.
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The 2018 Notes contain customary high yield covenancluding covenants limiting debt incurrencel aestricted payments, subject to
certain baskets and exceptions. We were in congaiavith all financial covenants as of September229,2.

Contractual Obligations
The table below presents our significant contrdatash obligations by fiscal year:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

Contractual Obligations 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total
(in millions)

Long-term debt, including current maturities $ 02 $01 $01 $— $— $ 450.C $450.

Interest payment obligations ( 37.1 37.1 37.1 37.1 37.1 18.¢ 204.1

Operating lease 20.C 14.t 10.C 6.8 4.4 2.C 57.7

Purchase commitments ( 82.2 36.2 23.2 13.€ 9.2 4.t 169.(

Performanc-based payments (. — — — — — — —
Total $139.¢ $87.¢ $70.E $57.t $50.7 $ 475.1 $881.c

(1) Excludes $15.7 million of outstanding lettef<iedit related to normal business transactiomslules unamortized discount of $0.7
million related to the $450 million Senior Suboratied Notes. See Note 10 to the consolidated fiahstatements for further discussion
of long-term debt

(2) Estimated interest payments to be made onamg-tferm debt. See Note 10 to the consolidatedhfiaé statements for description of
interest rate term:

(3) Contracts for purchases of grains, grass seéget food ingredients, used primarily to mitigagk associated with increases in market
prices and commodity availabilit

(4) Possible performandmsed payments associated with prior acquisitibbsisinesses are not included in the above tablgause they ai
based on future performance of the businessesradguhich is not yet known. Performance-based gaswere not made in fiscal
2012, and were approximately $1.9 million in fis2all1 and approximately $1.8 million in fiscal 20B@tential performance-based
periods extend through 201

As of September 29, 2012, we had unrecognizedeaarfits of $0.2 million. These amounts have beatueled from the contractual
obligations table because a reasonably reliabimats of the timing of future tax settlements cartmodetermined.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any transactions with nsalidated entities whereby we have financial gui@®s, subordinated retained
interests, derivative instruments or other contmgerangements that expose us to material contngks, contingent liabilities, or any other
obligation under a variable interest in an uncodsbéd entity that provides financing, liquidityanket risk or credit risk support to us.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Fair Value Measurements

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010+®ptoving Disclosures about Fair Value Measuremeiitis ASU requires new
disclosures regarding transfers in and out of Lé&vahd Level 2 fair value measurements, as wekasiring presentation on a gross basis
information about purchases, sales, issuancesedtieinsents in Level 3 fair value measurements. A8 also clarifies existing disclosures
regarding level of disaggregation, inputs and vaduaechniques. The ASU is effective for interimdaannual

41



Table of Contents

reporting periods beginning after December 15, 28@®became effective for us on December 27, 2DB@losures about purchases, sales,
issuances and settlements in the roll forward t¥iggin Level 3 fair value measurements are diferfor fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2010 and became effective for us pteSeer 25, 2011.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, “Rétue Measurements (Topic 820): Amendments to éahiCommon Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. BAAd IFRSs.” This ASU provides guidance relateféitovalue measurement that
changes the wording used to describe many requiresnire GAAP for measuring and disclosing fair valuadditionally, the amendments
clarify the application of existing fair value measment requirements. The amended guidance istig#qarospectively for interim and annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2011. We axdbibtis guidance at the beginning of our secorwfiguarter of 2012. Adoption of this
guidance did not have a material impact on our alifested financial statement disclosures.

Comprehensive Income

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, “@ahensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Getmgnsive Income.” ASU
No. 201:-05 requires that all nonowner changes in stocldrsldequity be presented either in a single cowtirsustatement of comprehensive
income or in two separate but consecutive statesnpefiminating the option to present other compnsh& income in the statement of change:
in equity. Under either choice, items that areassiffied from other comprehensive income to nedrime are required to be presented on the
face of the financial statements where the comp@namet income and the components of other cohgursve income are presented. In
December 2011, the FASB issued an update to AS@01dl-05, ASU No. 2011-12, which was issued to e effective date for
amendments to the reclassifications of items ouaicotimulated other comprehensive income in ASU2041-05. ASU 2011-05 and the
amendments in ASU No. 2011-12 are effective fardiyears and interim periods within those yeagegjitming after December 15, 2011 and
became effective for us on September 30, 2012 glidance will be applied retrospectively. This adraent will change the manner in which
we present comprehensive income and will not havaterial impact on our consolidated financialestagnts.

Goodwill

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010428ngibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — Wihe Perform Step 2 of the
Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units witkei®d or Negative Carrying Amounts” (“ASU 2010-28The amendments in this update
modify Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test feporting units with zero or negative carrying amsufor those reporting units, an entity is
required to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impaimheest if it is more likely than not that a gootlwnpairment exists. In determining whether
it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairnteexists, an entity should consider whether tlagecany adverse qualitative factors indicating
that an impairment may exist. ASU 2010-28 is effexfor fiscal years and interim periods within seoyears, beginning after December 15,
2010 and was effective for us on September 25, .2D014 adoption of this ASU did not have a matdriglact on our consolidated financial
statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 201118&ngibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Ting Goodwill for
Impairment, which amended the guidance on the dnesting of goodwill for impairment. The amendaddance will allow companies to
assess qualitative factors to determine if it iserikely-than-not that goodwill might be impairadd whether it is necessary to perform the
two-step goodwill impairment test required underent accounting standards. The guidance is etfeétr fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2011, and became effective for useptehber 30, 2012. We have determined that thisguégance will not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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Intangible Assets

In July 2012, the FASB issued an ASU No. 2012-02tghgibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Tegtindefinite-Lived Intangible
Assets for Impairment, which simplifies the manimewhich companies test indefinite-lived intangilblgsets for impairment. The ASU permits
companies to first assess qualitative factors terd@ne whether events and circumstances indibatdttis more likely than not that the
indefinitedived intangible asset is impaired as a basis &emnining whether it is necessary to perform antjtative impairment test. The AS
is effective for annual and interim impairment $gsérformed for fiscal years beginning after Sepieni5, 2012, with early adoption
permitted. The guidance became effective for uSeptember 30, 2012. We do not expect the adopfitrecASU to have a material impact
our consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgmets

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based upon msatidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with act@uptinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America. The preparation of the
financial statements requires us to make estinstdgudgments that affect the reported amountseated disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Estimates and assumptionsegtered for, but are not limited to, accountsreable and inventory realizable values,
fixed asset lives, long-lived asset valuation angairments, intangible asset lives, stock-basedemsation, deferred and current income
taxes, self-insurance accruals and the impactmtirogencies and litigation. We base our estimatekistorical experience and on various othe
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable tmeleircumstances, the result of which formshkasis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that asereadily apparent from other sources. Actualltesnay differ from those estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

Although not all inclusive, we believe that theldaling represent the more critical accounting gek¢ which are subject to estimates anc
assumptions used in the preparation of our core@ietifinancial statements.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record an allowance for credit losses and déspbtlances associated with our customers’ faitureake required payments. We
estimate our allowance based on both specific ifigation, historical experience, customer concatibtns, customer credit-worthiness and
current economic trends. Generally, we requireaitateral from our customers. If the financial cdiwh of our customers were to deteriorate,
we were not able to demonstrate the validity of am® due or if future default rates on trade remiglies in general differ from those currently
anticipated, additional allowances may be requinddch would effect earnings in the period the atihents are made. For more information,
see Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements

Inventory

Inventory, which primarily consists of lawn and dan products and pet supplies finished goodsatediat the lower of first-in first-out
(“FIFO”) cost or market. Cost includes certain medit purchasing, merchandise handling and storagts incurred to acquire or manufacture
inventory, costs to unload, process and put awgnsnts received to prepare them to be pickedriders, and certain overhead costs. We
compute the amount of such costs capitalized teritory based on an estimate of costs related tpreirement and processing of inventory
to prepare it for sale compared to total productpases. When necessary, we have reduced thentpualiue of our inventory if market
conditions indicate that we will not recover thergang cost upon sale. Future adverse changes ikehaonditions related to our products
could result in an additional charge to incomehia period in which such conditions occur.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an aeduiusiness over the fair value of the identifighlegible and intangible assets acquiret
and liabilities assumed in a business combinatientifiable intangible assets acquired in busireesabinations are recorded based on their
fair values at the date of acquisition. Goodwilladentifiable intangible assets with indefiniteds are not subject to amortization but must be
evaluated for impairment.

We test goodwill for impairment annually (on thesfiday of the fourth fiscal quarter), or wheneseents occur or circumstances change
that would more likely than not reduce the fairueabf a reporting unit below its carrying amount,ifitially comparing the fair value of each
of our four reporting units to their related canyivalues. If the fair value of the reporting ugitess than its carrying value, we perform an
additional step to determine the implied fair vatifiggoodwill associated with that reporting unihelimplied fair value of goodwill is
determined by first allocating the fair value oé tleporting unit to all of its assets and liak@litiand then computing the excess of the reportin
unit’s fair value over the amounts assigned toatssets and liabilities. If the carrying value obdwill exceeds the implied fair value of
goodwill, such excess represents the amount ofwgilachpairment, and, accordingly, we recognize lsirmpairment. Our goodwill impairme
analysis also includes a comparison of the aggeeggttmated fair value of all four reporting uridsour total market capitalization.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit imves the use of significant estimates and assumgtibhe estimate of fair value of each
of our reporting units is based on our projectibrevenues, gross margin, operating costs andft@sh considering historical and estimated
future results, general economic and market camstas well as the impact of planned business pachtional strategies. We base our fair
value estimates on assumptions we believe to ls®nehle at the time, but such assumptions aredubjmherent uncertainty. Assumptions
critical to our fair value estimates were: (i) disot rates used in determining the fair value efréporting units; (ii) estimated future cash
flows; and (iii) projected revenue and operatingfipigrowth rates used in the reporting unit modgélstual results may differ from those
estimates. The valuations employ present valuenigaohs to measure fair value and consider marlkgbifa

In connection with our annual goodwill impairmeesting performed during fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2@ first step of such testing
indicated that the fair value of our reporting segis exceeded their carrying value by more than, Hofb accordingly, no further testing of
goodwill was required.

Changes in the judgments and estimates underlyingmalysis of goodwill for possible impairment;luding expected future cash flows
and discount rate, could result in a significatifferent estimate of the fair value of the repagtunits in the future and could result in
additional impairment of goodwill.

Intangible assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist primadf acquired trade names and trademarks. Indefinied intangible assets are tested
annually for impairment or whenever events or clegrig circumstances occur indicating that the aagrgmount of the asset may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognipe@n intangible asset with an indefinite usdifel if its carrying value exceeds its fair
value.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested fiopairment by comparing the fair value of the atséte carrying value. Fair value is
determined based on discounted cash flow analyisg¢dniclude significant management assumptions agakvenue growth rates, discount
rates, weighted average cost of capital, and assuoyalty rates. Future net sales and short-teowtlr rates are estimated for trade names
based on managemenforecasted financial results which consider kesifess drivers such as specific revenue growtiativies, market sha
changes and general economic factors such as censp@nding.

During fiscal 2012, we performed an evaluationhef fair value of our indefinite-lived trade namesl arademarks. Our expected
revenues are based on our fiscal 2013 plan andatgréwth or decline estimates for
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fiscal 2013 through fiscal 2018. We also includedenue growth estimates based on current initisiéxpected to help us improve
performance. No impairment was indicated duringfmaal 2012 analysis of our indefinite-lived trac@mes and trademarks.

During fiscal 2011, we performed an evaluationhef fair value of our indefinite-lived trade namesl arademarks. Our expected
revenues are based on our fiscal 2012 plan andathgr&wth or decline estimates for fiscal 2012 tigto fiscal 2017. We also included revel
growth estimates based on current initiatives etqueto help us improve performance. No impairmeas wndicated during our fiscal 2011
analysis of our indefinite-lived trade names adl@marks.

Long-Lived Assets

We review our long-lived assets, including amotileaintangibles and property, plant and equipmi@ntpotential impairment whenever
events or changes in business circumstances irditat the carrying amount of the assets may néillyerecoverable. An impairment loss
would be recognized for amortizable intangible tssaad property, plant and equipment when estimateliscounted future cash flows
expected to result from use of the asset are hessits carrying amount. Management determines/édire by estimating future cash flows as ¢
result of forecasting sales and costs. Impairm&aty, is measured as the amount by which theycagramount of a long-lived asset exceeds
its fair value. No factors indicating the carryinglue of our long-lived assets may not be recoverajere present in fiscal 2012, and
accordingly, no impairment testing was performedtmse assets. No factors indicating the carryaigesof our long-lived assets may not be
recoverable were present in fiscal 2011, and a@oglyd no impairment testing was performed on thessets. In fiscal 2010, factors were
present indicating the carrying value of certairodimable long-lived assets may not be recoveratihéch prompted us to perform impairment
testing on these assets. The carrying values aigbets were determined to be recoverable, anddiegly, no impairment charges were
recognized during fiscal 2010. Should market cood# or the assumptions used by us in determitiaddir value of assets change, or
management change plans regarding the future uwametain assets, additional charges to operatitag be required in the period in which
such conditions occur.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the assdiadnility method. Deferred income taxes result @ity from bad debt allowances,
inventory and goodwill write-downs, depreciatiordarondeductible reserves. We establish a valuafilowance for deferred tax assets when
management believes it is more likely than notfemed tax asset will not be realized. As of fis2@ll2 and 2011, we had valuation allowance
related to various state and foreign net deferagdatssets of $7.3 million and $7.5 million, respety. We have no undistributed foreign
earnings.

Accruals for Self-Insurance

We maintain insurance for certain risks, includimagrkers’ compensation, general liability and veailiability, and are self-insured for
employee related health care benefits. Our worlansipensation, general liability and vehicle ligliinsurance policies include deductible:
$250,000 to $350,000 per occurrence, with a sepdeductible of $50,000 for physical damage. Wentaai excess loss insurance that cover
any health care claims in excess of $700,000 psopeper year. We maintain a self-insurance redenesses, determined with assistance
from a third-party actuary, based on claims filad actuarial estimates of the ultimate loss ammh#rent in the claims, including losses for
claims incurred but not reported. Any actuarialjgetion of losses concerning workers’ compensatioth general liability is subject to a high
degree of variability. Among the causes of thisalaility are unpredictable external factors affegtfuture inflation rates, discount rates,
litigation trends, legal interpretations, beneditél changes and claim settlement patterns. Weotibalieve there is a reasonable likelihood tha
there will be a material change in the estimatesssumptions we use to calculate our self-insurabities. However, any differences in
estimates and assumptions could result in acceggiirements materially different from the calcutbéecruals.
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Acquisitions

In connection with businesses we acquire, managemest determine the fair values of assets acquainediabilities assumed.
Considerable judgment and estimates are requirddteymine such amounts, particularly as theyedtaidentifiable intangible assets, and the
applicable useful lives related thereto. Undered#ht assumptions, the resulting valuations coalchbterially different, which could materia
impact the operating results we report.

Our contractual commitments are presented in Liguathd Capital Resources.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure Alut Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks, which include chamg U.S. interest rates and commodity prices &nd lesser extent, foreign
exchange rates. We do not engage in financialaaiuss for trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate RiskThe interest payable on our revolving creditlfgcis based on variable interest rates and tloeechffected by chang
in market interest rates. We had no variable rate dutstanding as of September 29, 2012. If istestes on our average variable rate debt
outstanding during the fiscal year had changedd8y/dasis points compared to actual rates, intergstnse would have increased or decrease
by approximately $0.4 million in fiscal 2012. Indition, we have investments consisting of cashwedents and short-term investments, whict
are also affected by changes in market interessrat

Commodity PricesiVe are exposed to fluctuations in market pricegfains, grass seed, chemicals, fertilizer ingreidiand pet food
ingredients. To mitigate risk associated with iases in market prices and commaodity availabilitg,emter into contracts for purchases,
primarily to ensure commodity availability to ustire future. As of September 29, 2012, we had edterto fixed purchase commitments for
commodities totaling approximately $169.0 millign10% change in the market price for these comnexiivould result in an additional
pretax gain or loss of $16.9 million as the relateentory containing those inputs is sold.

Foreign Currency Risk©ur market risk associated with foreign currendgsas not considered to be materiéb date, we have had
minimal sales outside of the United States. Pueshasade by our U.S. subsidiaries from foreign vemdee primarily made in U.S. dollars.
Our international subsidiary transacts most abitsiness in British pounds. Therefore, we have orihimal exposure to foreign currency
exchange risk. We do not hedge against foreigreaayr risks and believe that foreign currency exgeaisk is immaterial to our current
business.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See pages beginning at F-1.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountasion Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur&ur Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financidfi€er have reviewed, as of the
end of the period covered by this report, the ‘idisare controls and procedures” (as defined irStheurities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) that ensure that informatating to the Company required to be disclosedsin the reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, suized and reported in a timely and proper manndrthat such information is
accumulated and communicated to our managemehiding our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Final®fficer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.dlaspon this review, such officers concluded thaitdisclosure controls and procedures v
effective as of September 29, 2012.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial RepoginCentral’s management, with the participation eh@al’'s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluatdtether any change in Central’s internal contrardinancial reporting occurred during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. Based on that eviadua management concluded that there has beeharmme in Central’s internal control over
financial reporting during the fourth quarter cfdal 2012 that has materially affected, or is reably likely to materially affect, Central’'s
internal control over financial reporting.

(c) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting.A copy of our management’s report and the repoRelbitte &
Touche LLP, our independent registered public asting firm, are included in our Financial Statenseand Supplementary Data beginning or
page F-1.

Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance
We have adopted a code of ethics that applied tf alr executive officers and directors, a copyvhich is filed herewith as Exhibit 14.
The remaining information required by this iteninsorporated by reference from Central’s DefinitReoxy Statement for its 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captidakeétion of Directors,” “Further Information Concéng the Board of Directors —

Committees of the Board”, “Section 16(a) Benefi€éalnership Reporting Compliance” and “Code of EHiSee also Item 1 — Business
above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorpecby reference from Central’s Definitive Proxyt8taent for its 2013 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders under the captions “Executive Camspéon” and “Further Information Concerning theaBibof Directors — Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required by this item is incorpecby reference from Central’s Definitive Proxyt8taent for its 2013 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders under the captions “Ownership ohtgement and Principal Stockholders” and Execi@iompensation — “Equity
Compensation Plan Information.”
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorpecby reference from Central’s Definitive Proxyt8taent for its 2013 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders under the captions “Further InfaioraConcerning the Board of Directors — Board jpeledence” and “Transactions with the
Company.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference from Central’'s Definitive Proxyt8taent for its 2013 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders under the caption “Independent &eged Public Accounting Firm.”

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@) The following documents are filed as part of thepart:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements of Central Ga&l&et Company are attached to this Forr-K beginning on page-1:

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fifarigeporting
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourféinm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All other schedules are omitted because of theralgsef conditions under which they are requiretiarause the required information is
included in the consolidated financial statementsates thereto.

(2 Exhibits:
See attached Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: December 13, 2012

CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY

By /s/ WiLLiam E. BROWN
William E. Brown
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature Capacity Date

/sl WiLLiam E. BROWN Chairman and Chief Executive Officer December 13, 2012
William E. Brown (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ LORIA.V ARLAS Senior Vice President and Chief Financial December 13, 2012
Lori A. Varlas Officer (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ JoHNB. B ALOUSEK Director December 13, 2012
John B. Balouse

/s/ DaviD N. CHICHESTER Director December 13, 2012
David N. Chicheste

/s/ BROOKSM. P ENNINGTON, IlI Director December 13, 2012
Brooks M. Pennington, II

/s/ ALFREDA. PIERGALLINI Director December 13, 2012
Alfred A. Piergallini

/s/ JoHNR. RANELLI Director December 13, 2012
John R. Ranell
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Central Garden & Pet Compa

Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repaoy

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing

Consolidated Balance Sheets, September 29, 2013eptdmber 24, 201

Consolidated Statements of Operations for Fiscar¥ &nded September 29, 2012, September 24, 2@1%eptember 25, 20:

Consolidated Statements of Equity and Comprehersa@ne for Fiscal Years Ended September 29, 28&gtember 24, 2011 and
September 25, 201

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Fiscar¥ &nded September 29, 2012, September 24, 2@13eptember 25, 20:
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fordrigears Ended September 29, 2012, September024,anhd September 25, 20
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC |IAL REPORTING

Central Garden & Pet Company’s management, uneesuitpervision of Central’s Chief Executive Offiegrd Chief Financial Officer, is
responsible for establishing and maintaining effecinternal control over financial reporting (asfided in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under
the Exchange Act). Management evaluated the effamtiss of Central’s internal control over financegorting based on the framework in
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatft®@®S0O”) of the Treadway Commission.

Based on evaluation of the criteria set forth byS@0inInternal Control- Integrated Frameworknanagement concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of September 29, 2012.

Our independent registered public accounting fibmlpitte & Touche LLP, has issued a report on aternal control over financial
reporting, which appears on page F-3 of this FobriK1

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolnover financial reporting, including the pogiti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventadktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become ineffective because of chamgesnditions, or that the degree of compliancéwlie policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Central Garden & Pet Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Central Garden & Pet Company anddiahiss (the “Company”as of
September 29, 2012 and September 24, 2011, amdl#tied consolidated statements of operationsfygguid cash flows for each of the three
fiscal years in the period ended September 29, 2WFalso have audited the Company’s internal obotrer financial reporting as of
September 29, 2012, based on criteria establishbdarnal Control — Integrated Framework issuedhgyCommittee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camisamanagement is responsible for these conselidfinancial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeatss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying “ManagenseReport on Internal Control over Financial Repat’ Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statésn@md an opinion on the Company’s internal corgv@r financial reporting based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBiqUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all evél respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideace supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, and evaluating the ovemaldial statement presentation. Our a
of internal control over financial reporting inckall obtaining an understanding of internal conts@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaduthie design and operating effectiveness of ivalecontrol based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslass we considered necessary in the circumstaneebelieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidij the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected g tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakpassurance regarding the reliability of financeglorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(th) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of treetsof the company; (2) provide reasonable assertduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial stat@siin accordance with generally accepted acanmgiptinciples and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltconover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventetbtacted on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
Central Garden & Pet Company and subsidiaries &epfember 29, 2012 and September 24, 2011, amdghits of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three fiscal years enghriod ended September 29, 2012, in conformitly aicounting principles generally accej
in the United States of America. Also, in our opimithe Company maintained, in all material respezffective internal control over financial
reporting as of September 29, 2012, based on itegiarestablished in Internal Control — Integrafedmework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
December 13, 2012
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Short term investmen
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaid expenses, deferred income taxes and
Total current asse
Plant, property and equipment, |
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, r
Other asset
Total.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Current portion of lon-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes and other |-term obligation:
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Equity:
Common stocl
Class A common stoc
Class B stocl
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive inca
Total Central Garden & Pet sharehol¢ equity
Noncontrolling interes
Total equity
Total

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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September 2¢

September 24

2012 2011
(in thousands)

$ 4847: $ 12,03
22,708 17,82(
202,42. 195,41°
330,03: 329,54¢
48,14¢ 47,77
651,78: 602,58t¢
191,16 176,40:
210,22: 210,22:
78,85! 84,52¢
17,52¢ 19,26¢
$1,149,54 $1,093,00:
$ 126,66. $ 116,52
79,49: 75,12¢
331 27¢
206,48 191,93:
449,48 435,33(
28,69 8,96(
122 12¢
347 35¢
1€ 16
382,19! 396,20¢
79,71¢ 59,04t
1,53¢ 1,01¢
463,93 456,77¢
94¢€ 6
464,88. 456,78
$1,149,54 $1,093,00:




Table of Contents

CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net sales
Cost of goods sold and occupat
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Intangible asset impairmer
Income from operation
Interest expens
Interest incomt
Other income

Income before income taxes and noncontrolling et

Income taxe:

Net income including noncontrolling intere
Net income attributable to noncontrolling inter

Net income attributable to Central Garden & Pet Gany
Net income per share attributable to Central Gagi@&et Company

Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shares used in the computatinatohcome per shar

Basic
Diluted

Fiscal Year Ended

September 2¢ September 24 September 2&

2012 2011 2010

(in thousands, except per share amount:

$1,700,01: $1,628,65: $1,523,64
1,185,85! 1,134,73. 1,008,48,
514,15¢ 493,91¢ 515,16t
439,73 408,74« 394,09:
0 0 12,00(
74,42 85,17t 109,07-
(40,315 (38,049 (33,70¢)
14¢ 29¢€ 11¢
67¢ 55C 41¢€
34,92¢ 47,977 75,90¢
12,81¢ 19,59¢ 28,11(
22,11 28,38: 47,79¢
94C 59 1,96:¢
$ 21,17 $ 28,32 $ 45,83
$ 0.44 $ 0.5C $ 0.71
$ 0.44 $ 0.5C $ 0.7¢C
47,62: 56,217 64,27:
48,37« 56,64¢ 65,09:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(dollars in thousands)

Central Garden & Pet Company

CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

Retained Accumulated
Class A Common Additional Earnings Other
Common Stock Stock Class B Stock (Accumulated Comprehensive Noncontrolling
Paid-in
Shares  Amount _ Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit) Income Total Interest Total
Balance, September 26,

2009 18,777,15 $ 186 47,532,95 $ 475 1,652,26. $ 16 $ 531,300 $ 12,04: $ 1,06z $545,08' $ 2,250 $547,33!
Stocl-based compensatic 3,607 3,607 3,607
Tax benefit on exercise o

stock options 83¢€ 83¢ 83¢€
Restricted share activi (11,629 73,24( 1 (20¢) (207) (207)
Issuance of common sto 22,90! 363,70: 4 1,46€ 1,47C 1,47C
Repurchase of common

stock (2,5629,72) (25) (4,273,47) (43 (53,18¢) (12,55¢) (65,810 (65,81()
Distribution to

noncontrolling interes (2,76)) (2,767)
Other (5 (5)
Comprehensive income
Net change in foreig

currency translatior (11¢) (11¢) (11¢)
Net income 45,83: 45,83 1,96: 47,79¢
Total comprehensive

income 45,71t 1,96: 47,67¢
Balance, September 25,

2010 16,258,70 162 43,696,42 437 1,652,26: 16 483,81 45,31¢ 944 530,69t 1,447 532,14
Stocl-based compensatic 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,54t 0 0 5,54¢ 0 5,54t
Tax deficiency on exercis

of stock options, net ¢

tax benefit 0 0 0 0 0 0 (502) 0 0 (507) 0 (502)
Restricted share activi (5,867 (0] 470,00¢ 4 (267) (264) (264)
Issuance of common sto 14,40: 0 421,18: 4 0 0 1,57C 0 0 1,574 0 1,57«
Repurchase of common

stock (3,317,64) (33) (8,646,25) (86) 0 0 (93,95¢) (14,597 0 (108,67) 0 (108,67
Distribution to

noncontrolling interes (2,500 (2,500
Comprehensive income
Net change in foreig

currency translatior 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 s 75 0 75
Net income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28,32: 0 28,32: 59 28,38:
Total comprehensive

income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28,39¢ 59 28,45:
Balance, September 24,

2011 12,949,59 12¢ 35,941,36 35¢ 1,652,26: 16 396,20¢ 59,04¢ 1,01¢  456,77¢ 6 456,78.
Stocl-based compensatic 9] 0 9] 0 0 9] 5,44¢ 0 0 5,44¢ 0 5,44¢
Tax benefit on exercise of

stock options 0 0 0 0 0 0 5€ 0 0 56 0 56
Restricted share activi (9,722) (0) 90,54( 1 36¢ 37C 37C
Issuance of common sto 0 0 579,70:. 6 0 0 471 0 0 477 0 477
Repurchase of common

stock (692,301) (7) (1,904,70) (19 0 0 (20,35¢) (500 0 (20,889 0 (20,889
Comprehensive income
Net change in foreig

currency translatior 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 52C 52C 0 52(
Net income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,17 0 21,17 94( 22,11
Total comprehensive

income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,69: 94( 22,63
Balance, September 29,

2012 12,247,57 $ 122 34,706,990 $ 347 1,652,26. $ 16 $ 382,19! $ 79,71t $ 1,53¢ $463,93 $ 94€ $ 464,88

F-6
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stoclk-based compensatic
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award
Deferred income taxe
Loss on extinguishment of de
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipn
Intangible asset impairmer
Changes in assets and liabilities (excluding bssieg acquired
Receivable!
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Other lon¢-term obligation:
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activitie
Additions to property, plant and equipmi
Businesses acquired, net of cash acqt
Return of equity method investme
Investment in she-term investment
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activitie
Repayments on revolving line of cre
Borrowings on revolving line of crec
Repayments of lor-term deb
Issuance of lor-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of common st
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award
Repurchase of common stock, including shares stered for tax
withholding
Distribution to noncontrolling intere
Payment of financing cos
Net cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equig

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Supplemental informatiot

Cash paid for intere:

Cash paid for income tax— net of refund:
Non-cash investing activitie:

Capital expenditures incurred but not p
Non-cash financing activities

Repurchased shares not yet set

Restricted share stock bor

Fiscal Year Ended

September 2¢

2012

$ 22,11

30,42
7,51
(1,88))
14,41
0
18C
0

(6,841)
(164)
7,46¢
9,80t
4,95¢
1,19(
89,16¢

(39,597)
0

0
(4,88%)
(44,47)

(339,00()
304,00
(359)
49,31
2,12¢
1,881

(24,829
0

(1,715)
(8,575

327

36,44
12,03

$ 4847

$  40,93(
(8,049)

1,67

0
94¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2011
(in thousands)

$ 28,38

28,56
7,44
(945)
25,28
0
11C
0

37
(31,68))
(3,339
7,404
(9,899)
(361)
51,00¢

(31,569
(25,30)
3,13:
(2,500
(56,23))

(668,00()
703,00
(33%)
0

1,67¢
94¢

(108,72)
(1,500)
(1,05¢)

(73,99)
(203)
(79,42
91,46(

$ 12,03

$ 37,93
(947)

1,97¢

2,211
0

September 2&

2010

$ 47,79

28,86¢
5,55¢

(83€)
17,42(
3,63:
39t
12,00(

14,13:

(1,227)
3,677
2,91¢
981

(85)
135,22

(24,190
(1,756)
0

(15,32()
(41,26¢)

(10,000)
10,00(

(407,92,
400,00
1,29¢
83€

(66,907
(2,767
(12,71)
(88,16
I )
5,79-
85,66¢

$  91,46(

$ 31,57
10,41t

2,09¢

88¢
0]
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fiscal Years Ended September 29, 2012,
September 24, 2011 and September 25, 2010

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization— Central Garden & Pet Company (“Central”), a Deleavcorporation, and subsidiaries (the “Comparig”® leading
marketer and producer of quality branded produmtstfe pet and lawn and garden supplies markets.

Basis of Consolidation and Presentatieifhe consolidated financial statements includeatteounts of Central and all majority-owned
subsidiaries. Noncontrolling interests in consdkdientities are recognized for the share of adssidities and operating results not owned by
Central. All intercompany balances and transactien@ been eliminated. The fiscal year ended Sdqe®, 2012 included 53 weeks and the
fiscal years ended September 24, 2011 and Septe2b2010 included 52 weeks.

Noncontrolling Interest Noncontrolling interest in the Company’s condehsensolidated financial statements represent2@be
interest not owned by the Company in a consolidatdssidiary. Since the Company controls this sudisidits financial statements are fully
consolidated with those of the Company, and theoaoimolling owner’s 20% share of the subsidiaryes$ assets and results of operations is
deducted and reported as noncontrolling intereshertonsolidated balance sheets and as net inoss attributable to noncontrolling
interest in the consolidated statements of operatio

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United State
of America requires that management make estinateésssumptions that affect the reported amourdssats and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities as of the dath®financial statements and the reported amafrsvenues and expenses during the reportir
period including realization of accounts receivadntel inventory and valuation of goodwill. Actuasudts could differ from those estimates.

Revenue RecognitienSales are recognized when merchandise is shippkaf loss and title passes to the customerthedCompany
has no further obligations to provide servicestegldo such merchandise. Discounts, volume-badmteéncentives and most cooperative
advertising amounts are recorded as a reductisales. The Company’s current practice on produatne is to accept and credit the return of
unopened cases of products from customers whegutnity is small, where the product has beenghipped or the product is defective.
Provisions are made for estimated sales returnshadrie deducted from net sales at the time of shipnBales also include shipping and
handling costs billed directly to customers. Theoant billed to customers for shipping and handtingts included in net sales for the fiscal
years ended September 29, 2012, September 24, &3d September 25, 2010 was $4.8 million, $2.7ianiland $1.2 million, respectivel

Cost of goods sold and occuparmmmnsists of cost of product, inbound freight chargirchasing and receiving costs, certain indirect
purchasing, merchandise handling and storage dostsnal transfer costs as well as allocationswarhead costs, including depreciation,
related to the Company’s facilities. Cost of gosdkl excludes substantially all shipping and hargdéind outsound freight costs to custome
which are included in selling, general and admiatste expenses as delivery expenses. The cokifdiag and handling, including internal
costs and payments to third parties, included livelsy expenses within selling, general and adniiats/e expenses for the fiscal years ended
September 29, 2012, September 24, 2011 and Sept@H2010 was $54.6 million, $49.7 million and $&illion, respectively.

Advertising Costs The Company expenses the costs of advertisimraged. Advertising expenses were $54.4 milli§89.6 million
and $35.9 million in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2018pextively.
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

401(k) Plans- The Company sponsors several 401(k) plans whughrcsubstantially all employees. The Company’schiat
contributions expensed under these plans wererifliain, for each of the fiscal years 2012 and 20drid $1.9 million for fiscal year 2010,
respectively. In fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, then@any’s matching contributions made in the Compsu@lass A common stock resulted in
the issuance of approximately 230,000, 190,000188J000 shares, respectively.

Other incomeconsists principally of earnings from equity methwgestments and foreign exchange gains and losses.

Income taxeare accounted for under the asset and liabilithowtDeferred income taxes result primarily frond &bt allowances,
inventory and goodwill write-downs, amortizatiordamondeductible reserves. The Company establiskiekiation allowance for deferred tax
assets when management believes it is more likely hot a deferred tax asset will not be reali2edof fiscal 2012 and 2011, the Company
had valuation allowances related to various statefareign net deferred tax assets of $7.3 mildod $7.5 million, respectively. The Company
has no undistributed foreign earnings.

Cash and cash equivaleniglude all highly liquid debt instruments with atuarity of three months or less at the date of pase.

Short term investmenitsclude investments with original maturities gredaten three months and remaining maturities ofyaer or less.
Short-term investments classified as held-to-mgtanie financial instruments that the Company hadrntent and ability to hold to maturity
and are reported at amortized cost and are notagumed to fair value on a recurring basis.

Accounts receivablare carried at their estimated collectible amouhtade credit is generally extended on a short-tessis; thus trade
receivables do not bear interest, although a fieah@rge may be applied to such receivables tbgtast due.

Allowance for doubtful accountsFrade accounts receivable are regularly evaluateddilectability based on past credit history with
customers and their current financial condition.

Inventories, which primarily consist of garden products antiqumplies finished goods, are stated at the l@#/€1FO cost or market.
Cost includes certain indirect purchasing, mercisgnblandling and storage costs incurred to acquimanufacture inventory, costs to unload,
process and put away shipments received in ordarefoare them to be picked for orders, and ced#iar overhead costs. The amount of suct
costs capitalized to inventory is computed basedroastimate of costs related to the procuremeahpescessing of inventory to prepare it for
sale compared to total product purchases.

Long-Lived Assets The Company reviews its long-lived assets, inolgémortizable and indefinite-lived intangible etssand property,
plant and equipment, for potential impairment whemevents or changes in business circumstanceatedhat the carrying amount of the
assets may not be fully recoverable, and annuatlyntiefinite-lived intangible assets. An impairmérss would be recognized for amortizable
intangible assets and property, plant and equipnvaen estimated undiscounted future cash flowsarpeo result from the use of the asset
are less than its carrying amount. An impairmess lwvould be recognized for an intangible asset aitindefinite useful life if its carrying
value exceeds its fair value. Impairment, if asymieasured as the amount by which the carrying atrada long-lived asset exceeds its fair
value. The Company has recorded asset impairmanges when the carrying value of an asset wasdessxof its fair value. In fiscal 2010,
Company recognized a non-cash $12.0 million impamcharge to its indefinite-lived intangible ass&s a result of the continuing
challenging economic environment. Should marketid@ns or the assumptions used

F-9



Table of Contents

CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

by the Company in determining the fair value oeésghange, or management changes plans regahéiffigtire use of certain assets,
additional charges to operations may be requiredamperiod in which such conditions occur. SeeeNbt Other Intangible Assets.

Land, buildings, improvements and equipnaetstated at cost. Depreciation is computed bgtiiagght-line method over thirty years for
buildings. Improvements are amortized on a strdigltbasis over the shorter of the useful lifaéha asset or the terms of the related leases.
Depreciation on equipment and capitalized softiswomputed by the straighire and accelerated methods over the estimatddldises of 3
to 10 years.

Gooduwillrepresents the excess of cost of an acquired lassower the fair value of the identifiable tangialel intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in a business combinatientifiable intangible assets acquired in busiressebinations are recorded based on their
fair values at the date of acquisition. Goodwilh@ subject to amortization but must be evaluftedmpairment annually. The Company tests
for goodwill impairment annually or whenever eveotsur or circumstances change that would mordylitkean not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying amount. See Ndte Goodwill.

Investments The Company owns membership interests approxim&dg in two unconsolidated companies. The Compangunts fol
its interest in these entities using the equityhudt Equity income of $0.7 million in fiscal 201%0).9 million in fiscal 2011 and $0.6 million in
fiscal 2010 is included in other income in the aditated statements of operations. The Companyssiment in these entities was $1.3
million at September 29, 2012 and $0.9 million ep®mber 24, 2011. On a combined basis, the ataétbties, revenues and expenses of
these entities are not significant.

Accruals For Insurance The Company maintains insurance for certain risicduding workers’ compensation, general liagikind
vehicle liability, and is self-insured for employesated health care benefits. The Company’s wetleampensation, general liability and
vehicle liability insurance policies include dedbtgs of $250,000 to $350,000 per occurrence. Tom@any maintains excess loss insurance
that covers any health care claims in excess 0d $00 per person per year. The Company establissesves for losses based on its claims
experience and actuarial estimates of the ultines® amount inherent in the claims, including ckincurred but not yet reported. Costs are
recognized in the period the claim is incurred, tedfinancial statement accruals include an eséiraficlaims incurred but not yet reported.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments At September 29, 2012 and September 24, 201 tatiging amount of cash and cash equivalents
short term investments, accounts receivable andlipayshort term borrowings and accrued liabiliipproximates fair value because of the
short term nature of these instruments. The estidhfatr value of the Compars/senior subordinated notes is based on quotedetraikes fol
these instruments. See Note 3 for further inforamategarding the fair value of the Company’s finahmstruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments The Company reports all derivative financial instents on the balance sheet at fair value. Changes
fair value are recognized in earnings, or are deferdepending on the nature of the underlying sMpobeing hedged and how effective the
derivative is at offsetting a change in the undagyexposure.

The Company principally uses a combination of pasehorders and various short and long-term suppy@ements in connection with
the purchase of raw materials, including certaimemdities. The Company also enters into commodityrés and options contracts to reduce
the volatility of price fluctuations of corn, whidgmpacts the cost of raw materials. The Compansitegry objective when entering into these
derivative
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contracts is to achieve greater certainty with redga the future price of commodities purchasedufge in its supply chain. These derivative
contracts are entered into for periods consistéthi tive related underlying exposures and do nostitute positions independent of those
exposures. The Company does not enter into deresatintracts for speculative purposes and doess®leveraged instruments.

The Company does not perform the assessments @ddoiachieve hedge accounting for commodity déviegositions. Accordingly,
the changes in the values of these derivativeseagrded currently in its consolidated statemehtgperations. As of September 29, 2012 and
September 24, 2011, the notional amount of thes#ais was not significant.

Stock-Based CompensatierStock-based compensation cost is estimated agtrémt date based on the fair value of the awaddsan
expensed ratably over the service period of thedwatal compensation costs recognized undehallesbased arrangements in fiscal 2012
was $7.5 million ($4.7 million after tax), fiscaD21 was $7.4 million ($4.4 million after tax) amdfiscal 2010 was $5.6 million ($3.5 million
after tax). See Note 13 for further information.

Total Comprehensive Incomelotal comprehensive income consists of two corept®1 net income and other comprehensive income.
Other comprehensive income refers to gains an@é$ost under generally accepted accounting ptasgre recorded directly as an eleme
shareholders’ equity, but are excluded from nepime. Other comprehensive income is comprised o&oay translation adjustments relating
to the Company’s foreign subsidiary whose functiauarency is not the U.S. dollar. The Company doashave any undistributed foreign
earnings.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010r@proving Disclosures about Fair Value
Measurements.” This ASU requires new disclosurganding transfers in and out of Level 1 and Lev&iRvalue measurements, as well as
requiring presentation on gross basis informatiooud purchases, sales, issuances and settlemdrggehn3 fair value measurements. The £
also clarifies existing disclosures regarding lexfadisaggregation, inputs and valuation techniqlibe ASU is effective for interim and anni
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 28@®became effective for the Company on Decembge2@09. Disclosures about
purchases, sales, issuances and settlementsnalltfeward of activity in Level 3 fair value measments are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2010 and were effedtivthe Company on September 25, 2011. The amopfithis ASU did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated fo@rstatements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010428ngibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — Wihe Perform Step 2 of the
Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units witkeid or Negative Carrying Amounts” (“ASU 2010-28The amendments in this update
modify Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test feporting units with zero or negative carrying amsufor those reporting units, an entity is
required to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impaimheest if it is more likely than not that a gootlwnpairment exists. In determining whether
it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairnteexists, an entity should consider whether tlageeany adverse qualitative factors indicating
that an impairment may exist. ASU 2010-28 is effexctor fiscal years and interim periods within sieoyears, beginning after December 15,
2010 and was effective for the Company on Septe@be?011. The adoption of this ASU did not havaaterial impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, “Rétue Measurements (Topic 820): Amendments to éahiCommon Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. BAAd IFRSs.” This ASU provides guidance relateféitovalue measurement that
changes the wording used to describe many requiresnire GAAP for measuring and disclosing fair valuadditionally, the amendments
clarify the
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application of existing fair value measurement reguents. The amended guidance is effective praisedcfor interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2011. The Companytaddpis guidance at the beginning of its secoschfiquarter of 2012. Adoption of this
guidance did not have a material impact on the Gomis consolidated financial statement disclosures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standdmttate (“ASU”) No. 2011-05,Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentatic
Comprehensive Income.” ASU No. 2011-05 requires @llamonowner changes in stockholders’ equity lesented either in a single
continuous statement of comprehensive income twanseparate but consecutive statements, elimgé#ti@ option to present other
comprehensive income in the statement of changeguity. Under either choice, items that are resifizsl from other comprehensive income
to net income are required to be presented orettee df the financial statements where the compsradniet income and the components of
other comprehensive income are presented. In Degepi 1, the FASB issued an update to ASU No. Zi8,JASU No. 2011-12, which was
issued to defer the effective date for amendmaentiset reclassifications of items out of accumulattrtbr comprehensive income in ASU
No. 201:-05. ASU 2011-05 and the amendments in ASU No. 2L are effective for fiscal years and interim pds within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2011 and became eféefttr the Company on September 30, 2012. Theamdie will be applied retrospective
This amendment will change the manner in whichGbepany presents comprehensive income and wihae¢ an impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 201116&ngibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Ting Goodwill for
Impairment, which amended the guidance on the dnesting of goodwill for impairment. The amendaddance allows companies to assess
qualitative factors to determine if it is more-ligghan-not that goodwill might be impaired and whex it is necessary to perform the two-step
goodwill impairment test required under currentcacting standards. The guidance is effective fudi years beginning after December 15,
2011, and became effective for the Company on &epte 30, 2012. The Company has determined thahévisguidance did not have a
material impact on its consolidated financial stetats.

In July 2012, the FASB issued an ASU No. 2012-02tghgibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Tegtindefinite-Lived Intangible
Assets for Impairment, which simplifies the manimewhich companies test indefinite-lived intangilblgsets for impairment. The ASU permits
companies to first assess qualitative factors terd@ne whether events and circumstances indibatdttis more likely than not that the
indefinitedived intangible asset is impaired as a basis &emgnining whether it is necessary to perform antjtative impairment test. The AS
is effective for annual and interim impairment $gsérformed for fiscal years beginning after Sepeni5, 2012, with early adoption
permitted. The guidance became effective for thm@any on September 30, 2012. The Company doespetethe adoption of the ASU to
have a material impact on its consolidated findrate@tements.

2. Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820 establishes a single authoritative definitf fair value, a framework for measuring faitueaand expands disclosure of fair
value measurements. ASC 820 requires financiatsasel liabilities to be categorized based onrtpets used to calculate their fair values as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for itEitassets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices includétin Level 1 that are observable for the assdiatility, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs for the asset oilltgbwhich reflect the Company’s own assumpti@imut the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset oriliigh(including assumptions about risk).
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value orRecurring Basis

The Company had shoterm investments, consisting of bank certificatedeposit, measured at fair value using Level 2iiagn the fail
value hierarchy, as of September 29, 2012.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value orNbn-Recurring Basis

Financial assets measured at fair value on a nonieg basis include short-term held-to-maturitygdatments that are carried at
amortized cost and are not remeasured to fair vaiug recurring basis. There were no fair valuestdjents to these financial assets during
2012,

The Company measures certain non-financial aseetfiabilities, including long-lived assets, goothaind intangible assets, at fair value
on a non-recurring basis. Fair value measuremdmtsrefinancial assets and non-financial liabikti&re used primarily in the impairment
analyses of long-lived assets, goodwill and othtarigible assets using discounted cash flows wéthrelL3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. In
fiscal 2010, the carrying value of $26.9 millioninflefinite-lived intangible assets were writtemahoto their estimated fair value of $14.9
million, resulting in an impairment charge of $1#@lion, which was included in earnings for theipd.

3. Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cash equivalents, short term investments consistinigaoik certificates of deposit and
held-to-maturity debt securities, accounts recde&zabd payable, short-term borrowings, and accliaédities. The carrying amount of these
instruments approximates fair value because of #iairt-term nature.

The estimated fair value of the Company’s $450iarilB.25 % senior subordinated notes due 2018 8gpfember 29, 2012 was $482.6
million, compared to a carrying value of $449.3lioil. The estimated fair value is based on quotadket prices for these notes.

4. Acquisitions
Fiscal 2012
The Company made no acquisitions during fiscal 2012

Fiscal 2011

On February 28, 2011, the Company acquired ceatssets of a privately-held maker of premium feilifor the professional and retalil
markets for approximately $23 million in cash. Teguired assets were integrated into the busifé3srmington Seed, Inc., a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. The purchase price edaxbéhe estimated fair value of the tangible amanigible assets acquired by $1.0 million,
which was recorded as goodwiill.

Contingent performance payments of $1.9 millionevesid in fiscal 2011 for previous acquisitions aacbrded as goodwill in fiscal
2011.

Fiscal 2010

The Company made no acquisitions during fiscal 2@dhtingent performance payments of $1.8 millia@revpaid for acquisitions made
in prior years, which were recorded as goodwifisal 2010.
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5. Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Cusomers and Suppliers

Customer Concentration Approximately 45% of the Company’s net saledfifaral 2012 and fiscal 2011, and 46% of the Comjsangt
sales for fiscal year 2010 were derived from stdghe Company'’s top five customers. The Compalaygest customer accounted for
approximately 17%, 16% and 17% of the Company’ssakds in fiscal years 2012, 2011and 2010, respdgtiThe Company’s second largest
customer accounted for approximately 9%, 12% arid @aOthe Company’s net sales in fiscal years 2Q02,1and 2010, respectively. The
Company’s third largest customer accounted for@yiprately 7% of the Compang’net sales in each of the fiscal years 2012 atd,2dhd 89
of the Company’s net sales in fiscal 2010. The tdssr significant adverse change in, the relatfop between the Company and any of these
three customers could have a material adverseteffethe Company’s business and financial restilis.loss of or reduction in orders from
any significant customer, losses arising from awngiodisputes regarding shipments, fees, merchandisdition or related matters, or the
Company'’s inability to collect accounts receivatotem any major customer could also have a matadakrse impact on the Company’s
business and financial results. As of Septembe@92 and September 24, 2011, accounts receiviaiethe Company’s top five customers
comprised approximately 42% and 40% of the Compatotal accounts receivable, including 15% and frt#h the Company’s largest
customer.

Supplier Concentratior While the Company purchases products from matfgrdint manufacturers and suppliers, approxime@éty
12% and 9% of the Company’s cost of goods soldsizaf years 2012, 2011and 2010, respectively, @eriwed from products purchased from
the Company’s five largest suppliers.

6. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Changes in the allowance for doubtful accountsaremarized below (in thousands):

Charged/ Asset
Balances a (Credited) to Write-

Offs, Balances
Beginning Costs and Less at End of

Description of Period Expenses Recoverie: Period
Fiscal year ended September 25, 2010 $ 18,01 $ 5,64i $ (2,097) $21,56¢
Fiscal year ended September 24, 2 21,56¢ (3,662 (2,312 15,59(
Fiscal year ended September 29, 2 15,59( 5,291 (2,307%) 18,57

7. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment consists of the followimgt{iousands):
As of
September 2¢ September 24
2012 2011

Land $  9,50¢ $  9,25¢
Buildings and improvemen 108,12: 100,43!
Transportation equipme 6,12¢ 6,55(
Machine and warehouse equipm 174,41: 168,47
Capitalized softwar 99,09( 82,93t
Office furniture and equipmel 26,07¢ 26,03:
423,32¢ 393,68!
Accumulated Depreciatic (232,169 (217,28)
$ 191,16. $ 176,40.
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Depreciation and amortization expense charged éoatipns was $30.4 million, $28.6 million and $2&#lion for fiscal 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

8. Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for tiseal years ended September 29, 2012, Septemb@024 and September 25, 2010
(in thousands):

Garden Products Pet Products
Segment Segment Total
Balance as of September 26, 2(
Goodwill $ 210,67: $ 398,92¢ $ 609,60:
Accumulated impairment loss (205,879) 195,979 (401,85))
4,79¢ 202,95( 207,74¢
Additions (reductions) in fiscal 201 881 (1,317 (430
Balance as of September 25, 2(
Goodwill 211,55 397,61 609,17:
Accumulated impairment loss (205,879) (195,979 (401,85))
5,68( 201,63 207,31¢
Additions in fiscal 201: 2,02¢ 87t 2,90¢
Balance as of September 24, 2(
Goodwill 213,58 398,49:. 612,07!
Accumulated impairment loss (205,879 (195,979 (401,85)
7,70¢ 202,51 210,22:
Balance as of September 29, 2(
Goodwill 213,58 398,49:. 612,07!
Accumulated impairment loss (205,879 (195,979 (401,85)
$ 7,70¢ $ 202,51« $ 210,22:

Additions or reductions to goodwill include acqtimns, purchase price adjustments and adjustmé@sounts upon finalization of
purchase accounting.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annuédly the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter)vainenever events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely thaireduce the fair value of a reporting unit beldsvaarrying amount, by initially comparing
the fair value of each of the Company’s four rejpgrunits to their related carrying values. If fa@ value of the reporting unit is less than its
carrying value, the Company performs an additistegh to determine the implied fair value of gootladisociated with that reporting unit. The
implied fair value of goodwill is determined bydirallocating the fair value of the reporting uoitall of its assets and liabilities and then
computing the excess of the reporting unit’s failue over the amounts assigned to the assetsahilities. If the carrying value of goodwiill
exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, sucleess represents the amount of goodwill impairresmd, accordingly, the Company
recognizes such impairment. The Company’s goodmitlairment analysis also includes a comparisohefggregate estimated fair value of
all four reporting units to the Company’s total ketrcapitalization.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit imwes the use of significant estimates and assumgtidhe estimate of fair value of each
of the Company’s reporting units is based on then@any’s projection of revenues, gross margin, dpegaosts and cash flows considering
historical and estimated future results,
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general economic and market conditions as wethasmpact of planned business and operationaksjieg. The Company bases its fair value
estimates on assumptions the Company believesreasenable at the time, but such assumptionsubjecs to inherent uncertainty.
Assumptions critical to the Company'’s fair valuéraates were: (i) discount rates used in deterrgitire fair value of the reporting units;

(i) estimated future cash flows; and (iii) projedtrevenue and operating profit growth rates usedd reporting unit models. Actual results
may differ from those estimates. The valuationslegpresent value techniques to measure fair vahgeconsider market factors.

In connection with the Company’s annual goodwilpairment testing performed during fiscal 2012, 2@l 2010, the first step of such
testing indicated that the fair value of the Compsneporting segments exceeded their carryingevalpymore than 10%, and accordingly, no
further testing of goodwill was required.

Changes in the judgments and estimates underlyingralysis of goodwill for possible impairment;luding expected future cash flows
and discount rate, could result in a significatifferent estimate of the fair value of the repagtunits in the future and could result in
additional impairment of goodwill.

9. Other Intangible Assets
The following table summarizes the components oégrand net acquired intangible assets:

Net
Accumulated Carrying
Gross Amortization Impairment Value
(in millions)
September 29, 201
Marketing-related intangible asse- amortizable $ 12.¢ $ (7.5) $ 0 $ 458
Marketin¢-related intangible asse- nonamortizable 59.¢€ 0 (16.9) 42.7
Total 71.¢ (7.5) (16.9) 47.F
Custome-related intangible asse— amortizable 42.1 (15.9 0 27.5
Other acquired intangible ass— amortizable 10.¢ (6.7) 0 4.1
Other acquired intangible ass— nonamortizable 1.2 0 (1.2 0
Total 12.C (6.79) (1.2) 4.1
Total other intangible asse $126.€ $  (29.9 $ (18.) $ 78.C
September 24, 201

Marketing-related intangible asse- amortizable $ 12.¢ $ (6.9 $ 0 $ 6.C
Marketin¢-related intangible asse- nonamortizable 59.€ 0 (16.9) 42.7
Total 71.¢ (6.9 (16.9) 48.7
Custome-related intangible asse— amortizable 421 (13.0 0 29.7
Other acquired intangible ass— amortizable 10.¢ (4.7) 0 6.1
Other acquired intangible ass— nonamortizable 1.2 0 (1.2 0
Total 12.C (4.7 (1.2 6.1
Total other intangible asse $126.€ $ (24.0 $ (18.) $ 84.F

Other intangible assets acquired include contrasetl and technology-based intangible assets.
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The Company evaluates long-lived assets, includimgrtizable and indefinite-lived intangible assédsjmpairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carryingevalay not be recoverable. The Company evaluatedimiig-lived intangible assets on an
annual basis. In fiscal 2012, the Company testethitefinite-lived intangible assets and no impaintrwas indicated. Other factors indicating
the carrying value of the Company’s amortizablangible assets may not be recoverable were nog¢mrasfiscal 2012, and accordingly, no
impairment testing was performed on these assets.

The Company is currently amortizing its acquiretdmgible assets with definite lives over periodsgiag from 1 to 25 years; over
weighted average remaining lives of seven yearsmfinketing-related intangibles, 17 years for cusierelated intangibles and five years for
other acquired intangibles. Amortization expengedrftangibles subject to amortization was approxatya$5.6 million, $5.0 million and $4.6
million, for fiscal 2012, 2011and 2010, respectyealnd is classified within operating expensefhi;¢ondensed consolidated statements of
operations. Estimated annual amortization expegis¢ed to acquired intangible assets in each ofileceeeding five years is estimated to be
approximately $5 million per year from fiscal 20thBough fiscal 2017.

10. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following:

September 2¢ September 24

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Senior subordinated notes, net of unamortized disi$d , interest at 8.25%, payable semi-annual

principal due March 201 $ 449,31. $ 400,00(
Revolving credit facility, interest at Alternate &®aRate plus a margin of 0.75% to 1.75%, or LIBOR
plus a margin of 1.75% to 2.75%, final maturity @016 0 35,00(
Other notes payab 502 60¢
Total 449,81 435,60¢
Less current portio (330 (279
Long-term portion $ 449,48. $ 435,33

(1) Represents unamortized original issue discoun68Bg$as of September 29, 2012, which is amortizabté March 2018

Senior Credit Facility

On June 8, 2011, the Company amended its $27%millive-year senior secured revolving credit fiaciithe “Credit Facility”) included
in its Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (@redit Agreement”). Under the modified terms, thredit Facility has a borrowing
capacity of $375 million, an increase of $100 roillj and an extension of maturity date by approxéyaine year, to June 2016. As amended,
the Credit Facility bears lower interest rates emshmitment fees and requires less interest covefidgeCompany continues to have the of
to increase the size of the Credit Facility by dditional $200 million of incremental term loansdéor revolving loans should it exercise its
option and one or more lenders are willing to msikeh increased amounts available to it. There wasutstanding balance as of
September 29, 2012 under the Credit Facility. Theee no letters of credit outstanding under thed@i-acility as of September 29, 2012.
There were other letters of credit of $15.7 millmuntstanding as of September 29, 2012. As of Sdme0, 2012, there were $375.0 millior
unused commitments under the Credit Facility derafiving effect to the financial covenants in eedit Agreement, $225.5 million of
remaining borrowing capacity.
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Interest on the amended Credit Facility is basetheaCompany’s option, on a rate equal to therAtite Base Rate (ABR), which is the
greatest of the prime rate, the Federal Fundsptate! /2 of 1% or one month LIBOR plus 1%, plus agmarwhich fluctuates from 0.75% to
1.75%, or LIBOR plus a margin, which fluctuatesnfrd.75% to 2.75% and commitment fees that ranga i80% to 0.50%, determined
quarterly based on consolidated total debt to daieted EBITDA for the most recent trailing 12-mbrieriod. As of September 29, 2012, the
applicable interest rate on the Credit Facilityatet! to alternate base rate borrowings was 5.08cthenapplicable interest rate related to
LIBOR rate borrowings was 3.0%.

The Credit Facility is guaranteed by the Compamnyaerial subsidiaries and is secured by the Conipasgets, excluding real property
but including substantially all of the capital dtaaf the Company’s subsidiaries. The Credit Agreeineentains certain financial and other
covenants which require the Company to maintainimmim levels of interest coverage and maximum legékenior debt to EBITDA and that
restrict the Company’s ability to repurchase itsckt make investments in or acquisitions of othesifiesses and pay dividends above certain
levels over the life of the Credit Facility. Undée terms of the Company’s Credit Facility, it nrmagke restricted payments, including cash
dividends and stock repurchases, in an aggregatararmitially not to exceed $200 million over thife of the Credit Facility, subject to
gualifications and baskets as defined in the Crkditement. As of September 29, 2012, the Comahgtal Leverage Ratio, as defined in
Credit Agreement, was 4.0 to 1.0, and the Compa8gtsor Secured Leverage Ratio, as defined in thdiCAgreement with a maximum of
2.0to 1.0, was 0.01 to 1.0. The Company’s minimntarest Coverage Ratio was reduced to 2.50 tifna®, 2.75 times as part of the
modification of the Credit Facility. As of Septeml29, 2012, the Company’s Interest Coverage ratis &9 times. Apart from the covenants
limiting restricted payments and capital expeneisiuthe Credit Facility does not restrict the useetained earnings or net income. The
Company was in compliance with all financial couwatiseas of September 29, 2012.

Senior Subordinated Notes

On March 8, 2010, the Company issued $400 milliggregate principal amount of 8.25% senior subotdthaotes due March 1, 2018
(the “2018 Notes”).

On February 8, 2012, the Company issued an addIt®B0 million aggregate principal amount of it 8Notes at a price of 98.501%,
plus accrued interest from September 1, 2011 private placement. The Company used the net predeach the offering to pay a portion of
the outstanding balance under its Credit Facility.

The Company incurred approximately $1.7 milliordebt issuance costs in conjunction with this offgriwhich included underwriter
fees and legal, accounting and rating agency exgseii$ie debt issuance costs are being amortizedlmeemaining term of the 2018 notes.

The 2018 Notes require semiannual interest paymetish commenced on September 1, 2010. The 2018sNwe unsecured senior
subordinated obligations and are subordinated twf #he Company’s existing and future senior deftluding the Company’s Credit Facility.
The obligations under the 2018 Notes are fully anconditionally guaranteed on a senior subordinbgsis by each of the Compasyxisting
and future domestic restricted subsidiaries witttate exceptions. The guarantees are general uresksanior subordinated obligations of the
guarantors and are subordinated to all existingfatnule senior debt of the guarantors.

The Company may redeem some or all of the 2018N\attany time prior to March 1, 2014 at the priatgmount plus a “make whole”
premium. The Company may redeem some or all o2@i8 Notes at any time on or after March 1, 2014L1.125%, after March 1, 2015 for
102.063% and after March 1, 2016 for 100%, plusweat and unpaid interest. Additionally, at any tipner to March 1, 2013, the Company
may redeem up to
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35% of the 2018 Notes with any proceeds the Compargives from certain equity offerings at a redgompprice of 108.25% of the principal
amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The tolhfehe 2018 Notes have the right to requireGbepany to repurchase all or a portion of

the 2018 Notes at a purchase price equal to 101t#eqgfrincipal amount of the notes repurchased; picrued and unpaid interest through the
repurchase date upon the occurrence of a changmtbl.

The 2018 Notes contain customary high yield covenancluding covenants limiting debt incurrencel aestricted payments, subject to
certain baskets and exceptions. The Company wesnipliance with all financial covenants as of Seyier 29, 2012.

The scheduled principal repayments on long-ternt delof September 29, 2012 are as follows:

(in thousands’
Fiscal year
2013 $ 331
2014 13¢€
2015 30
2016 2
2017 0
Thereaftel 450,00(
Total $ 450,50:(1)

(1) Debtrepayments include an amount in excediseofarrying value of debt and reflect the unamediportion of the original issue
discount on the Senior Subordinated Notes of $0llifomas of September 29, 2012, which is amortigamtil March 2018

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

Letters of credit The Company had $15.2 million of outstanding Istf credit related to normal business transactdi@eptember 29,
2012.

Purchase commitmentsProduction and purchase agreements (primarilgifass seed and grains) entered into in the ordowurse of
business obligate the Company to make future pseshbased on estimated yields. The terms of tlwgeacts vary and have fixed prices or
quantities. At September 29, 2012, estimated anpwahase commitments were $82.2 million for fis2@1 3, $36.2 million for fiscal 2014,
$23.3 million for fiscal 2015, $13.6 million forsital 2016, $9.2 million for fiscal 2017 and $4.9lion thereafter.

Leases- The Company has operating lease agreementspailycior office and warehouse facilities and egqugnt. Such leases have
remaining terms of 1 to 9 years. Rental expense$2as$ million for fiscal 2012, $24.4 million foistal 2011 and $26.9 million for fiscal

2010.

Certain facility leases have renewal options amtlioe escalation clauses. Minimum lease paymentsde scheduled rent increases
pursuant to these escalation provisions.
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Aggregate minimum annual payments on non-cancetgigeating leases at September 29, 2012 are asvioll

Fiscal year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereaftel

Total

Contingencies

(in thousands

$ 20,03¢
14,44:
10,02«
6,83¢
4,37(
1,982

$ 57,69

The Company may from time to time become involvedértain legal proceedings in the ordinary coofdeusiness. Currently, the
Company is not a party to any legal proceedingsrtfEmagement believes would have a material adweéfset on the Company’s financial

position or results of operations.

The Company has experienced, and may in the fetyerience, issues with products that may leadddyzt liability, recalls,
withdrawals, replacements of products, or regwasations by governmental authorities. In 2012, Tenpany recorded approximately
$4.9 million of costs related to these recalls.r€utly, the Company has not experienced any prdétity, recalls, withdrawals or
replacements of products that management believethvihave a material adverse effect on the Compdimyancial position or results of

operations.

12. Income Taxes

The provision for income tax expense (benefit) aiaof the following:

Current:
Federal.
State.
Foreign.

Total

Deferred:
Federal,
State.
Foreign.

Total

Total

F-20

Fiscal Year Ended

September 2¢ September 24 September 2&

2012

2011 2010

(in thousands)

$ (1,009 $
60%

35

(365)

12,67:
19¢
312

13,18:
$ 12,81« $

(5,517) $ 9,20

16€ 1,90z

35 67

(5,319 11,26:
22,66 15,82:
1,21¢ 1,20z
1,08 (7
__ 2491 __ 16,84
$ 1959 $ 281K
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal incoma tate to the Company’s effective income tax ratas follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

September 2¢ September 24 September 2&
2012 2011 2010

Statutory federal income tax rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income taxes, net of federal ber 2.3 2.8 3.2
Other permanent differenc 0.€ 1.4 (0.9
Adjustment of prior year accrue 0.2 1.2 (0.3
Uncertain tax position 0.C (0.3 (0.7
Credits (1.2 (2.9 (0.5
Change in valuation allowanc 0.2 3.2 0.C
Other (0.7 0.4 0.€
Effective income tax rate (benef 36.7% 40.8% 37.(%

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of “tenappdifferences” between asset and liability amsdot financial reporting purposes
and such amounts as determined based on exiskitawa. The tax effect of temporary differences aadyforwards which give rise to
deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

September 29, 201. September 24, 201
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Tax Tax Tax Tax
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in thousands)
Current:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 6,741 $ 0 $ 5,75( $ 0
Inventory write-downs 10,41 0 7,924 0
Prepaid expense 112 0 62€ 0
Nondeductible reserve 997 0 1,06¢ 0
State taxes 0 24t 0 33¢
Employee benefit 5,88t 0 4,69( 0
Other. 3,50¢ 0 3,552 0
Total 27,65¢ 24t 23,60¢ 338

Noncurrent:
Depreciation and amortizatio 0 30,35¢ 0 11,66¢
Equity income 0 28C 0 952
State net operating loss carryforwi 4,16( 0 4,04: 0
Stock based compensati 5,22¢ 0 5,41¢ 0
State credit: 2,241 0 2,261 0
Other. 2,86¢ 0 3,461 0
Valuation allowanct (7,287) 0 (7,450 0
Total. 7,21( 30,63¢ 7,737 12,61;
Total. $34,86¢ $30,88: $31,34: $12,95(

The Company’s state tax net operating losses ofl%®@lion expire at various times between 2012 2682, and foreign losses of $3.5
million, which do not expire. The Company has fed@come tax credits of
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$0.7 million which expire between 2022 and 2032 Tompany also has state income tax credits ofi@ilién. $1.2 million of these credits
expire at various times beginning in 2012 througB2 Credits of $2.2 million do not expire. In avating the Company’s ability to recover its
deferred tax assets, the Company considers albé@ipositive and negative evidence including pastrating results, future taxable income,
and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planningeggias in assessing the need for a valuation allogvagainst any deferred tax assets. The
Company has determined there will be insufficientife separate state and international taxablariedor the separate parent company an
Company’s foreign operations to realize its defiétex assets. Therefore, valuation allowances ¢f 8illion and $7.5 million (net of federal
impact) at September 29, 2012 and September 24, 28dpectively, have been provided to reduce stadeforeign deferred tax assets to
amounts considered recoverable.

The Company classifies uncertain tax positionsasaurrent income tax liabilities unless expectetid paid within one year. The
Company recognizes interest and/or penalties btatehcome tax matters as a component of pret@onie. As of September 29, 2012 and
September 24, 2011 accrued interest was less thhamdllion and no penalties were accrued relateghicertain tax positions.

The following table, which excludes interest andaltges, summarizes the activity related to the Gany’s unrecognized tax benefits for
fiscal years ended September 24, 2011 and Septe2@b2012 (in thousands):

Balance as of September 25, 2( $ 48t
Increases related to prior year tax positi 19t
Increases related to current year tax posit 64
Decreases related to prior year tax posit (309¢)
Settlement: (159

Balance as of September 24, 2( $ 282
Increases related to prior year tax positi 1
Increases related to current year tax posit 1€
Decreases related to prior year tax posit —
Settlement: (37)

Balance as of September 29, 2( $ 262

As of September 29, 2012, unrecognized income ¢mefits totaled approximately $0.2 million andadlthe unrecognized tax benefits
would, if recognized, impact the Company’s effegtimcome tax rate.

The Company is principally subject to taxation bg tUnited States and various states within theddrfgtates. The Company’s tax filings
in major jurisdictions are open to examination &y authorities by the Internal Revenue Service ffisoal year ended 2009 forward and in
various state taxing authorities generally fronadisyear ended 2008 forward.

The Company does not believe there will be anyiiegmt change in its unrecognized tax benefitdhimithe next twelve months.

13. Stock-Based Compensation

In February 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 BusriEquity Incentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”) whialoyides for the grant of
options and restricted stock to key employeesctiirs and consultants of the Company up to an gatgeof 2.5 million shares of common
stock of the Company. The 2003 Plan is administbyethe
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Compensation Committee of the Board of Directonisictvis comprised only of independent directors] ahich must approve individual
awards to be granted, vesting and exercise of slwarditions. In February 2005, the Company’s shaloshrs approved an amendment to the
2003 Plan to increase the number of shares auditbfir issuance there under by 3.3 million shaessjlting in a total of 5.8 million shares
authorized for issuance under the 2003 Plan.

In connection with a dividend payable in the forfiveo shares of the Class A Common Stock for eadhtanding share of Common
Stock and Class B Common Stock on February 5, 20@72003 Plan was amended to include 9,734,982slod Class A Common Stock
authorized for issuance. In February 2009, the Gomis shareholders approved an increase in the auailshares authorized for issuance
under the 2003 Plan by an additional 5,000,000eshai Class A Common Stock and to authorize faraisse 500,000 shares of Preferred
Stock. In February 2012, the Company'’s shareholaigpsoved an increase in the number of shares @zgkddor issuance under the 2003 Plan
by an additional 5,000,000 shares of Class A Com8tonk. As a result of these amendments, theréatabof 5,800,000 shares of Common
Stock, 19,734,982 shares of Class A Common Stodlb80,000 shares of Preferred Stock authorizednthde2003 Plan. If and when the
Company issues any shares of Preferred Stock tine@003 Plan, it will reduce the amount of Clas&@nmon Stock available for future
issuance in an amount equal to the number of sivfi@gss A Common Stock that are issuable upornawion of such Preferred Stock. As of
September 29, 2012, there were approximately 3liomshares of Common Stock, 9.1 million share€tass A Common Stock and no she
of Preferred Stock reserved for outstanding ecmitgirds, and there were 1.9 million shares of Com8tonk, 9.0 million shares of Class A
Common Stock and 0.5 million shares of PreferretiStemaining for future awards.

The Company has a Nonemployee Director Stock Ofitlan (the “Director Plan”) which provides for theant of options and restricted
stock to nonemployee directors of the Company. Dinector Plan, as amended in 2001 and 2006, prewiolethe granting to each independ
director of options to purchase a number of shegesl to $200,000 divided by the fair market valithe Company’s common stock on the
date of each annual meeting of stockholders angh@er of shares of restricted stock equal to $Z0¢didded by such fair market value.

Stock Option Awards

The Company recognized share-based compensatiemsxpf $7.5 million, $7.4 million and $5.6 millifor the years ended
September 29, 2012, September 24, 2011 and Sept@mb2010, respectively, as a component of seltjegeral and administrative expenses
Share-based compensation expense in fiscal 2012, & 2010 consisted of $3.8 million, $3.1 milleomd $2.5 million for stock options, and
$1.7 million, $2.4 million and $1.1 million for reited stock awards. Share-based compensatiomsgpe fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 also
includes $2.0 million, $1.9 million and $1.9 miltidor the Company’s 401(k) matching contributions.

Prior to fiscal 2008, stock options granted weneegally exercisable with a 30 month cliff vestingdad2 month expiration, but were also
granted with vesting increments of 20%, 25% or 38%year beginning two, three or four years fromdhate of grant and expiring one year
after the last increment has vested.

From fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2011, the Company grdrsti®ck options under its 2003 Plan that includeddgsmance targets and time-based
vesting to key employees and executives. The pedoce-based options contingently vested up to 2488 gear over the following 5 years
dependent upon service and the achievement of hanaamulative target performance measures and hamtractual lives of 6 years. The
target performance measures included various bssimeait, segment and company-wide performance goalsding adjusted earnings before
taxes and net controllable assets. If any of th®og subject to the performance target measurentidiinot vest on any particular vesting date
because the Company, segment and/or business unit

F-23



Table of Contents

CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

performance had not been achieved, such optiohsegt and become exercisable if at the end ofdtewing fiscal year, the cumulative
target for that later fiscal year has been achieVie options were granted at the then-current etgrkce, except for 4.4 million shares that
were granted at prices significantly above the gdae market price. Of the options granted indi008, approximately 216,000 options
scheduled to possibly vest in each of fiscal ye@@9 and 2010 were amended and were only subjeetrtice vesting conditions. The fair
value of each performance-based option grantecest@mated on the date of grant using the sameroptituation model used for options
granted as service vesting only. In fiscal 20110%®f the performance options granted in fiscal®at were eligible to vest in fiscal 2011
had vested. In fiscal 2011, approximately 97%, enmulative basis, of the performance options gaun fiscal 2009 that were eligible to v

in fiscal 2011 had vested. In fiscal 2011, apprately 99%, on a cumulative basis, of the performamutions granted in fiscal 2008 that were
eligible to vest in fiscal 2009 through fiscal 2044d vested.

In March 2012, the Company eliminated all of thetmnd future performance goals relating to stqatioas granted from fiscal 2008 to
fiscal 2011, except for the performance goals irgdeatio the overall Company performance. The Compgank this action because, as a resu
the Company’s reorganization around functionaldidaring 2011, the extent to which cumulative perfance targets for segments or busines
units have been or may be achieved has becomeutliffir impossible to measure and the changes wagewithin the Company were not
contemplated when the Company granted the optiitar the amendment, 20% of the shares coveredably award continue to be
performancéiased. The time vested component of the optionaatidhange. Approximately 250 employees were #dteby the modificatior
and no additional compensation cost was recorded.

The Company currently estimates the remaining perdince-based component of the options granteddalfR008 and fiscal 2009 are
probable of achievement and are recording theeelexpense over the estimated service period. Bhg&ny currently estimates the
performance-based component of the options grantéscal 2010 and 2011 are not probable of achiex and are not recording related
expense. As of September 29, 2012, there were ifliormof unvested options, of which approximatély) million are subject to performance
based vesting criteria. To the extent Company ga@®r are not achieved, the amount of stock-besegensation recognized in the future
will be adjusted.

During fiscal 2012, the Company granted tibgesed stock options with an exercise price basdtenlosing fair market value date of
grant. The options granted in fiscal 2012 vesbimr fannual installments commencing one year fragrdéite of grant and expire six years after
the grant date.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes optiaination model. Expected stock price
volatilities are estimated based on the Companigt®tical volatility. The expected term of optiogianted is based on analyses of historical
employee termination rates, option exercises aaadntractual term of the option. The risk-freesadre based on U.S. Treasury yields, for
notes with comparable terms as the option gramtstfect at the time of the grant. For purposethisfvaluation model, no dividends have beer
assumed.

The Company’s calculations were made using thelkB&aholes option pricing model with the followingeighted average assumptions:
expected life from the date of grant, 3.5 yearfisical 2012, 3.5 years in fiscal 2011 and 3.5 y@afscal 2010; stock price volatility, 37.9% in
fiscal 2012, 36.4% in fiscal 2011 and 37.3% indis2010; risk free interest rates, 0.9% in fisd@l2, 2.2% in fiscal 2011 and 2.0% in fiscal
2010; and no dividends during the expected term.
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The following table summarizes option activity fbe period ended September 29, 2012:

Outstanding at September 24, 2011
Grantec

Exercisec

Cancelled or expire

Outstanding at September 29, 2(

Exercisable at September 25, 2(
Exercisable at September 24, 2(
Exercisable at September 29, 2(
Expected to vest after September 29, 2

Weighted

Number of Average Exercist
Shares

(in thousands Price per Share
12,11( $ 10.6¢
1,93 $ 9.5:
(1,157) $ 6.32
(1,259 $ 12.2¢
11,63¢ $ 10.7:
3,42: $ 11.67
4,162 $ 11.32
4,601 $ 11.3¢
6,30¢ $ 10.32

Weighted Average

Remaining

Contractual Life

4 year

3 year

2 year
3 year
2 year
4 year.

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

(in thousands)
$ 2,95¢

22,17
3,794
1,13¢
6,70¢
2,85¢

BB H B

The weighted average grant date fair value of agtgranted during the fiscal years ended Septether012, September 24, 2011

and September 25, 2010 was $2.72, $2.04 and $Pn@Stotal intrinsic value of options exercised dgrthe fiscal years ended September 29,

2012, September 24, 2011 and September 25, 2018mAsnillion, $2.6 million and $2.2 million, resparely.

As of September 29, 2012, there was $10.8 millioiotal unrecognized compensation cost relatedtosasted stock options, which is
expected to be recognized over a remaining weiginedage vesting period of 3 years.

Restricted Stock Awards

As of September 29, 2012 and September 24, 20&te there approximately 785,000 and 804,000 shegggsectively, of restricted stock

awards outstanding. The awards generally vest% 8025% increments, some after a two or three yading period, over a six or seven 'y

period of employment after the grant date.

Restricted stock award activity during the thresedi years in the period ended September 29, 20dinamarized as follows:

Nonvested at September 26, 2(
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Nonvested at September 25, 2(
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Nonvested at September 24, 2(
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Nonvested at September 29, 2(
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Number of
Shares
(in thousands’

51¢
18C
(134)

(132)

432
49€
(120)

Q)

804
15¢
(98)

(80)
78E

Weighted Average

H RO AR RH PAHHH

Grant Date
Fair Value per
Share

11.3¢
9.54
10.1¢
11.6¢
10.6(
9.32Z
12.3¢
13.0C
9.7¢
9.1¢
12.1%
8.32
9.5¢
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The weighted average grant date fair value ofimstt stock awards granted during the fiscal yeaded September 29,
2012, September 24, 2011 and September 25, 2018W58, $9.32 and $9.54, respectively. The aggeefgét value as of the vesting date of
restricted shares that vested was $0.9 milliort, $dillion and $1.3 million for fiscal 2012, 2011cR010, respectively.

As of September 29, 2012, there was $4.5 millionroEcognized compensation cost related to nonyestgricted stock awards, which
is expected to be recognized over a weighted aegragod of four years.

14. Shareholders’ Equity

At September 29, 2012, there were 80,000,000 sloduiezsmmon stock ($0.01 par value) authorized, biciv 12,247,571 were
outstanding, and 100,000,000 shares of non-votlagsCA common stock ($0.01 par value) authorizédihoch 34,706,902 were outstanding.
The preferences and relative rights of the Classimon stock are identical to common stock inespects, except that the Class A common
stock generally will have no voting rights unlesiseswise required by Delaware law.

There are 3,000,000 shares of Class B stock ($taO%alue) authorized, of which 1,652,262 were taniing at September 29, 2012 anc
September 24, 2011. The voting powers, preferemadselative rights of the Class B stock are idmhtio common stock in all respects excep
that (i) the holders of common stock are entittedrte vote per share and the holders of Classdk si@ entitled to the lesser of ten votes per
share or 49% of the total votes cast, (ii) stoskd#inds on common stock may be paid only in shafesmmon stock and stock dividends on
Class B stock may be paid only in shares of Clas®Bk and (iii) shares of Class B stock have aedanversion rights and are subject to
certain restrictions on ownership and transferhEsare of Class B stock is convertible into oreratof common stock, at the option of the
holder. Additional shares of Class B stock may dagyissued with majority approval of the holdershaf common stock and Class B stock,
voting as separate classes.

Under the Company’s former stock repurchase progtaenCompany was authorized to repurchase upQ6 #iillion of its common
stock, in part, to minimize the dilutive impactthe Company’s stock-based equity compensation progiover time. During the third fiscal
quarter of fiscal 2011 the Company’s Board of Dioes authorized a new $100 million share repurclpasgram. During the fiscal year ended
September 29, 2012, the Company repurchased di@mshares of its voting common stock for an aggte price of approximately $5.6
million and 1.9 million shares of its Class A nootimg common stock for an aggregate price of apprately $15.3 million. In total, as of
September 29, 2012, the Company had repurchasedxapately 6.1 million shares for an aggregate @o€ approximately $48.4 million
under the new share repurchase program.
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15. Earnings per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numeratared denominators of the basic and diluted earr(logs) per share (EPS)
computations:

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
September 29, 2012 September 24, 2011 September 25, 2010
Net Per Net Per Net Per
Income Shares Share Income Shares Share Income Shares Share

(in thousands, except per share amount:

Basic EPS
Net income available to common shareholc  $21,17: 47,62: $0.4¢ $28,32! 56,217 $0.5C $45,83: 64,27 $0.71
Effect of dilutive securities

Options to purchase common stc 497 0 274 0 68( (0.01
Restricted share 25k 0 154 0 13¢ 0
Diluted EPS:

Net income available to common shareholc  $21,17: 48,37« $0.44¢ $28,32! 56,64: $0.5C $45,83: 65,09 $0.7C

Options to purchase 11.6 million shares of commoaoksand Class A common stock at prices ranging f$d.60 to $16.23 per share
were outstanding at September 29, 2012. Of themesh6.1 million were not included in the compotabf diluted earnings per share becaus
the option exercise prices were greater than teeage market price of the common shares and, tirerghe effect of including these options
would be anti-dilutive. Options to purchase 12.1liori shares of common stock and Class A commocksab prices ranging from $4.60 to
$17.99 per share were outstanding at Septemb@024, Of these shares, 8.4 million were not inatliglethe computation of diluted earnings
per share because the option exercise prices weateg than the average market price of the comshares and, therefore, the effect of
including these options would be anti-dilutive. ©@ps to purchase 11.1 million shares of commonksémzl Class A common stock at prices
ranging from $4.60 to $17.99 per share were outistgrat September 25, 2010. Of these shares, Hi@drmiere not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share becéweseption exercise prices were greater than theageemarket price of the common shares
and, therefore, the effect of including these apgtivould be anti-dilutive.

16. Quarterly Financial Data — Unaudited

Fiscal 2012
1St 2 nd 31d 72t
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Net sales $302,06¢ $466,90: $533,80¢ $397,23t
Gross profit 80,73¢ 147,69¢ 180,65. 105,07.
Net income (loss) attributable to Central GardeRe& Compan (13,090 21,62: 22,69¢ (10,059
Net income (loss) per shal

Basic $ (0.29) $ 0.4¢ $ 0.4¢ $ (0.2)

Diluted $ (0.29) $ 0.4f $ 041 $ (0.2)
Weighted average common shares outstani

Basic 47,82% 47,34: 47,66! 47,70¢

Diluted 47,82: 48,03¢ 48,38¢ 47,70
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Fiscal 2011
1St 2 nd 31d 72t
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Net sales $281,71¢ $485,72: $484,30: $376,90¢
Gross profit 83,05: 163,26¢ 149,38¢ 98,20«
Net income (loss) attributable to Central GardeRe&& Compan' (9,599 31,76¢ 17,08 (20,937
Net income (loss) per shal

Basic $ (0.1¢) $ 0.5t $ 0.3 $ (0.2))

Diluted $ (0.1¢) $ 0.54 $ 031 $ (0.2
Weighted average common shares outstani

Basic 60,94 57,95¢ 54,02( 51,94:

Diluted 60,94 58,43: 54,49¢ 51,94:

17. Transactions with Related Parties

During fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, subsidiarie$hefCompany purchased approximately $1.0 milli@d9$nillion and $0.9 million,
respectively, of products from Bio Plus, Inc., angany that produces granular peanut hulls. As pfe@sber 29, 2012 and September 24, 2
the amounts owed to BioPlus, Inc for such purchasss not material. A director of the Company miaority shareholder and a director of
Bio Plus, Inc.

During fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, Tech Pac, aidi#vg of the Company, made purchases from Confackaging, Inc, (“CPI”), Tech
Pac’s principal supplier and a minority 20% shatééoin Tech Pac. Tech Pac’s total purchases fr&hvzre approximately $39.3 million,
$33.2 million and $24.6 million for fiscal years12Q) 2011 and 2010, respectively. Amounts due toaBRif September 29, 2012 and
September 24, 2011 were $2.1 million and $2.2 omi|lrespectively.

18. Business Segment Data

The Company'’s chief operating decision-makerstar€hief Executive Officer and the Chief Executicer and President of the
Central Operating Companies. Operating segmenthamaged separately because each segment represémaiegic business that offers
different products or services. The Company’s chfrating decision makers evaluate performancecbas profit or loss from operations.
The Companys Corporate division is included in the followingepentation since certain expenses of this divigiemnot allocated separately
the two operating segments. Segment assets exchstieequivalents, short-term investments and @efdaxes.

Management has determined that the Company hasperating segments which are also reportable seigrbased on the level at whi
the chief operating decision makers review theltesd operations to make decisions regarding parémce assessment and resource
allocation. These operating segments are the Betesg and the Garden segment. Substantially &leoCompany’s assets and operations
relate to its business in the United States.

The Pet segment consists of Four Paws Products,PitHications, Kaytee, Aquatics, Interpet, Petsrimitional, Breeder's Choice and
Life Sciences. These businesses are engaged iahefacturing, purchase, sale and delivery of ivaty and externally produced pet suppl
books and food principally to independent pet thistors, national and regional retail chains, grgaores, mass merchants and bookstores.
The Garden segment consists of Pennington Seethéa Four Seasons, Grant’'s, AMBRANDS, Lilly Mill¢he Pottery
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Group, Gulfstream and GKI/Bethlehem Lighting. Pratdumanufactured, designed and sourced, or disédbare products found typically in
the lawn and garden sections of mass merchandigarshouse-type clubs, home improvement centersiarsgries and include grass seed,
bird feed, clay pottery, outdoor wooden planterd allises, herbicides and insecticides. Thesdyets are sold directly to national and
regional retail chains, independent garden distoits, grocery stores, nurseries and garden supfdjlers.

The Corporate division includes expenses assocwtbccorporate functions and projects, certain kyge benefits, goodwill, interest
income, interest expense and intersegment elinoinsti

The following table indicates each class of similezducts which represented more than 10% of thregamy’s consolidated net sales in
the fiscal years presented (in millions).

Category 2012 2011 2010
Pet supplies (excluding wild bird feed) $ 847.1 $ 773.1 $ 766.F
Garden controls and fertilizer produ 281.7 260.( 255t
Wild bird feed 205.1 197.k 168.¢
Other garden supplie 185.7 212.1 196.(
Grass see 180.4 185.¢ 136.%
Total $1,700.( $1,628.¢ $1,523.¢

The Company’s largest customer represented appataiynl7%, 16% and 17% of the total company netssial fiscal 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively, and represented approximatédy 8f the Garden segment’s net sales in fiscal 228% in fiscal 2011 and 31% in fiscal
2010. Sales to the Company'’s second largest cust@peesented approximately 9%, 12% and 10% of ¢at@pany net sales in fiscal 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively, and represented ajppatedy 20% of our Garden segment’s net salestafi2012, 24% in fiscal 2011 and 22%
in fiscal 2010. Sales to the Company’s third latgestomer represented approximately 16% of oud&asegment’s net sales in fiscal 2012,
15% in fiscal 2011 and 18% in fiscal 2010. The $&gfment’s largest customer represented approxiynb2éb of our Pet segment’s net sales ir
both fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 and 11% in fi2l0.
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Financial information relating to the Company’s iness segments for each of the three most recarat fyears is presented in the table
below (amounts in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended

September 2¢ September 24 September 2¢
2012 2011 2010
Net sales
Pet segmer $ 930,75: $ 851,30° $ 840,57t
Garden segmel 769,26( 777,34 683,07.
Total $1,700,01. $1,628,65: $1,523,64
Income (loss) from operation
Pet segmer $ 87,65( $ 77,62 $ 97,89 (1)
Garden segmel 40,37¢ 50,01 52,99¢
Corporate (53,609 (42,467 (41,819
Total 74,42 85,17¢ 109,07
Interest expens (40,31YH (38,049 (33,706
Interest incomt 14~ 29¢ 11¢
Other income 67¢ 55C 41¢
Income before income taxes and noncontrolling et 34,92¢ 47,97, 75,90¢
Income taxe: 12,81¢ 19,59¢ 28,11(
Net income including noncontrolling intere 22,11: 28,38: 47,79¢
Net income attributable to noncontrolling inter 94C 59 1,96:
Net income attributable to Central Garden & Pet @Gany $ 21,17 $ 28,32 $ 45,83
Assets:
Pet segmer $ 411,05 $ 396,63 $ 385,89«
Garden segmel 341,71t 350,23 323,38
Corporate and eliminatior 396,77. 346,13: 421,60:
Total $1,149,54 $1,093,00: $1,130,88.
Depreciation and amortizatio
Pet segmer $ 14,50° $ 14,47¢ $ 15,42
Garden segmel 6,21 5,98¢ 6,107
Corporate 9,70¢ 8,101 7,34(
Total $ 30,42 $ 28,56¢ $ 28,86¢
Expenditures for lor-lived assets
Pet segmer $  15,54( $  9,95: $  8,21¢
Garden segmel 4,13¢ 5,90z 2,98¢
Corporate 19,91 15,70¢ 12,99(
Total $ 39,59 $ 31,56 $ 24,19

Noncontrolling interest is associated with the @ardegmen
(1) Includes indefinit-lived intangible asset impairment of $12,0
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19. Consolidating Condensed Financial Information bGuarantor Subsidiaries

Certain 100% wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Comypgs listed below, collectively the “GuarantobSidiaries”) have guaranteed
fully and unconditionally, on a joint and severakls, the obligation to pay principal and inte@sthe Company’s $450 million 8.25% Senior
Subordinated Notes (the “Notes”) due March 1, 2@ tain subsidiaries and operating divisions ateguarantors of the Notes and have bee
included in the financial results of the Parenthia information below. These Non-Guarantor entigiessnot material to the Parent. Those
subsidiaries that are guarantors and co-obligotkeofNotes are as follows:

Farnam Companies, Inc.

Four Paws Products Ltd.

Gulfstream Home & Garden, Inc.

Kaytee Products, Inc.

Matson, LLC

New England Pottery, LLC

Pennington Seed, Inc. (including Gro Tec, Inc. Aldslass Aquarium Co., Inc.)
Pets International, Ltd.

T.F.H. Publications, Inc.

Wellmark International (including B2E CorporationcaB2E Biotech LLC)

During fiscal 2012, the Company consolidated certdiits legal entities into the Parent. In fisgahrs 2011 and 2010, the following w
included as Guarantor Subsidiaries because they segrarate legal entities at that time:

Grant Laboratories, Inc.
Interpet USA, LLC
Matthews Redwood & Nursery Supply, Inc.

Fiscal 2012 financial results reflect these erditis part of the Parent. Fiscal 2011 and 2010 dinhresults presented herein have been
restated to reflect the current Guarantor structure

In lieu of providing separate audited financiakstaents for the Guarantor Subsidiaries, the Compasyincluded the accompanying
consolidating condensed financial statements basé¢de Company’s understanding of the SecuritiesEairchange Commission’s
interpretation and application of Rule 3-10 of 8ecurities and Exchange Commission’s Regulation S-X
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Net sales
Cost of goods sold and occupat
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Income (loss) from operatiol
Interest- net
Other income (expens
Income (loss) before income taxes and noncontgplliteres:
Income taxes (tax benef
Net income (loss) including noncontrolling inter
Net income attributable to noncontrolling inter
Net income (loss) attributable to Central GardeRe& Compan'
before equity in undistributed income of guararsigpsidiaries
Equity in undistributed income of guarantor sulxsiidis
Net income attributable to Central Garden & Pet Gany

Net sales
Cost of goods sold and occupat
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Income from operation
Interest- net
Other income (expens
Income (loss) before income taxes and noncontplliterest
Income taxes (tax benef
Net income (loss) including noncontrolling inter
Net income attributable to noncontrolling inter
Net income (loss) attributable to Central GardeR&& Compan'
before equity in undistributed income of guararsigbsidiaries
Equity in undistributed income of guarantor sulesiidis
Net income attributable to Central Garden & Pet Gany

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Fiscal Year Ended September 29, 2012
(in thousands)

Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$527,90: $ 1,244,43 $ (72,319 $ 1,700,01:
383,99( 874,18: (72,319 1,185,85!
143,91 370,24 0 514,15¢
144,17 295,56t 0 439,73
(260) 74,68: 0 74,42
(40,322 154 0 (40,170
(3,769 4,447 0 67¢
(44,349 79,27 0 34,92¢
(15,699 28,51« 0 12,81¢
(28,65() 50, 76: 0 22,11
94( 0 0 94(
(29,590) 50,76 0 21,17:
50,76: 0 (50,769 0
$ 21,17 $ 50,76: $ (50,767 $ 21,17

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Fiscal Year Ended September 24, 2011
(in thousands)

Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$500,66¢ $1,244,20 $(116,22) $1,628,65;
374,21! 876,74 (116,22) 1,134,73.
126,45: 367,46¢ 0 493,91¢
132,97 275,77( 0 408,74
(6,529) 91,69¢ 0 85,17t
(37,984 23€ 0 (37,749
(236) 78€ 0 55(
(44,747 92,71¢ 0 47,97:
(17,299 36,89¢ 0 19,59t
(27,449 55,824 28,38
59 0 0 59
(27,507 55,824 0 28,32
55,82+ 0 (55,822 0
$ 28,32: $ 55,82« $ (55,829 $ 28,32
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Net sales
Cost of goods sold and occupat
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Intangible asset impairmer
Income from operation
Interest- net
Other income (expens
Income (loss ) before income taxes and noncontiplhiteres
Income taxes (tax benef
Net income (loss) including noncontrolling inter
Net income attributable to noncontrolling inter
Net income (loss) attributable to Central GardeRe&& Compan'
before equity in undistributed income of guararsiobsidiaries
Equity in undistributed income of guarantor sulxsiigdis
Net income attributable to Central Garden & Pet Gany

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Ended September 25, 2010

(in thousands)

Parent
$505,93:
363,41(
142 ,52:
132,70¢
0
9,81¢
(33,89
(7,85
(31,939
(11,68%)
(20,246
1,96:

(22,209
68,04
$ 45,83
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Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$1,132,64'
760,00:
372,641
261,38
12,00(
99,25¢
311
8,27(
107,84(
39,79¢
68,04
0

68,04
0

$ 68,04:

Eliminations
$(114,93))
(114,93()

OO0 OO0 O

0

0
(68,04
$ (68,04

Consolidated
$1,523,64
1,008,48.
515,16t
394,09:
12,00(
109,07
(33,58
41¢
75,90¢
28,11(
47,79¢
1,96:

45,83
0
$ 4583
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CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET
September 29, 2012
(in thousands)
Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale $ 44,66 $ 3,81 $ 0 $ 4847:
Short term investmen 22,70¢ 0 0 22,70¢
Accounts receivable, n 48,33¢ 159,32¢ (5,245 202,42
Inventories 97,01: 233,01! 0 330,03
Prepaid expenses and other as 25,24 22,90" 0 48,14¢
Total current asse 237,96! 419,06: (5,245 651,78:
Land, buildings, improvements and equipment, 81,72% 109,43t 0 191,16:
Goodwill 0 210,22: 0 210,22:
Investment in guaranto 654,36: 0 (654,367 0
Other asset 54,91( 41,46¢ 0 96,37¢
Total $1,028,96. $780,19( $(659,607) $1,149,54
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Accounts payabl $ 49,89 $ 82,01 $ (5,24 $ 126,66.
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 38,67: 41,14¢ 0 79,82:
Total current liabilities 88,56 123,16. (5,245 206,48:
Long-term debi 449,38 96 0 449,48:
Other lon¢-term obligations 26,127 2,57( 0 28,69"
Shareholder equity attributable to Central Garden & | 463,93 654,36: (654,367 463,93
Noncontrolling interes 94¢€ 0 0 94€
Total equity 464,88: 654,36: (654,36) 464,88:
Total $1,028,96. $780,19( $(659,607) $1,149,54
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalel
Short term investmen
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as

Total current asse
Land, buildings, improvements and equipment,
Goodwill
Investment in guaranto
Other asset

Total
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and other liabilit

Total current liabilities
Long-term debi
Other lon¢-term obligations
Shareholder equity attributable to Central Garden & Pet Comp
Noncontrolling interes
Total equity

Total
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CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET
September 24, 2011
(in thousands)
Unconsolidated
Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$ 10,63: $ 1,39¢ $ 0 $ 12,03:
17,82( 0 0 17,82(
50,30( 150,70: (5,587 195,41°
106,34¢ 223,19¢ 0 329,54¢
29,48: 18,28¢ 0 47,77
214,58« 393,58 (5,587) 602,58t
72,721 103,68 0 176,40:
0 210,22: 0 210,22:
647,62 0 (647,620 0
44,39¢ 59,39 0 103,79:

$979,32¢ $766,88 $(653,21) $1,093,00:

$ 40,92¢ $ 81,18: $ (5,58) $ 116,52

39,20 36,20: 0 75,40
80,13 117,38 (5,587) 191,93:
435,241 85 0 435,33(
7,16¢ 1,79: 0 8,96(
456,77t 647,62 (647,62 456,77t
6 0 0 6
456,78: 647,62 (647,620 456,78:

$979,32¢ $766,88 $(653,21) $1,093,00:
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Net cash provided by operating activit

Additions to propert

Businesses acquired, net of cash acqt
Return of equity method investme
Investment in short term investme
Investment in guarant

Net cash provided (used) by investing activi
Repayments on revolving line of cre
Borrowings on revolving line of crec
Proceeds from the issuance of I-term debt
Repayments of lor-term deb

Proceeds from issuance of common st
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award
Repurchase of common stc

Payment of financing cos

Net cash used in financing activiti

Effect of exchange rates on ce

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of "

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended September 29, 2012

(in thousands)

Parent
$ 74,40¢
(20,736
0
0
(4,88¢)
(6,736
(32,35)
(339,00()
304,00(
49,317
(231)
2,12¢
1,881
(24,829
(1,715
(8,45%)
434
34,02¢
10,63:
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Guarantor

Subsidiaries
$ 65,52
(18,85¢)
0
0
0

(44,02)
(62,889

Eliminations

$ (50,769
0

0
0
0
50,768

50,76:¢

[ellele}olleo]cNeolololololoNe)

__Consolidated
$  89,16¢
(39,597

)

0

(4,88%)

0

(44,47)
(339,001
304,00
49,31

(359)

2,12¢

1,881
(24,829
(1,715)

(8,575

327

36,44«

12,03:

$ 4847
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Net cash provided by operating activit

Additions to propert

Businesses acquired, net of cash acqt
Return of equity investmel

Investment in short term investme
Investment in guarant

Net cash provided (used) by investing activi
Repayments on revolving line of cre
Borrowings on revolving line of crec
Repayments of lor-term deb

Proceeds from issuance of common st
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award
Repurchase of common sta

Payment of financing cos

Distribution to noncontrolling intere

Net cash used in financing activiti

Effect of exchange rates on c

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of"

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended September 24, 2011
(in thousands)

Parent
$ 50,45¢
(16,805
(23,409
3,13¢
(2,500
(16,719
(56,29)
(668,00()
703,00(
(190)
1,67¢
94t
(108,72)
(1,05¢)
(1,500
(73,852
52
(79,637
90,26¢
$ 10,63
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Guarantor

Subsidiaries
$ 56,37
(14,762
(1,909
0
0
(39,109
(55,770
0
0
(145)

Eliminations

5 (5582)
0

0
0
0
55,82/
55,82«

OClOO0CIOIOI OO OO O OOO0O

$

Consolidated
$§ 51,00
(31,569
(25,307
3,13:
(2,500
0

(56,23)
(668,00()
703,00

(338)
1,67¢
94t
(108,72)
(1,055)
(1,500
(73,99)
(209)
(79,429
91,46(
$ 12,03
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Net cash provided by operating activit

Additions to propert

Businesses acquired, net of cash acqt
Investment in short term investme
Investment in guarant

Net cash provided (used) by investing activi
Repayments on revolving line of cre
Borrowings on revolving line of crec
Repayments of lor-term deb

Proceeds from issuance of l-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of common st
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award
Repurchase of common sta

Payment of financing cos

Distribution to noncontrolling intere

Net cash used in financing activiti

Effect of exchange rates on c

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of"

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended September 25, 2010
(in thousands)

Parent
$ 86,34«
(15,939
0
(15,320)
38,66
7,40¢
(10,000
10,00(
(407,67Y)
400,00(
1,294
83€
(66,907
(12,717
(2,76))
(87,919
(44)
5,79(C
84,47
$ 90,26¢
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Guarantor

Subsidiaries
$ 116,92
(8,25))
(1,756)
0
(106,709
(116,719
0
0
(249)

eoNololNoNoNe)

(249)
4C

1,19t
$ 1,19¢

Eliminations

$ 68,04:

oOlooclololoocoococococooo

Consolidated
(24,190
(1,756)
(15,320
0

(41,266
(10,000)
10,00(
(407,929
400,00
1,29¢
83€
(66,90:)
(12,717
(2,76))
(88,16
@)

5,79:
85,66¢
$ 91,46
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Set forth below is a list of exhibits that are lgefiled or incorporated by reference into this FdrnK:

Exhibit

Number

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

10.1*

10.2

10.3

Incorporated by Reference

File Filing Filed
Exhibit Form No. Exhibit Date Herewith
Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon, including the Certificate 10K  001- 3.1  12/14/0¢
of Designation -Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and CertifiaztDesignatiol 3326¢
— Series B Convertible Preferred Sto
Amended and Restated By-laws of Central Gardent&C®enpany, effective 10Q 001- 3.2 5/7/09
February 10, 200¢ 3326¢
Specimen Common Stock Certificate. S-1 33- 4.1 5/21/92
4807(
Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate. 8-A  001- 1 1/24/07
3326¢
Indenture, dated as of March 8, 2010, by and bettlee Company and Wells Fargo 8-K 001- 4.2 3/8/10
Bank, National Association, as trust 3326¢
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Marc080, by and among the 8-K  001- 4.3 3/8/10
Company, the guarantors named therein and WellgoFBank, National 3326¢
Association, as trustee, relating to 8.25% Senidrogdinated Notes due 201
Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of FebiiBgar012, by and among the  8-K 001- 4.1 2/13/12
Company, the guarantors named therein and WellgoFBank, National 3326¢
Association, as trustee, relating to 8.25% Senidrogdinated Notes due 201
Registration Rights Agreement, dated February @322among the Company, 8-K 001- 10.1 2/13/12
certain subsidiary guarantors parties thereto thadnitial Purchaser: 3326¢
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Conypand Executive Officers  S-1 33- 10.18 5/21/92
and Directors 4807(
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated amef2b, 2010 among the 8-K 001- 10.1 7/1/10
Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries,Mdétgan Chase Bank, National 3326¢
Association, as Administrative Agent, SunTrust Baak Syndication Agent, and
certain other lender
Amendment No. 1 dated June 8, 2011 to the Amendddrastated Credit 8-K 001- 10.1 6/10/11
Agreement dated as of June 25, 2010 among the Gomeertain institutions listed 3326¢

on the signature pages thereto, and J.P. Morgase(ank, National Association,
Administrative Agent, SunTrust Bank, as Syndica#aent, and certain other
lenders.
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10.15*

10.16*
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2003 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, as amendedestdted effective
February 13, 201:

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for 2@mnibus Equity
Incentive Plan

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for 2003 Omnilagaity Incentive
Plan.

Form of Performance-Based N&tatutory Stock Option Agreement for 2(
Omnibus Equity Incentive Ple

Nonemployee Director Equity Incentive Plan, as asleeihand restate
effective December 10, 2008 (Incorporated by refeedrom Exhibit 10.5 to
the Compan’s Form 1+-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 28, 20i

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement for Bimployee Director
Equity Incentive Plar

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for NonemploR@&ector Equity
Incentive Plan

Employment Agreement dated as of February 27, b@®8een Pennington
Seed, Inc. of Delaware and Brooks Penningtor

Modification and Extension of Employment Agreemdated as of
February 27, 1998 between Pennington Seed, Irfgelaware and Brooks
Pennington Ill, dated as of May 6, 20!

Modification and Extension of Employment Agreemantl Noncompetition

Agreement, dated as of April 10, 2006, betweerbmpany and Brooks M.

Pennington IIl.

Modification and Extension of Employment Agreemant Noncompetition
Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2008, between tmepaay and Brooks M.
Pennington IIl.

Form of Agreement to Protect Confidential Inforroati Intellectual Property
and Business Relationshij

Form of Post-Termination Consulting Agreement.

Separation Agreement between the Company and GlefeRcher dated
May 31, 2011

Employment Offer Letter between the Company and Yarlas dated
November 5, 201(

Employment Agreement between Gus Halas and the @oyplated April
15, 2011

Incorporated by Reference

File Filing Filed

Form No. Exhibit Date Herewith

8-K 001- 10.2 2/15/12
3326¢

10-K 000- 10.5.1 12/9/04
2024z

10-K 000- 10.5.z 12/9/04
2024z

10-K 001- 10.4.z 11/19/1C
3326¢

10-Q 001- 10.5 5/7/09
3326¢

10-Q 000- 10.6.1 2/3/05
2024z

10-Q 000- 10.6.z 2/3/05
2024z

10-K/A 000- 10.20 1/20/99

2024z

10-Q 000- 10.7.1 8/8/03
2024z

8-K 000- 10.1 4/14/06
2024z

10-K 001- 10.7.z 11/26/0¢
3326¢

8-K 000- 10.1  10/14/0t
2024z

8-K 000- 10.2  10/14/0t
2024z

10-Q 001- 10.2 8/4/11
3326¢

8-K 001- 10.1 12/1/10
3326¢

10-Q 001- 10.1 8/4/11
3326¢
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10.20* Employment Agreement between the Company and FPaflalantoni dated 10K  001- 10.12 11/18/11
February 1, 2011 3326¢
10.2* First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated eper 28, 2012, X
between the Company and Frank P. Palan
10.14* Employment Agreement between Steven LaMonte an€tmpany effective 10-Q  001- 10.1 8/2/12
May 7, 2012 3326¢
12 Statement re Computation of Ratios of Earningsixed-Charges X
14 Code of Ethics, updated May 20 X
21 List of Subsidiaries X
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing. X
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo Rule 13-14(a). X
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursitdo Rule 13-14(a). X
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section X
1350.
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 13t X
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documer X
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum X
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr X
101.DEF**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh X
101.LAB**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum X
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent X

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege

**  Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are doants formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Repgrtianguage). Pursuant to
applicable securities laws and regulations, wedesmed to have complied with the reporting oblayatelating to the submission of
interactive data files in such exhibits and aresuttject to liability under any anti-fraud provisgof the federal securities laws as long a
we have made a good faith attempt to comply withsthbmission requirements and promptly amend tieeactive data files after
becoming aware that, the interactive data filelstéacomply with the submission requirements. Usdrihis data are advised that purst
to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactigtadiles are deemed not filed for the purposeSaattion 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, are deemed not filed krgbany registration statement or prospectugpfoposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and are otsermdt subject to liability under these secti



EXHIBIT 10.2
FIRST AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Central Garden & Pet Company and/or its wholly odveebsidiaries (collectively “the Company”) and cd. Palantoni (“Executive”) amend
the Employment Agreement entered into as of Felprua2011 (“Original Agreement) as follows:

1. Paragraph 16 of the Original Agreement is ametyesubstituting the following:

16.

Termination By The Company Without Cause:The Company may terminate Executive’s employmedeuthis
Agreement at any time without cause by giving Exieeuwenty-four (24) months written notice of temation. If the
Company terminates Executive under this sectiothiwilO days after Executive signs a general rel@aslaims in a form
acceptable to the Company that becomes irrevocplieided a later payment is not required by Sectid below, the
Company will pay Executive a severance following éffective date of termination consisting of ateamtion of
Executive’s base salary for a nine (9) month persuject to applicable payroll deductions, andthéasurance
continuation for nine (9) months, with the COBRAtiauation period to commence at the end of the &) months salary
and health insurance continuation period Execwtilebe provided, at most, sixty (60) days to catesiwhether to sign such
release. Severance payments shall cease, andtherfseverance obligation will be owed, in the é\executive obtains
other equivalent employment during the severancegsdf Executive obtains employment during theesance period that
pays Executive less than the severance paymentglptbherein, such payments will reduce the Comjsasgverance
obligation to the extent of such compensation. Heresuch reduction in severance based upon Execoititaining new
employment will not apply, and Executive’s sevemndll not be reduced by any income Executive neegiunder the Post-
Employment Consulting Agreement, should Companycase its option to retain Executive to provide €alting Services
under such Agreement. Such severance paymentsghaiecutives sole and exclusive remedy in the event of a teatitn
of this Agreement by the Company without causeitsddption, the Company may pay Executive twenty-f24) months
additional salary and benefits provided in this @gment in lieu of giving Executive the twenty-fddd4) months notice as
provided above. The severance provisions hereisidgl not apply to any termination pursuant to Bect3 above

2. In all other respects, the provisions of thegidal Agreement shall remain in full force and effe

1



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exeatthies Agreement the day and year referenced above.

Frank P. Palantor

/s/ Frank P. Palanto

Central Garden & Pet Compa

By /s/ William E. Brown

William E. Brown,
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic



EXHIBIT 12
CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY

COMPUTATION OF RATIOS OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended

September 2¢ September 24 September 2E September 2€ September 27
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Income (loss) before income taxes, and income)(lafss
equity method investet $ 34,76¢ $ 47,85( $ 76,19 $ 103,89: $ (360,45,
Fixed charges (1 41,16: 38,91¢ 34,67: 23,82( 40,39
Earnings 75,92¢ 86,76¢ 110,86« 127,71. (320,06()
Fixed charges (1 $ 41,16 $ 38,91 $ 34,67. $ 23,82 $ 40,39
Earnings to fixed charges excess (deficier $ 34,76« $ 47,85( $ 76,19. $ 103,89: $ (360,45
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 1.84 2.2% 3.2C 5.3¢€ N/A

(1) Fixed charges consist of interest expensepdingon of rental expense under operating leasesdd by management to be representativ
of the interest factor and amortization of deferfiaedncing costs

(2) For the year ended September 27, 2008, earmiags insufficient to cover fixed charges by apjmately $360.5 million, and the ratio is
not meaningful



Exhibit 14

1/, Garden & Pel
The Way We Do Business

“We are committed to maintaining a culture in whichployees always act professionally and condudhbss with high integrity and ethics
is equally important to foster an environment inishhpeople treat each other with respect and digriiave the opportunity to fulfill their
potential, and feel it is fun to work with eachethvhile building a great business.”

William E. Brown
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
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Dear Employee,

Central Garden & Pet has earned a reputation aglastry leader with outstanding service, qualityducts, and strong corporate values. We
have a commitment to excellence in what we do avde treat people. In this competitive market, @putation is one of our most valuable
assets. The ability to maintain this reputatioa direct result of our employees and the choiceg thake every day.

Creating trusting relationships internally and ex#dly is critical in building and sustaining oundiness. Actions must reflect uncompromising
integrity, ethical decision making, and professidrehavior to maintain the relationships we havek&d so hard to develop. Anything less
takes away our competitive edge and contradictcore values.

This booklet,The Way We Do Businesgrovides a set of guidelines to assist you iningklay-to-day decisions at work as well as to fgev
you with a resource to use when you are faced edttilicts. We hope this information will clarify oour values, principles and missi
translate into your everyday choices, behavioraatwns.

The Way We Do Busineissintended to support a positive environment ammungemployees. It is also intended to make cledng people
who do business with us, the public and our shddehns, how we conduct ourselves as a corporatgyentd as individuals.

| encourage you to discuss these expectationsywithmanager and teammates. If you have questlmmst anything you read or any situation
you are confronted with, please do not hesitataliowith your manager, the corporate Vice Predidétiuman Resources, or the Directol
Internal Audit.

Sincerely,

William E. Brown
Chairman & CEC
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Introduction

The Way We Do Busineissa statement of our values and expectations ffogpiate behavior for all employees. Beyond clainid) gray areas
and providing guidance on both simple questionscmdplex ethical dilemmas, we intend that this aigation-wide code of ethical behavior
will help to:

e Build trust internally and external

» Increase awareness and dialogue regarding keyabtbsties
» Build consensus on vital issu

* Guide decisio-making

* Encourage employees to seek ad'

» Foster the reporting of misconduct and related eors

» Clarify where employees should go to seek ad

These goals are important because we haaramitment to our customersto build relationships based on trust and integkitye have a
commitment to our shareholdersto provide a competitive return on their investmehtle conducting our business in an ethical manvar
have acommitment to our suppliersto purchase goods and services on the basis of vahailability, cost, quality, reliability, and ldesry of
terms and services. We haveanmitment to the communitiesin which we do business to be a good corporateetitand comply with the
letter and the spirit of all Federal, state anchldaws.

We pledge to treat all employeesvith honesty, dignity and respect, and to provideoak environment that fosters safety, equal opputies
for growth, and open communications. Talking atbeihtcal situations, conflicts of interest, and aly@sources you can use helps to promote
culture in which ethical conduct is valued, recagui and practiced by all.

1



Our Values
At Central Garden & Pet, we believe it is critital
» Do the Right Thing
. Be honest, fair and trustworthy in all businessvéats and relationships; avoid even the appearaiémpropriety
. Obey the applicable laws and regulations goverpimgbusiness conduct worldwii
. Sustain, through leadership at all levels, a caltnrwhich ethical conduct is valued, recognized practiced by al
» Treat people with dignity and respect, and value tair contributions
»  Strive to create a safe workplace and protect thengironment
« Deliver on commitments, results, and quality to cusmers, suppliers, shareholders, and employe:!
Your actions should reflect these Values every yme make a decision or are faced with a choicelinrg your work or your relationships

with others. Only by supporting these Values cam spport an environment that perpetuates a cultue¢hical behavior and fulfill the
expectations Central Garden & Pet has for all oopleyees.



Expectations of Ethical Conduct

The following are company standards which everylegge of Central Garden & Pet Company and its slidases must understand and follow
as a condition of continued employment.

Compliance with the Law

All employees will strictly comply with the lettespirit and intent of all local, state, federal dackign laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations include and are not limited to the kpreCorrupt Practices Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley A@GD2, antitrust laws such as the Sherma
Act, and similar state laws in jurisdictions whigpply to the Company.

Recording, Reporting and Protecting Company Assets
Each employee is expected to protect the Compasgsts and ensure their efficient use. This inclpdetecting all material tangible assets a¢
well as proprietary information.

Always record and report information completelycaately and honestly. Information should not bespnted to anyone in a manner that
misleads or misinforms, and you should never cdrex@aasset, liability or business transactionrithen to deceive the Company, any custome
or supplier, or any employee of the Company. Diglsbneporting of any kind is unacceptable, anddadd to civil or criminal liability for th
Company and for you personally.

Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive Company infatiom is prohibited whether in written form or cabkdiscussion.

Conflicts of Interest

Conflicts of interest involve situations that pdtaty compromise, or give the appearance of compising, an employee’s objectivity.
Situations such as personal, financial, or romantiolvement with a competitor, supplier, custonrsubordinate employee can impair an
employee’s ability to exercise good judgment onabietf Central Garden & Pet and therefore shouléwaded at all times.

The Company will not allow an employee, who is tedbby blood or marriage to an employee of a custam supplier, to be placed in a
business relationship where one family member hiseince over the

3



purchasing or sales transactions of the other. fiiXogare circumstances, such as a family ownesihless that has been acquired, family
members who are related by blood or marriage willbe allowed to maintain a supervisory-subordimakationship.

Any personal, financial or romantic relationshipsdlving employees of the Company or our custornesuppliers should be disclosed
immediately to your supervisor to determine whethere is a real or potential conflict between paad interests and those of the Company.
Appropriate steps to remedy the conflict of intexel be taken, and the Vice President of Humasdeces or the Director of Internal Audit
will be informed.

Gifts, Gratuities, and Entertainment

On some occasions giving or accepting gifts, eait@ment or favors is an appropriate business ceyirten other occasions, such practices
might compromise your objectivity in making busisekecisions or be perceived as trying to undullpérfce business opportunities.

The following guidelines will help you decide thepropriateness of giving or accepting gifts, eatarnent or favors:

. Do not accept anything that you could not give uritde Compan’s travel and entertainment policy guidelin

. Such practices should be infrequent, serve a hegtt business purpose and be appropriate to ysiumdsas responsibilitie:

. You may accept advertising novelties of trivialualwhich are widely distributed either by custosnarvendors

. You may both give and receive customary businesniias such as meals, provided the expenses ied@lre kept to a reasonable level
and are fully disclosec

. Never accept payments, gifts, gratuities or fawdrany kind that might place you under any regberceived obligation to an existing
potential customer or supplie

If in doubt about the appropriateness of accepipagrticular gift, ask before accepting it. Anytgéntertainment or favor in excess of $100
requires the approval of your business unit Preside



Insider Trading
It is contrary to Company policy and is a violatioihFederal Securities laws for employees of then@any to trade in the shares or securitie
Central Garden & Pet while in possession of matendisclosed confidential information.

It is also unacceptable for employees or diredmiaform, other than in the necessary course efrtass, any other person or company of suc
undisclosed confidential information.

Political Contributions
The funds and assets of the Company shall notéd, dérectly or indirectly, for political contribigins which could be routed, directly or
indirectly, to a political candidate, party, comt@é or organization.

This section is not intended to limit or otherwisstrict: (1) the personal political activities@dmpany employees, or (2) the right of Compan
employees to make personal contributions to anyiqeillaction committee.

Right to Report

In order to foster and maintain an environment molv employees can come forward and express cosiedout improper or potentially illegal
misconduct, we offer protection from any retaligtaction against the individual reporting the canc&pecifically, employees may not
threaten, intimidate, coerce, or in any way interf@ith an individual's right to report an ethicéblation. Nor will punitive actions, unfair
treatment or harassment of any kind be toleratexdrasult of an individual reporting a potentiadlation.

Waivers

The waiver of any provision of our code of ethicahduct must have prior written authorization friva Chief Executive Officer of Central
Garden & Pet Company. Waiver of such provisionsoficers and directors can only be granted by wfte majority of the independent
directors of the Board of Directors of the Compa#fily waivers must be reported to the Vice Presidgfitiuman Resources and the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors.



Ethics in Action
You may ask, what can | do to ensure my behavidrdatisions reflect the ethical conduct expectegboh employee:
Become familiar with The Way We Do Business

Thoroughly understand the expectations and polggégorth in this booklet. If you have any quessisegarding its contents, ask them now
before you are faced with a situation and needamnad.

Remember, you are responsible for your own behavior
It is not acceptable to act inappropriately becaumesee someone else doing it, or because yosrtblusyou to do it, or because you feel no
one will find out. You choose your behavior, anglati model ethical choices you will help perpetuage culture we value.

Ask before acting

With every decision, ask yourself:

. Is there any question in my mind about the appeatgniess of what | am doin
. Does this situation present a dilemma between agbtwrong’

. Do | feel the need to conceal my actions or thmastof others’

. Has someone asked me to do something that | feelnofortable doing’

. Is this action unfair to any of our shareholdetstomers, vendors, employees, or 1

. Would I, or someone else in the Company, be emgsechto read about it in tomorr's newspaper

. Is this an employee relations issue that shoultbdocal management or an ethical issue that may t@be reported directly to
corporate’

Typically you can trust your gut—if it feels wronigprobably is and you should stop and seek gueddrefore you act. You may contact your
supervisor or local human resources representitihv@ipport. In addition, you can call the Vice $tident of Human Resources at (925) 948-
4000.



Where to go for Guidance

If you have questions about anything in this boplde concerns about a potential conflict of insérgou are encouraged to contact your
supervisor, local manager or corporate human ressuShould you not feel your concerns are adelguaderessed, please contact the Vice
President of Human Resources for additional supptathagers who need assistance in interpretingoathye Company’s corporate policies
should consult the Vice President of Human Resaurce

If at any time you observe or suspect a violatibary part of the ethics guidelines contained is booklet including any unethical, illegal or
fraudulent act, theft, or a questionable contratibor accounting matter, pleasemediatelycontact the Vice President of Human Resources
the Director of Internal Audit .

For any issues concerning unethical behavior afradn relations nature such as sexual, physicatidral abuse including bullying,
intimidation and harassment, pleasenediatelycontact the Vice President of Human Resources.éeltyges of behaviors will not be tolerated.

All reports of unethical behavior will be treateghfidentially unless otherwise required by law. Hoypes may submit written reports with
their name or anonymously. For telephone repoaifers may remain anonymous by requesting the vo@ibox of either the corporate Vice
President of Human Resources or the Director @frival Audit.

Employees are expected to cooperate in any inaitigs of misconduct. Retaliation, reprisal, thsehrassment, discrimination, or any other
adverse action against an employee who in good fafiorts misconduct by others is illegal and wit be tolerated.

You can reach the corporate Vice President of HuResources or the
Director of Internal Audit by calling:
Telephone: (866) 397-7762

Anonymous or personal letters may be sent to:
Central Garden & Pet Company — Lock Box HR/IA
1340 Treat Blvd., Suite 600, Walnut Creek, CA 94597
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Acknowledgement

All Central Garden & Pet and subsidiary employaesexpected to sign and return a statement ackngivig that they have read the
Company’s statement of values and ethicEke Way We Do BusinesAdherence to this code of ethical conduct isrésponsibility of each
employee of the Company.

Compliance with Central Garden & Pet Company’s cofdethical conduct is a condition of employmergilre to comply may result in a
range of disciplinary actions including terminatiétailure by any employee to disclose violationsheflse standards and practices by other
employees or contract workers is also groundsimiglinary action. If you comply with the law, tl@mpany will stand behind you if a
problem occurs. If you deliberately break the Igray will be subject to disciplinary action and pibss criminal penalties.

We expect all employees to uphold our Values and:
Do The Right Thing:

© be honest, fair and trustworthy in all business advities and relationships and avoid even the appeance of any
impropriety;

©  obey applicable laws and regulations governing oususiness conduct worldwide.

O

Sustain, through leadership at all levels, a cultue in which ethical conduct is valued, recognized anpracticed by all.
» Treat people with dignity and respect, and value tair contributions.
» Strive to create a safe workplace and protect thengironment.

» Deliver on commitments, results, and quality to cusmers, suppliers, shareholders, and employee

8



| certify that | have read Central Garden & Pet @amy’sThe Way We Do Businésgluding the section containing expectations thical
conduct.

| will report to the corporate Vice President ofrhlan Resources or Director of Internal Audit anypsased or observed unethical, frauduler
illegal conduct or activity | am aware of conceigithe Company or any of its subsidiaries. All répdrunethical behavior will be treated in
confidence unless otherwise required by law. | ustd@d that all employees have the right to repoonymously and without fear of retaliat
by their supervisor or any other individual.

Disclaimer: Employment with the Company is deenteld “at will,” meaning either the Company or tmeptoyee may elect to terminate an
employment relationship. Nothing in this documeninitended to create a promise or representaticordfnuous employment with Central
Garden & Pet or any of its subsidiaries.

Name:

(Please Print

Signature

Date:

Please sign & promptly return this statement torymusiness unit President or his/her delegate.

9



EXHIBIT 21
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
The following table sets forth certain informatiooncerning the principal subsidiaries of the Conypan

State or Other

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Farnam Companies, In Arizona
Four Paws Products, Lt New York
Gulfstream Home & Garden, In Florida
Kaytee Products, In Wisconsin
Matson, LLC Washingtor
New England Pottery, LL! Delaware
Pennington Seed, In Delaware
Pets International, Ltc lllinois
TFH Publications, Inc Delaware
Wellmark Internationa California
Gro Tec, Inc Georgia

The names of certain subsidiaries have been onbiteduse such unnamed subsidiaries, considerbd aggregate, would not constitute
a significant subsidiary as that term is define®agulation S-X.



EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statement No. 333-83022, 333-105965, B3®55, 333-141671 and 333-
176408 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement B®-130316 on Form S-3 of our report dated DeceriBeR012, relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Central Ga&l&et Company and the effectiveness of Centrati&a& Pet Company'’s internal control
over financial reporting, appearing in the AnnuabpBrt on Form 10-K of Central Garden & Pet Compiamythe fiscal year ended
September 29, 2012.

/s/ DELOITTE & T OUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California
December 13, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.1

[, William E. Brown, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this report on Form-K of Central Garden & Pet Compar

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglonting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures presentedsmréipiort our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evalyaianternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s Board of Directors (mrsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: December 13, 2012

/sl WiLLam E. BROWN
William E. Brown
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

I, Lori A. Varlas, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this report on Form-K of Central Garden & Pet Compar

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglonting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures presentedsmréipiort our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evalyaianternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s Board of Directors (mrsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: December 13, 2012

/s/ LoORIA.V ARLAS
Lori A. Varlas
Chief Financial Officer
( Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the accompanying annual reporEorm 10-K of Central Garden & Pet Company foryhar ended September 29,
2012 (the “Report”), I, William E. Brown, Chairmamd Chief Executive Officer of Central Garden & Beimpany, hereby certify pursuant to
18 U.S.C. 81350, as adopted pursuant to 8906 dddnkeanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) such Report complies with the requirements of $acti3(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act984; anc

(2) the information contained in such Report presentsll material respects, the financial conditiodaesults of operations of Cent
Garden & Pet Compan

December 13, 2012 /sl  WiLLiam E. BROWN
William E. Brown
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the accompanying annual reporEorm 10-K of Central Garden & Pet Company foryhar ended September 29,
2012 (the “Report”), I, Lori A. Varlas, Chief Finaial Officer of Central Garden & Pet Company, hgreértify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350,
as adopted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-Oxiepf2002, that:

(1) such Report fully complies with the requirementSettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchafgieof 1934; anc

(2) the information contained in such Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaremaldition and results of operations of
Central Garden & Pet Compar

December 13, 2012 /sl LORIA. V ARLAS
Lori A. Varlas
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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